
 

Parkside  Station Approach  Burton Street  Melton Mowbray  Leicestershire  LE13 1GH 

01664 502502 * contactus@melton.gov.uk * www.melton.gov.uk * @MeltonBC 

 

 
 

Agenda 

 
 

 

 

Meeting name Meeting of the Council 

Date Thursday, 28 July 2022 

Start time 6.30 pm 

Venue Parkside, Station Approach, Burton Street, 
Melton Mowbray LE13 1GH 

Other information This meeting is open to the public 
 

Members of the Council are summoned to the above meeting to consider the 
following items of business. 
 
Edd de Coverly 
Chief Executive 
 
Membership 
 
Councillors A. Hewson (Chair) E. Holmes (Vice-Chair) 
 S. Atherton R. Bindloss 
 R. Browne S. Carter 
 P. Chandler R. Child 
 P. Cumbers R. de Burle 
 J. Douglas C. Evans 
 P. Faulkner C. Fisher 
 A. Freer M. Glancy 
 M. Graham MBE L. Higgins 
 J. Illingworth S. Lumley 
 J. Orson P. Posnett MBE 
 D. Pritchett R. Smith 
 M. Steadman T. Webster 
 J. Wilkinson P. Wood 
 
 
Quorum:  14 Councillors 
 
 

Meeting enquiries Democratic Services 

Email democracy@melton.gov.uk 

Agenda despatched Wednesday, 20 July 2022 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 3 

 
 

No. Item 
 

Page No. 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

2.   MINUTES 
To confirm the minutes of the Council meeting held on 12 May 2022. 
 

1 - 14 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Members to declare any interest as appropriate in respect of items to 
be considered at this meeting. 
 

 

4.   MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

 

5.   LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

 

6.   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 
In accordance with the Constitution, Members of the Council may 
answer questions from the public of which notice has been given. 
 
No questions were received. 
 

 

7.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS 

In accordance with the Constitution, a Member may ask the Leader, 
the Chair of the Council or a Committee Chair, a question on any 
matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which 
affects the Borough. 

 
Two questions have been received. 
 

 

8.   MOTIONS ON NOTICE 
In accordance with the Constitution, motions on notice must be 
signed by at least two Members and be about matters for which the 
Council has a responsibility or which affect the Melton Borough. 
 
No motions were received. 
 

 

9.   CABINET RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL - TREASURY 
MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 
To receive a report on Cabinet recommendations referred to Council 
in relation to the Treasury Management Annual Report 2021/22. 
 

15 - 46 

10.   CABINET RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL - HOUSING 
REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) BUSINESS PLAN 2022-52 
To receive a report on Cabinet recommendations referred to Council 
in relation to the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 
2022-2052. 
 

47 - 122 



 

Page 3 of 3 

11.   RECOMMENDATIONS AND REPORTS FROM COMMITTEES - 
SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 
To receive the Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 from the Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 

123 - 152 

12.   COUNCILLOR LEAVE OF ABSENCE 
The Leader of the Council is to present the Councillor Leave of 
Absence report.  
 

153 - 156 

13.   REVIEW OF POLITICAL BALANCE AND ALLOCATION OF 
SEATS TO POLITICAL GROUPS 
The Monitoring Officer is to present the review of political balance 
and allocation of seats to political groups. 
 

157 - 164 

  
 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 Council : 120522 

 

 

 

 

Minutes 

 

 

 

 

 

Present: 

 

Chair Councillor P. Faulkner (Chair) to Minute CO5 

Councillor A. Hewson (Mayor) from Minute CO6 

 

Councillors S. Atherton R. Bindloss 

 R. Browne S. Carter 

 P. Chandler R. Child 

 P. Cumbers R. de Burle 

 J. Douglas C. Fisher 

 A. Freer M. Graham MBE 

 E. Holmes S. Lumley 

 J. Orson P. Posnett MBE 

 R. Smith T. Webster 

 P. Wood  

 

Officers Chief Executive 

 Director for Corporate Services 

 Director for Growth & Regeneration 

 Assistant Director for Governance & Democracy (Monitoring Officer) 

 Democratic Services Manager 

 Senior Democratic Services & Scrutiny Officer 

 Democratic Services Officer (CR) 

 Democratic Services Officer (SE) 

 

 Pastor Neal Swettenham offered prayers 

 

  

Meeting name Annual Meeting of Council 

Date Thursday, 12 May 2022 

Start time 6.30 pm 

Venue Parkside, Station Approach, Burton Street, 

Melton Mowbray LE13 1GH 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 

2 Council : 120522 

 

Minute 

No. 

Minute 

CO1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Evans, Glancy, Higgins, 

Illingworth, Pritchett, Steadman and Wilkinson. 

 

CO2 MINUTES 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 26 April 2022 were confirmed. 

 

(At 6:34pm, Councillor Chandler entered the meeting.)  

 

CO3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

An other registrable interest in respect of County Councillors Orson and Posnett, 

was noted as being on record for any matters which related to the Leicestershire 

County Council. 

 

CO4 MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Mayor provided a summary of his year in Office. He began by thanking 

Members for allowing him his term as Mayor of the Borough of Melton for 2021/22. 

He explained that it has been an eventful year and a difficult one due to Covid. 

 

The Mayor explained that the first event he attended was to go to Dickinson and 

Morris to make a pork pie.  

 

Other events the Mayor attended were: 

• two events for the Institute of Mechanical Engineers; 

• three events to Melton Lions including starting their swimathon; 

• Beating the Retreat at Oakham; 

• the Belvoir Hunt puppy show; 

• several functions at the Cattle Market including the Fat Stock show; 

• several charity events held by other civic heads; 

• a barbecue at Mowbray Court; 

• civic services in Stamford and Newark;  

• Scout’s St George's Day parade, and; 

• the Rotary Club Charter Night at Brooksby 

 

The Mayor explained that he had opened the following events: the conker 

championships at Long Clawson; the air ambulance store and the McCarthy Stone 

retirement village. He was invited to be a judge at the artisan cheese awards and 

the British Pie Awards twice and presented prizes at the Cycle Classic. In addition, 

he planted trees outside Parkside and in the Country Park.  

 

The Mayor informed Members that he and the Mayoress turned on the Christmas 

lights and that he presided over the staff Christmas Lunch. 

 

Page 2



 

3 Council : 120522 

 

The Mayor explained that he attended the Defence Animal Training Regiment for 

the visit of the Princess Royal. He was honoured to represent the Borough at the 

remembrance day service and lay the wreath.  

 

He explained had the rare opportunity of bestowing the title of Honorary Alderman 

upon Mr Gerald Botterill, a former, and long-serving, Councillor. 

 

Members were informed that on 1st May, the Mayor’s son completed his 22 mile 

swim for young lives versus cancer and the Mayor thanked Members who donated 

to the excellent cause. The total raised by the event, including gift aid, was £2,963. 

 

CO5 ELECTION OF MAYOR 

Councillor Chandler proposed Councillor Hewson be elected Mayor of the 

Borough until the Annual Council meeting in 2023. Councillor Orson seconded the 

motion and Council 

 

RESOLVED 

 

that Councillor Hewson be elected Mayor of the Borough of Melton for the 

period until the Annual Council meeting in 2023. 

 

The Mayor signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office and he and his consort, 

Mrs Jane Hewson, were invested with the Chains of Office. Once invested, 

Councillor Hewson stated the following:  

 

“Thank you for electing me as Mayor of the Borough of Melton Mowbray for the 

coming Municipal year.  

 

Thank you to Jane, family, friends & invited guests both here tonight or at home 

supporting me in this role. 

 

As many of you will know I am a farmer. 

 

Farmers constantly face many challenges, in his book the 'Resilient Farmer' Doug 

Avery makes the wise comment that if we only bounce back, we just get to the 

place that got us into a mess before. We need to bounce forward to a better 

place. 

 

Covid has hit many hard, but together we can help our communities to bounce 

forward, to the benefit of those who chose us to represent them on Melton 

Borough Council. 

 

My charities for the year are LOROS and Dove Cottage. 

 

I would now like to invite Georgina Sanders from LOROS to the lectern to give a 

speech.” 

Page 3



 

4 Council : 120522 

 

 

Georgina Sanders from LOROS gave a presentation explaining the work of the 

charity. 

 

Councillor Graham proposed and Councillor Douglas seconded a vote of thanks 

for Councillor Faulkner as the retiring Mayor. 

 

The Mayor, Councillor Hewson, read out his announcements and said: 

 

“During Covid, the Council meetings were made available for all time through the 

audio visual system. Enabling the community to watch meetings at home and see 

how their Council operates. Given this increased public awareness I am keen that 

Members are seen to be taking their responsibilities seriously, treating each other 

with respect, acting professionally, dressing appropriately and upholding the 

highest standards of conduct at all our meetings. 

 

The constitution is a document which sets out how we should conduct our business 

and I will use this as a reference tool and take advice from Officers during a 

meeting, where appropriate.  

 

As Mayor I commit to presiding over these meetings with integrity and whilst I 

recognise that robust debate is a good thing, I feel that ensuring our business is 

conducted in an effective and professional way is equally as important.  

 

I will endeavour to make myself available to any Councillor or Council staff who 

have ideas to help Melton Borough Council work more effectively and provide a 

better service for the benefit of our community. 

 

Our primary focus should be that our constituents are represented and I welcome 

all Members support with this for future meetings. These are some of my aims and 

prayer for our future year together. 

 

There are a number of upcoming events, they are: 

• On 13 May, I will be attending the mass rehearsal of the lyrics competition at 

Brownlow Primary School. 

• 19 May- Sanders Senior Living ground breaking ceremony. 

• 20 May - Open day for Covid memorial garden at Country Park. 

• 2 June - lighting of the beacons at the Defence Animal Training Regiment 

• 3 June - first event for my Charities to honour the Queens Platinum Jubilee I 

will be hosting a Picnic in the Park - It's free entry with a collection for the 

Mayor's Charities. Entertainment by local band, choirs, schools & colleges. 

In a mini prom style Concert.  Melton Band are premiering a piece of 

specially commissioned music for which local school children have written 

lyrics. It's on Friday 3rd June 12 - 4pm. 

• 20 June - Hosting the Armed Forces Fly the Flag event at Parkside. 

Page 4



 

5 Council : 120522 

 

• 24 June - meet with children from Action for Melton Youth for a tour around 

Parkside. The tour is hosted by Cllr Graham. 

 

Finally, I would like to add that we have so much to be proud of as a community & a 

Council, I am looking forward to representing the Council & the whole of the 

Borough over the coming year.” 

 

CO6 ELECTION OF DEPUTY MAYOR 

Councillor Wood proposed Councillor Holmes be elected Deputy Mayor of the 

Borough until the Annual Council meeting in 2023. Councillor Carter seconded the 

motion and Council 

 

RESOLVED 

 

that Councillor Holmes be elected Deputy Mayor of the Borough of Melton 

for the period until the Annual Council meeting in 2023. 

 

The Deputy Mayor signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office and she and 

her consort, Mrs Janet Seston, were invested with the Chains of Office. Councillor 

Holmes gave thanks for her election as Deputy Mayor.  

 

CO7 NOTIFICATION BY THE LEADER OF THE APPOINTMENT TO THE CABINET 

The Leader congratulated the Mayor and Deputy Mayor on their election and made 

the following speech reviewing the past year and announcing his Cabinet for the 

2022/23 Municipal Year. 

 

“Members it now turns to me as Leader to review the last year and look forward to 

the coming one. As a Council, despite the unprecedented challenge of the last 

couple of years, we continue to deliver a phenomenal amount for our residents, and 

we should all be proud of what we achieve. 

 

Whilst the impact of Covid restrictions is thankfully starting to recede, I must start 

by acknowledging that for at least half the year, Covid was looming large over 

everything we did. 143 people have died from Covid in Melton and so it is fitting 

that next week we unveil our Covid Memorial in the Country Park, which will be a 

tribute both to those who lost their lives and those who sacrificed so much to keep 

us safe and well. We cannot forget the fundamental role that this Council played in 

both saving lives and protecting livelihoods, and the wave after wave of business 

grants and rate relief programmes that we have had to administer and distribute. 

Teams across the Council have been under constant pressure and yet time and 

again they have risen to the challenge. I am sure all members will once again join 

with me in thanking them for their service, hard work and commitment throughout 

this period. 

 

As we’ve emerged from the pandemic we have worked hard to support the 

economic recovery. The Discover Melton website launch last summer was a great 

Page 5



 

6 Council : 120522 

 

success and through the Food Enterprise Centre, we’ve established a network of 

65 small businesses, with access to direct technical support from our food 

technologist.  The recent Stockyard launch at the Cattle Market, and associated 

private sector investment, is starting to realise Melton’s investment potential. 

Projects like these reinforce our reputation as the Rural Capital of Food, and 

underpin our developing Town Centre Vision which we look forward to publishing 

for consultation shortly.  

 

The last year has been huge for the MMDR. Just after our last Annual Meeting, you 

will recall the County Council published a report confirming their intention to hand 

back the £15m HIF grant, seriously jeopardising the southern section of the road. 

Through the rapid and co-ordinated action of this Council, alongside our MP and 

over 2,750 local people, the County Council listened and agreed to rethink. 

Following a significant amount of work over the following months, we had the 

fantastic news last November that the County Council had accepted the HIF grant 

and were committed to delivering the whole road. This was only possible because 

MBC followed through on its commitments, and delivered key policy documents on 

time, including the Developer Contributions SPD, 2 masterplans and a pioneering 

infrastructure funding agreement. We must not under-estimate what a fantastic 

achievement this was, with our reward seeing the first stages of construction 

starting just a few weeks ago.   

 

The MMDR has not been our only focus in terms of infrastructure. Following a 

successful bid to the restoring our railways fund, last autumn we submitted the 

outline business case to the Department for Transport for improved rail connectivity 

between Melton and Nottingham – a project made even more important following 

the recent decision to withdraw the number 19 bus route. On our future cemetery 

provision, the commission for the specialist advice required is underway, and a 

transport study of Bottesford will provide an evidence base to support future 

infrastructure investment in our largest village.  

 

Our Local Plan continues to deliver, with the most homes built in Melton for 

decades and an enviable 11.6 year housing land supply. The recently confirmed 

Local Plan review will enable us to reflect and ensure it continues to meet the 

needs of our communities for the next 5 years. In the last year we’ve also 

supported 5 Neighbourhood Plans to adoption, and earlier this year were able to 

support our Stathern community by correcting an error and successfully pursuing 

an appeal through the High Court.  

 

Continuing to improve our planning function, and strengthening communication and 

engagement with key stakeholders, will remain a top priority for us and the 

recruitment of our new assistant director, and recent investment in planning 

enforcement will certainly help us on that journey. We have shown in housing 

management what we can achieve when we focus on improvement, and I was also 

delighted that our Land Charges service was shortlisted in the awards for 

excellence recently, having been under pressure a year ago.  

Page 6



 

7 Council : 120522 

 

 

Within our Corporate Strategy we made finding a sustainable future for our leisure 

services a key priority. With two dilapidating and out dated leisure centres, just 

continuing as we are is neither going to be affordable, or acceptable in terms of the 

service we offer. The pandemic has made things tougher, with the leisure sector 

only surviving because Councils like ours provided huge subsidies during the 

various lockdowns.  Through excellent negotiation, and the subsequent 2 year 

extension to our leisure contracts, we have bought ourselves time. But now we 

must plan for the future and find a way to secure Melton’s leisure provision for the 

next generation.   

 

Unlike some of our neighbouring councils, we do not have the reserves to simply 

self-finance a new leisure centre. Rather we will need to work closely with our 

partners to develop a broad funding package that enables us to proceed. We 

cannot underestimate the financial challenge associated with this - it will not be 

easy - but we will leave no stone unturned and I look forward to engaging with all 

members on this important issue throughout the coming year. 

 

The work we have done with our Clinical Commissioning Group over the last year 

demonstrates the impact and benefit from effective partnership working. As 

members will know, securing a second GP surgery is a key priority, and I’m 

delighted that yesterday the CCG has started a consultation on the future of 

primary care services in our borough. The survey will be open until 19th June and I 

would encourage all members and residents to send a clear message about what 

we need for the future. Through our strong partnership, we are making good 

progress and I am confident we will soon hear positive news as we work to 

establish a destination health and leisure park in Melton.  

 

Whilst on leisure, I should highlight the important work our team did supporting 

Melton Town football to deliver their new 3G pitch, as well as with Melton Mowbray 

Tennis Club, levering in 5 times our own contribution, and helping to install new 

tennis courts at the sports village. 

 

Physical activity has huge benefits for well-being, and supporting our communities 

and the most vulnerable within them, has always been part of our DNA at Melton. 

Over the last year we have once again shown great leadership in this area. We 

were the first council in the County to make a public pledge to support Afghan 

refugees fleeing persecution and the first council to resettle an Afghan family. We 

continue to support both sponsor households and their Ukrainian guests, playing a 

key role in helping them resettle, and as you know, some of our members 

organised a fantastic race night, raising nearly £5,000 to support refugees in 

Poland. Working alongside our MP, Harborough and Rutland Councils, we look 

forward to joining a welcome event for our Ukrainian friends and their sponsors 

later this month.  

 

Page 7



 

8 Council : 120522 

 

We’ve made our modest community grants budget work really hard this year, with 

12 organisations supported to deliver a range of initiatives including community 

mental health, a crisis café and inclusive sport.  Our Jubilee Grants scheme will 

help 20 organisations deliver a range of activities including picnics, street parties, 

fun days, tree planting, and bunting, all to support the Queen’s Jubilee in June. It’s 

also been fantastic to see our Sports and Neighbourhood Support teams able to 

restart their community outreach programmes, and the establishment of the 

Fairmead Football League demonstrates our continuing commitment to our priority 

neighbourhoods. During this year we will review our ageing CCTV system, and 

bring forward a business case for investing in a modern, cost-effective system to 

replace it.   

 

The Cost of Living Crisis is a huge concern, with the energy price cap rising by 54% 

in April, and inflation expected to reach 10% by the end of the year. We must do all 

we can to help those who are going to struggle. Once again we have worked 

quickly and were one of the first councils to distribute the government’s £150 

energy payments with over 12,700 payments already made, totalling nearly £2m. 

More will follow shortly as part of our discretionary support scheme which is under 

development.  

 

As a Council one of our priorities is to increase engagement with our communities. 

The new Audio Visual system, used for the first time at our Annual Meeting last 

year, continues to enable more and more people to watch democracy in action.  

We have revamped our Parish Council liaison meetings and are having 

constructive conversations about important local issues, and later this year we will 

undertake our next borough-wide Residents survey to help track our progress. Our 

elections team have run a number of elections, including the combined County 

Council and PCC election, navigating the covid restrictions in place at the time. 

Through by-elections, we’ve also had the pleasure to welcome a number of new 

members to the Council this year, saying good bye to some long standing and 

respected colleagues in the process. At the end of this civic year, the council will 

once again prepare for the borough-wide elections in 2023. 

 

We’ve continued to strengthen our organisational effectiveness, adopting a new 

finance system, moving to a new insourced ICT partnership model, and launching a 

new council website last September, which now achieves a 100% score for 

accessibility and puts us on a par with the best performing councils in this area. We 

remain a Disability Confident Leader and have taken positive steps towards 

achieving the gold award as part of the Armed Forces Covenant. It has also been 

our pleasure to support 4 Kickstart placements - the government scheme to support 

young people into work - and it’s fantastic to see a number of those colleagues now 

taking on permanent roles at the Council. 

 

We also adopted a new Performance and Risk Framework which, along with our 

Project Management framework, achieved good assurance from our auditors, as 

well as substantial assurance obtained for our covid response and recovery, the 

Page 8



 

9 Council : 120522 

 

highest of all councils assessed. Our First State of Melton report and debate last 

October helped shape the budget development process and some excellent 

support and challenge through Scrutiny helped deliver another balanced budget, 

and one where we have been able to put substantial funds back into our reserves. 

We cannot be complacent though, particularly as funding pressures and inflation 

bare down on us, and through our Financial Sustainability Programme, must 

continue to maintain a sharp focus on making the best use of our resources and 

ensuring they are focussed on our priorities.   

 

Learning from the pandemic, we adopted our new Way We Work Strategy, 

formalising our approach to hybrid working, and over the coming year we will 

reorganise our office space to support these new arrangements, as well as ensure 

both officers and members have the right IT equipment to support this new way of 

working.   

 

We will also continue to strengthen our green credentials and are committed to 

supporting the fantastic Melton in Bloom volunteers go for the gold award this year. 

We have secured £1.2m in Green Homes grant funding which is helping numerous 

low income families to live in warmer and more comfortable homes and our recently 

launched Solar Together campaign will help residents bulk buy solar panels at the 

lowest possible cost.  There is still much to do as we build our strategy to become 

carbon neutral by 2030.   

 

Two years ago, when we established our housing directorate, we also established 

our corporate assets team, and they’ve made excellent progress, putting the 

building blocks in place for effective management of our assets and making 

preparations for future development. In the last year we’ve secured welcome 

capital receipts by disposing of redundant assets, and are investing in our hugely 

important asset development programme to ensure we maximise the value of key 

sites. I look forward to the options and business cases being considered by 

Scrutiny and Cabinet later in the year. 

 

On Housing, the commitments we made 2 years ago continue to deliver significant 

progress. The investment in the Northgate system has given us far greater ability to 

manage the condition of our council homes and compliance responsibilities. Our 

new Allocations Policy provides far greater clarity on how to access affordable 

homes and our new choice based letting IT system will be going live soon. We 

continue to acknowledge the great work done by TFEC over the years and remain 

committed to building stronger ties with our tenants, particularly as we prepare for, 

and ensure compliance with, the new Consumer Standards and Regulatory 

Framework. Whilst there is still much more to do, the adoption of our new HRA 

Business Plan in July this year will be another significant step forward and our 

commitment to providing high quality council homes and landlord services remains 

absolute, as does as our desire to build and acquire new council homes for future 

tenants.   

 

Page 9



 

10 Council : 120522 

 

The coming year is likely to be significant for Leicestershire as discussions continue 

regarding a potential County Deal. This, alongside our submission of a second 

round Levelling Up fund bid, and the development of our UK Shared Prosperity 

Fund Investment Plan, are important moments for Melton, with the potential to 

secure much needed investment in our County and Borough. I look forward to 

working with all members, and our partners on shaping these plans.  

 

We must ensure that through any discussions, the rural voice is heard, and not 

marginalised by louder protestations of need from larger, more urban centres. If 

rural communities are to remain sustainable, they cannot be taken for granted and 

must have investment in homes, jobs and infrastructure in equal measure to larger 

towns and cities. Rural Leicestershire must receive its fair share, both from 

government funding and any future County Deal. Rural communities must speak 

with a clearer, stronger and more united voice and to support this aim we are 

already working closely with our rural neighbours in Harborough and Rutland with 

whom we share so much in common. As we develop our Levelling Up Fund Bids, 

we will establish a Joint Rural Investment Strategy and will continue to explore 

wider opportunities for collaboration which champion the rural economy and 

increase organisational resilience, building on examples like the building control 

partnership we have recently entered. 

 

As we can see, there is a huge amount happening and I want to thank all members 

and officers for their hard work and commitment to the people of Melton. We can 

achieve so much by working together and with much more to do I look forward to 

that continuing in the coming year.  

 

I am delighted to announce the membership of Melton Borough Council’s Cabinet 

for the coming year. My Cabinet will continue to provide leadership and public 

accountability as we work to deliver our Corporate Strategy and respond to both the 

challenges and opportunities faced by our communities.  

 

We will continue to maintain a six person Cabinet for the coming year, including 

myself as Leader. We will also retain one Cabinet Support Member. 

 

I am delighted to confirm that Cllr Graham will continue in his role as Deputy 

Leader, also retaining the People and Communities Portfolio. He will continue to 

oversee our support to Ukrainian refugees, as well as playing a key role in 

responding to the Cost of Living Crisis. To assist with this I have asked him to take 

on responsibility for the Lightbulb partnership, which utilises Disabled Facilities 

Grant to help residents to remain safe and well in their homes.  

 

Having delivered balanced budgets for the last three years, Cllr De Burle continues 

to maintain an excellent grip on our resources. Alongside his financial 

responsibilities, he will also continue to oversee our governance processes and 

Chair our Constitutional Review Working Group.  

 

Page 10



 

11 Council : 120522 

 

Cllr Freer will continue to lead on Climate, Access and Engagement and will build 

on the great work she has done, providing so much value through our community 

and jubilee grants schemes. She will also continue building our response to climate 

change, as well as oversee the adoption of the new Waste and Resources 

Strategy. 

 

Our tremendous housing improvement journey continues under Cllr Browne’s 

leadership and I look forward to him bringing forward our new HRA Business Plan 

later this year. To reflect his wider responsibilities, which includes homelessness 

and housing options, I am renaming his portfolio Housing and Landlord Services.  

 

With the recent successful Stockyard launch under his belt, and consultation shortly 

due to start on the Town Centre vision, Cllr Bindloss will continue driving the growth 

and prosperity agenda and will oversee the submission of our second Levelling Up 

Fund bid and the UK Shared Prosperity Investment Plan later this year. 

 

Cllr Smith will continue to support Cllr Bindloss as a Cabinet Support Member.  

 

A copy of my executive scheme of delegation has been made available to all 

Members this evening. My Cabinet and I look forward to working with all Members 

and Officers over the coming year.” 

 

CO8 POLITICAL BALANCE AND ALLOCATION OF SEATS TO POLITICAL GROUPS 

The Monitoring Officer introduced the Political Balance and Allocation of Seats to 

Political Groups report and provided the following: 

a) The appointment of the Scrutiny Committee and Standing Committees of the 

Council for the Municipal Year 2022/23. 

b) The terms of reference and number of voting places on the Scrutiny 

Committee and Standing Committees of the Council for the Municipal Year 

2022/23. 

c) The political balance calculation. 

d) The allocation of Committee seats to political groups and Membership of 

each Committee for the Municipal Year 2022/23. 

e) The proposed Chairman and Vice Chairman for the Municipal Year 2022/23. 

 

The recommendations were moved by the Leader, seconded by the Deputy Leader 

and voted on by Members. 

 

RESOLVED 
 

Council:  

 

1) Appointed the Scrutiny Committee and Standing Committees as set 

out in paragraph 5 of the report for the Municipal Year 2022/23.  

 

Page 11



 

12 Council : 120522 

 

2) Agreed the terms of reference and number of voting places on the 

Scrutiny Committee and Standing Committees as  detailed at 

paragraph 5 of the report for the Municipal Year 2022/23.  

 

3) Approved the political balance calculation set out at paragraph 5.2 of 

the report;  

 

4) Approved the allocation of committee seats to political groups as set 

out in paragraph 5.2 of the report and noted the membership of each 

committee as set out in Appendix A;  

 

5) Approved the election of Chairmen and Vice Chairmen of Committees 

as set out at Appendix B. 

 

(Unanimous) 

 

(Councillor Child left the meeting at 7:33pm and was absent whilst the vote took 

place. He returned once the vote had concluded.) 

 

CO9 SCHEME OF DELEGATION AND AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION 

The Monitoring Officer introduced the Scheme of Delegation and Amendments to 

the Constitution report. The Leader moved the recommendations of the report, they 

were seconded by the Deputy Leader and voted on by Members. 

 

RESOLVED 

 

Council:  

 

1) Confirmed the Constitution and agreed the Officer Scheme of 

Delegation.  

 

2) Noted the amendments to the Constitution as detailed in paragraph 4.2 

of the report.  

 

3) Approved the proposed amendments to the Constitution as detailed in 

paragraph 5 of the report.  

 

4) Authorised the Monitoring Officer to incorporate the revisions and 

changes above into the Council’s Constitution and make minor in-year 

changes and legislative changes as required. 

 

(Unanimous) 

 

CO10 PROGRAMME OF MEETINGS 2022/23 

Page 12



 

13 Council : 120522 

 

The Monitoring Officer provided a brief introduction and presented the proposed 

Programme of Meetings for the 2022/23 Municipal Year. The Leader moved the 

recommendation, the Deputy Leader seconded and it was voted on by Members. 

 

RESOLVED 

 

Council:  

 

Approved the revised programme of meetings for the Municipal Year 2022/23. 

 

(Unanimous) 

 

CO11 APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES AND WORKING GROUPS 

The Monitoring Officer introduced the Appointment of Representatives on Outside 

Bodies and Working Groups report. The Leader moved the recommendations and 

the Deputy Leader seconded. 

 

During the debate it was noted that the Grantham Canal covers wards represented 

by four Members and therefore it would be appropriate that all four Ward Members 

are appointed to the Grantham Canal Partnership. In response it was explained 

that the number of Members appointed would depend on whether the Partnership 

would accept all four Ward Members, however the Partnership would be asked 

whether it would accept four Ward Members.  

 

The recommendations were voted on by Members. 

 

RESOLVED 

 

Council:  

 

1) Noted the appointments in Column A of Appendix A (designated 

according to the role/portfolio holder/Ward  Member), with the caveat 

that it proposed that all relevant Ward Members should be appointed to 

the Grantham Canal Partnership. 

 

2) Appointed representatives to serve on the outside bodies and working 

groups listed at Appendix A (other than those in Column A). 

 

(Unanimous) 

 

 

The meeting closed at: 7.44 pm 

 

Mayor 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Council Report 

Cabinet Recommendations to Council - Treasury Management Annual 
Report 2021-22 

1 

 

 

Council 
28 July 2022 

Report of: Councillor Ronnie de Burle - 
Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Governance, Finance and  
Resources 

       

  
  

 

Cabinet Recommendations to Council - Treasury 
Management Annual Report 2021-22 

Corporate Priority: Ensuring the right conditions to support delivery 
(inward) 

Relevant Ward Member(s): N/A 

Date of consultation with Ward 
Member(s): 

N/A 

Exempt Information: No 

1 Summary 

1.1 The report provides a summary of the Treasury activities in 2021-22. The report also 

covers the actual position on the Prudential Indicators in accordance with the Prudential 

Code. 

2 Recommendations 

That Council: 

 

2.1 Approves the Treasury Management Annual Report 2021-22. 

2.2 Notes the actual position on the Prudential Indicators for 2021-22. 

3 Reason for Recommendations 

3.1 The annual treasury management report is a requirement of the Council’s reporting 

procedures. 

3.2 The report meets the requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 

Management and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities. The 

Council is required to comply with both codes through Regulations issued under the Local 

Government Act 2003. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 9

http://www.melton.gov.uk/
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Council Report 

Cabinet Recommendations to Council - Treasury Management Annual 
Report 2021-22 

2 

 

4 Background 

4.1 Cabinet considered the Treasury Management Annual Report 2021-22 at their meeting on 

13 July 2022 and made recommendations to Council, as outlined in section 2. 

5 Main Considerations 

5.1 As outlined in the Treasury Management Annual Report 2021-22 (Appendix 1). 

6 Options Considered 

6.1 As outlined in the Treasury Management Annual Report 2021-22 (Appendix 1). 

7 Consultation 

7.1 As outlined in the Treasury Management Annual Report 2021-22 (Appendix 1). 

8 Next Steps – Implementation and Communication 

8.1 As outlined in the Treasury Management Annual Report 2021-22 (Appendix 1). 

9 Financial Implications 

9.1 As outlined in the Treasury Management Annual Report 2021-22 (Appendix 1). 

Financial Implications reviewed by: See Appendix 1 

10 Legal and Governance Implications 

10.1 As outlined in the Treasury Management Annual Report 2021-22 (Appendix 1). 

Legal Implications reviewed by: See Appendix 1 

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 

11.1 As outlined in the Treasury Management Annual Report 2021-22 (Appendix 1). 

12 Community Safety Implications 

12.1 As outlined in the Treasury Management Annual Report 2021-22 (Appendix 1). 

13 Environmental and Climate Change Implications 

13.1  As outlined in the Treasury Management Annual Report 2021-22 (Appendix 1). 

14 Other Implications (where significant) 

14.1 As outlined in the Treasury Management Annual Report 2021-22 (Appendix 1). 

15 Risk & Mitigation 

15.1 As outlined in the Treasury Management Annual Report 2021-22 (Appendix 1). 

16 Background Papers 

16.1 As outlined in the Treasury Management Annual Report 2021-22 (Appendix 1). 

17 Appendices 

17.1 Appendix 1 – Treasury Management Annual Report 2021-22.  

17.2 Appendix A – Annual Treasury Management Review 2021-22. 

Report Author: David Scott, Corporate Services Manager 

Page 16



Council Report 

Cabinet Recommendations to Council - Treasury Management Annual 
Report 2021-22 

3 

 

Report Author Contact Details: 01664 502448 

dscott@melton.gov.uk 

Chief Officer Responsible: Dawn Garton, Director for Corporate Services 

Chief Officer Contact Details: 01664 502444 

DGarton@melton.gov.uk 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Cabinet Report 

Treasury Management Annual Report 2020-212 

1 

 

 

Cabinet 
13 July 2022 

Report of: Councillor Ronnie de Burle - 
Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Governance, Finance and  
Resources 

       

  
  

 

Treasury Management Annual Report 2021-22 

Corporate Priority: Ensuring the right conditions to support delivery 
(inward) 

Relevant Ward Member(s): N/A 

Date of consultation with Ward 
Member(s): 

N/A 

Exempt Information: No 

Key Decision: No 

Subject to call-in: No 

Not key decision 

1 Summary 

1.1 The report provides a summary of the Treasury activities in 2021-22.  The report also 

covers the actual position on the Prudential Indicators in accordance with the Prudential 

Code 

 

2 Recommendations 

That Cabinet recommends to Council: 

 

2.1 That the Treasury Management Annual Report for 2021-22 be approved; and 

2.2 That the actual position on Prudential Indicators for 2021-22 be noted. 

 

 

 

 

Page 19

Appendix 1

http://www.melton.gov.uk/
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Cabinet Report 

Treasury Management Annual Report 2020-212 

2 

 

3 Reason for Recommendations 

3.1 It is important that Cabinet are aware of the Council’s Treasury Management performance 

to ensure they can make informed decisions that protect the Council’s financial assets 

while taking regard of financial stability and potential returns. 

3.2 The Annual Treasury Report is a requirement of the Council's reporting procedures. 

3.3 The report meets the requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 

Management and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities.  

The Council is required to comply with both codes through Regulations issued under the 

Local Government Act 2003. 

 

4 Background 

4.1 The Treasury Management Code of Practice is reviewed and the Strategy is approved at 

the start of each financial year.  The following documents in respect of the 2021-22 

financial year were approved by the Council as part of the budget setting process on 24 

February 2021: 

• Borrowing and Investment Objectives 
• Capital Finance Objectives 

• Investment and Borrowing Strategies 
• Borrowing Limits 

4.2 Updates have been provided to Members during the year through the portfolio holder 

updates. 

4.3 Continued changes in the regulatory environment place a much greater onus on Members 

for the review and scrutiny of treasury management policy and activities. This report is 

important in that respect, as it provides details of the year end position for treasury 

activities and highlights compliance with the Council’s policies previously approved by 

members. The Council has complied with the requirement of the Code to give prior 

scrutiny to all of the above treasury management reports by this meeting before they are 

reported to the Council. 

4.4 During 2021-22 the Council complied with the legislation and regulatory requirements 

which limit the levels of risk associated with its Treasury Management activities. In 

particular its adoption and implementation of both the Prudential Code and the Code of 

Practice for Treasury Management means that its capital expenditure was prudent, 

affordable and sustainable and its treasury practices demonstrated a low risk approach. 

The key prudential indicators for the year, with comparators, are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 20



Cabinet Report 

Treasury Management Annual Report 2020-212 

3 

 

Prudential and 
treasury 
indicators 

2020/21 
Actual 
£’000 

2021/22 
Latest Budget 

£’000 

2021/22 
Actual 
£’000 

Capital 
expenditure 

2,916 8,515 2,509 

 
Capital Financing 
Requirement: 
• Non-HRA 
• HRA 
• Total 
 

 
 

      77 
31,484 
31,561 

 
 

      66 
31,484 
31,550 

 
 

      66 
31,484 
31,550 

Gross borrowing 
Debt 
Total 

31,413 
       77 
31,490 

31,413 
       66 
31,479 

31,413 
       66 
31,479 

Investments: 

Less than 1 year 

Longer than1 year 
 

 

20,900 

   2,000  
(Property Fund) 

 

       13,500 

2,000  
(Property Fund) 

 

24,500 

   2,000 
(Property Fund) 

  

4.5 No borrowing was undertaken for any further purpose and the Council’s maximum actual 

borrowing position of £31.413m was within its Statutory Borrowing Limit and the 

Authorised Limit of £46m. At 31 March 2021, the Council's external debt was £31.413m 

(£31.413m at 31 March 2020) and its investments totalled £26.5 (£22.9m at 31 March 

2021). 

4.6 The anticipated level of investments in 2021-22 was forecast at £15m in February 2021. 

Since this forecast the level of investments have been higher than predicted due to an 

underspend on the capital programme in 2021-22. In addition to this there has also been 

increased funding provided by government to support Covid initiatives in the community 

for business in particular which has resulted in increased levels of money being held prior 

to allocation. 

4.7 The Annual Report provides comprehensive detail of the activities undertaken on treasury 

management during the last financial year.  It provides, at Appendix A, the performance of 

the prudential indicators against the indices set by the Council as part of the budget 

setting process. 

4.8 The key areas to note are: 

a) The ratio of the financing costs to the net revenue stream has increased in respect of 

the General Fund (-6.41% in 2021-22 compared to -3.33% in 2020-21) and increased 

marginally in respect of HRA (33.42% in 2021-22 compared to 31.19% in 2020-21 as 

per Appendix A), due to a reduction in income. It can be seen that there has been little 

movement between the two years on the HRA due to debt levels being stable. On the 

general fund there are no financing costs (i.e. no debt) therefore the change between 

years is due to the movement in the net cost of service being lower due to the impact 

of the accounting treatment required in respect of government funded business grant 

support schemes which straddle financial years.  

 

Page 21



Cabinet Report 

Treasury Management Annual Report 2020-212 

4 

 

b) The gross borrowing, except in the short term, should not exceed the CFR. This is to 

ensure that borrowing levels are prudent and, over the medium term, the Council’s 

external borrowing, net of investments, is only utilised for a capital purpose.   As at 31 

March 2021 gross borrowing was below the CFR, primarily due to a small amount of 

internal borrowing on the HRA.     

c) The overall investment rate of return was 0.82% compared to 0.81% in 2020-21.   

d) The level of balances available for investment have been higher than anticipated and 

therefore, despite the overall rate of return being lower than budgeted for, additional 

income of £35k has been achieved over the original budget. This is across both the 

General Fund and HRA. 

4.9 The 2021-22 financial year has continued to be a testing and difficult economic 

environment in which to manage investments with investment returns continuing to remain 

low for the majority of the year but there has been an upturn since Q4. With the effects of 

Covid it hasn’t been an easy backdrop in which to undertake treasury management 

activities, particularly investments but the Council has worked hard to maximise returns 

which resulted in additional investment income compared to the original budget set. 

4.10 The investment portfolio has continued to incorporate more diversification in terms of both 

counterparty and maturity. As interest rates have been improving over the recent months 

the council will continue to monitor its investment options and maturity length. In order to 

maximise investment returns the Council continues to hold £2m in a CCLA property fund 

which has generated positive returns for the Council. 

 

Implementation of IFRS9 

4.11 The implementation of IFRS9 has resulted in a change in the treatment of the £2m 

investment in the CCLA property fund, such that fluctuations in the value of the fund now 

impact on the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services. 

4.12 Following consultation, the MHLG have introduced a mandatory statutory override to 

mitigate any effect on the General Fund. However, this override has been limited to 5 

years to allow councils time to adjust their portfolio of investments, if that is felt necessary. 

4.13 In previous years there was a reduction in the valuation of the property fund but due to an 

upturn in property rates there has been an increase in the valuation of the property fund of 

£330k resulting in an overall increase in the fund of £212k, although at present this is just 

a notional gain. There remains a risk that future losses may offset this gain, so the Council 

has previously approved the establishment of a reserve in order to help offset any 

potential deficits that might arise in future in advance of the statutory override being 

removed. At the end of 2021-22 the balance in this reserve stood at £90k, which can be 

called on in the future if required 

4.14 A property fund by its very nature is a long-term investment in terms of potential 

fluctuations in asset values but since the initial investment was made in 2017 the council 

has received investment income in excess of £400k which has supported the revenue 

budget. 

 

5 Main Considerations 

5.1 Considerations have been addressed in paragraph 4 to this report 

Page 22



Cabinet Report 

Treasury Management Annual Report 2020-212 

5 

 

 

 

6 Options Considered 

6.1 No other options considered. If the report was not provided councillors would not be aware 

of ongoing developments and therefore would not be able to represent their residents 

effectively. 

 

7 Consultation 

7.1 Consultation has been undertaken with the portfolio holder regarding the position for the 

2021-22 financial year 

 

8 Next Steps – Implementation and Communication 

8.1 This report will be submitted to the Council meeting on 28th July 2022. 

 

9 Financial Implications 

9.1 The Treasury Management Strategy and Policy are core financial policies which underpin 

all the work of the Treasury Management function and incorporate any implications arising 

from the capital programme. 

9.2 Following a period of suppressed interest rates the has been a period of positivity with 

rates steady increasing since early 2022 and 12 month rates now up to 2.8%. It is still 

early in the financial year but with officers continuing to maximise returns (in accordance 

with the strategy) there is likely to be a gain on investment income over the level budgeted 

for which will be helpful to support some of the other in year pressures the Council is 

facing.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Director for Corporate Services 

 

10 Legal and Governance Implications 

10.1 The Local Government Act 2003 provides the powers to invest and borrow as well as 

providing controls and limits on the activity.  There are no direct legal implications arising 

from this report.  Failure to follow the Code of Practice and Strategy could increase the 

risk of financial loss 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Deputy Monitoring Officer 04.07.22 

 

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 

11.1 There are no direct equality or safeguarding issues arising from this report. 

 

12 Community Safety Implications 

12.1 There are no direct links to community safety arising from this report. 

Page 23



Cabinet Report 

Treasury Management Annual Report 2020-212 

6 

 

 

 

13 Environmental and Climate Change Implications 

13.1 No implications have been identified but members may wish to note the council has an 

investment in a green and sustainable product that is focused around sustainable 

economic growth investment. 

 

14 Other Implications (where significant) 

14.1 No other implications have been identified. 

 

15 Risk & Mitigation 

15.1 These are assessed as part of the Corporate Services Risk Register 

Risk 
No 

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Risk 

1 Loss of investment income during 2022-23 
as result of changed in interest rates 

Low Marginal Low Risk 

2 Reduction in the valuation of the Councils 
Property Fund investment resulting. The 
Treasury Management Policy has various 
limits in place in order to mitigate any 
likelihood of loss to the Council. A fund has 
been established to mitigate any losses in 
the property fund 

Low Marginal Low Risk 

 

 

  Impact / Consequences 

  Negligible Marginal Critical Catastrophic 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Score/ definition 1 2 3 4 

6 Very High 
    

5 High 
    

4 Significant 

    

3 Low 
 1, 2   

2 Very Low 
    

1 Almost 
impossible     

Page 24



Cabinet Report 

Treasury Management Annual Report 2020-212 

7 

 

 

 

Risk No Mitigation 

1 Continue to maximise returns in line with the Treasury management investment 
strategy 

2 Establishment of a property fund reserve to help mitigate any losses in the future 
should they need to be charged direct to the revenue account in line with any 
change in accounting rules. 

 

16 Background Papers 

16.1 Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2021-22  

 

17 Appendices 

17.1 Appendix A – Annual Treasury Management Review 2021-22 

 

Report Author: David Scott, Corporate Services Manager 

Report Author Contact Details: 01664 502448 

dscott@melton.gov.uk 

Chief Officer Responsible: Dawn Garton, Director for Corporate Services 

Chief Officer Contact Details: 01664 502444 

DGarton@melton.gov.uk 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
Annual Treasury Management 
Review 2021/22 
Melton Borough Council 
July 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27

Appendix A



 

  

2 

Contents 

Purpose ......................................................................................... 3 

Introduction and Background ......................................................... 4 

1. The Council’s Capital Expenditure and Financing ......... 4 

2. The Council’s Overall Borrowing Need .......................... 5 

3. Treasury Position as at 31st March 2022 ...................... 7 

4. The Strategy for 2021/22 ............................................... 9 

5. Borrowing Outturn ....................................................... 16 

6. Investment Outturn ...................................................... 16 

7.     Other Issues ............................................................... 17 

Appendix 1: Graphs ..................................................................... 18 

Appendix 2:  Investment Portfolio ................................................ 20 

Investments held as at 31st March 2022 compared to our 
counterparty list: ................................................................. 20 

  

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 28



 

  

3 

Annual Treasury Management Review 
2021/22 

Purpose 

This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 
2003 to produce an annual treasury management review of activities and the 
actual prudential and treasury indicators for 2021/22. This report meets the 
requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management, 
(the Code), and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities, (the Prudential Code).  
 
During 2021/22 the minimum reporting requirements were that the full Council 
should receive the following reports: 

• an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Council 24/02/2021) 

• a mid-year, (minimum), treasury update report (Council 16/12/2021) 

• an annual review following the end of the year describing the activity 
compared to the strategy, (this report)  

The regulatory environment places responsibility on members for the review 
and scrutiny of treasury management policy and activities.  This report is, 
therefore, important in that respect, as it provides details of the outturn position 
for treasury activities and highlights compliance with the Council’s policies 
previously approved by members.   
 
This Council confirms that it has complied with the requirement under the Code 
to give prior scrutiny to all of the above treasury management reports by the 
Cabinet before they were reported to the full Council.  Member training on 
treasury management issues was undertaken in September 2019 in order to 
support members’ scrutiny role. 
 

Page 29



 

  

4 

Introduction and Background 
This report summarises the following:-  

• Capital activity during the year; 

• Impact of this activity on the Council’s underlying indebtedness, (the 
Capital Financing Requirement); 

• The actual prudential and treasury indicators; 

• Overall treasury position identifying how the Council has borrowed in 
relation to this indebtedness, and the impact on investment balances; 

• Summary of interest rate movements in the year; 

• Detailed debt activity; and 

• Detailed investment activity. 

 

1. The Council’s Capital Expenditure and Financing  
The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets.  These 
activities may either be: 

• Financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue 
resources (capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which 
has no resultant impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or 

• If insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply 
resources, the capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need.   

The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators.  
The table below shows the actual capital expenditure and how this was 
financed. 

£’000  General Fund 
31.3.21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Latest 
Budget 

31.3.22 
Actual 

 Capital expenditure 462 1,973 559 

Financed in year 462 1,973 559 

Unfinanced capital 
expenditure  

0 0 0 

 

£’000  HRA (where relevant) 
31.3.21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Latest 
Budget 

31.3.22 
Actual 

Capital expenditure 2,454 6,542 1,950 

Financed in year 2,454 6,542 1,950 

Unfinanced capital 
expenditure  

0 0 0 

Page 30



 

  

5 

2. The Council’s Overall Borrowing Need 

The Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital expenditure is termed the 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).  This figure is a gauge of the Council’s 
indebtedness.  The CFR results from the capital activity of the Council and 
resources used to pay for the capital spend.  It represents the 2021/22 
unfinanced capital expenditure (see above table), and prior years’ net or 
unfinanced capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for by revenue or 
other resources.   
 
Part of the Council’s treasury activities is to address the funding requirements 
for this borrowing need.  Depending on the capital expenditure programme, the 
treasury service organises the Council’s cash position to ensure that sufficient 
cash is available to meet the capital plans and cash flow requirements.  This 
may be sourced through borrowing from external bodies, (such as the 
Government, through the Public Works Loan Board [PWLB], or the money 
markets), or utilising temporary cash resources within the Council. 
 
Reducing the CFR – the Council’s (non HRA) underlying borrowing need 
(CFR) is not allowed to rise indefinitely.  Statutory controls are in place to ensure 
that capital assets are broadly charged to revenue over the life of the asset.  
The Council is required to make an annual revenue charge, called the Minimum 
Revenue Provision – MRP, to reduce the CFR.  This is effectively a repayment 
of the non-Housing Revenue Account (HRA) borrowing need, (there is no 
statutory requirement to reduce the HRA CFR). This differs from the treasury 
management arrangements which ensure that cash is available to meet capital 
commitments.  External debt can also be borrowed or repaid at any time, but 
this does not change the CFR. 
 
The total CFR can also be reduced by: 

• the application of additional capital financing resources, (such as unapplied 
capital receipts); or  

• charging more than the statutory revenue charge (MRP) each year through 
a Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP).  

The Council’s 2021/22 MRP Policy, (as required by DLUHC Guidance), was 
approved as part of the Treasury Management Strategy Report for 2021/22 on 
24/02/2021. 
  
The Council’s CFR for the year is shown below, and represents a key prudential 
indicator.  It includes PFI and leasing schemes on the balance sheet, which 
increase the Council’s borrowing need.  No borrowing is actually required 
against these schemes as a borrowing facility is included in the contract. 
 

Page 31



 

  

6 

Housing authorities to show separate General Fund and HRA CFR tables 

CFR (£’000): General Fund 
31.3.21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Budget 

31.3.22 
Actual 

Opening balance  89 77 77 

Less PFI & finance lease 
repayments 

(12) (11) (11) 

Closing balance  77 66 66 

 

CFR (£’000): HRA 
31.3.21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Budget 

31.3.22 
Actual 

Opening balance  31,484 31,484 31,484 

Closing balance  31,484 31,484 31,484 

 

Borrowing activity is constrained by prudential indicators for gross borrowing 
and the CFR, and by the authorised limit. 
 
Gross borrowing and the CFR - in order to ensure that borrowing levels are 
prudent over the medium term and only for a capital purpose, the Council 
should ensure that its gross external borrowing does not, except in the short 
term, exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year 
(2021/22) plus the estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for 
the current (2022/23) and next two financial years.  This essentially means that 
the Council is not borrowing to support revenue expenditure.  This indicator 
allowed the Council some flexibility to borrow in advance of its immediate 
capital needs in 2021/22.  The table below highlights the Council’s gross 
borrowing position against the CFR.  The Council has complied with this 
prudential indicator. 
 
 

 31.3.21 
Actual 
£’000 

2021/22 
Budget 
£’000 

31.3.22 
Actual 
£’000 

Gross borrowing position 31,490 31,479 31,479 

CFR 31,561 31,550 31,550 

(Under) / over funding of CFR (71) (71) (71) 

 
The authorised limit - the authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” 
required by s3 of the Local Government Act 2003.  Once this has been set, the 
Council does not have the power to borrow above this level.  The table below 
demonstrates that during 2021/22 the Council has maintained gross borrowing 
within its authorised limit.  
 
The operational boundary – the operational boundary is the expected 
borrowing position of the Council during the year.  Periods where the actual 
position is either below or over the boundary are acceptable subject to the 
authorised limit not being breached.  

Page 32



 

  

7 

 
Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator 
identifies the trend in the cost of capital, (borrowing and other long term 
obligation costs net of investment income), against the net revenue stream. 
 

 
2021/22 

£’000 

Authorised limit 46,000 

Maximum gross borrowing position during the year 31,479 

Operational boundary 36,479 

Average gross borrowing position  31,479 

Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream: 
General Fund 
HRA 

 
-6.41% 
33.42% 

 

3. Treasury Position as at 31st March 2022  

The Council’s treasury management debt and investment position is organised by 
the treasury management service in order to ensure adequate liquidity for revenue 
and capital activities, security for investments and to manage risks within all 
treasury management activities. Procedures and controls to achieve these 
objectives are well established both through member reporting detailed in the 
summary, and through officer activity detailed in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Practices.  At the end of 2021/22 the Council‘s treasury, (excluding 
borrowing by PFI and finance leases), position was as follows: 
 

 
DEBT 
PORTFOLIO 

31.3.21 
Principal 

£’000 

Rate/ 
Return 

Average 
Life yrs 

31.3.22 
Principal 

£’000 

Rate/ 
Return 

Average 
Life yrs 

Fixed rate funding:        

 -PWLB 31,413 3.72% 28 31,413 3.72% 27 

HRA CFR 
(excluding 
finance lease) 

31,484   31,484   

Over / (under) 
borrowing 

(71)   (71)   

Total investments  0.81% 

£20.890m 
under 1yr 

£2m    over 
1yr 

 0.47% 

£24.5m 
under 1yr 
£2m over 

1yr 

Net debt  1.15%   1.02%  

 

The maturity structure of the debt portfolio was as follows: 

Page 33



 

  

8 

 31.3.21 
Actual 
£’000 

31.3.22 
Actual 
£’000 

24 months and within 5 years 2,098 4,098 

5 years and within 10 years 2,600 600 

10 years and within 20 years  0 0 

20 years and within 30 years  10,000 10,000 

30 years and within 40 years  10,840 10,840 

40 years and within 50 years  5,875 5,875 

 
The maturity structure of the investment portfolio was as follows: 

 31.3.21 
Actual 
£000 

2021/22 
Budget  
£000 

31.3.22 
Actual 
£000 

Investments 
  Longer than 1 year 
  Up to 1 year 
  Total 

 
 2,000 
 20,890 
 22,890 

 
 2,000 
 13,521 
 15,521 

 
 2,000 
 24,500 
 26,500 

 

Page 34



 

  

9 

4. The Strategy for 2021/22 

4.1 Investment strategy and control of interest rate risk 

 
 
 

  Bank Rate 7 day 1 mth 3 mth 6 mth 12 mth 

High 0.25 0.06 0.06 0.14 0.36 0.73 

High Date 17/12/2021 29/12/2021 31/12/2021 31/12/2021 30/12/2021 28/10/2021 

Low 0.10 -0.09 -0.08 -0.07 -0.04 0.04 

Low Date 01/07/2021 27/08/2021 17/09/2021 08/09/2021 27/07/2021 08/07/2021 

Average 0.11 -0.07 -0.05 -0.01 0.09 0.31 

Spread 0.15 0.15 0.14 0.20 0.40 0.68 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



 

  

10 

Investment Benchmarking Data – Sterling Overnight Index Average 2021/22 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-0.20

0.00

0.20

0.40

0.60

0.80

1.00

1.20

1.40

Bank Rate vs term SONIA rates % 1.4.21 - 31.3.22

Bank Rate SONIA 1 mth 3 mth 6 mth

Bank Rate SONIA 1 mth 3 mth 6 mth

High 0.75 0.69 0.75 0.93 1.27

High Date 17/03/2022 18/03/2022 16/03/2022 28/03/2022 17/03/2022

Low 0.10 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05

Low Date 01/04/2021 15/12/2021 10/11/2021 14/04/2021 09/04/2021

Average 0.19 0.14 0.17 0.24 0.34

Spread 0.65 0.65 0.71 0.88 1.22

Page 36



 

  

11 

 
 

 
 

The following commentary has been provided by the Council’s Treasury 
Management advisors: 

Investment returns remained close to zero for much of 2021/22.  Most local 
authority lending managed to avoid negative rates and one feature of the year was 
the continued growth of inter local authority lending.  The expectation for interest 
rates within the treasury management strategy for 2021/22 was that Bank Rate 
would remain at 0.1% until it was clear to the Bank of England that the emergency 
level of rates introduced at the start of the Covid-19 pandemic were no longer 
necessitated. 

The Bank of England and the Government also maintained various monetary and 
fiscal measures, supplying the banking system and the economy with massive 
amounts of cheap credit so that banks could help cash-starved businesses to 
survive the various lockdowns/negative impact on their cashflow. The Government 
also supplied huge amounts of finance to local authorities to pass on to businesses.  
This meant that for most of the year there was much more liquidity in financial 
markets than there was demand to borrow, with the consequent effect that 
investment earnings rates remained low until towards the turn of the year when 
inflation concerns indicated central banks, not just the Bank of England, would need 

-0.20

-0.10

0.00

0.10

0.20

0.30

0.40

0.50

0.60

0.70

0.80

Bank Rate vs backward looking SONIA rates % 1.4.21 - 31.3.22

Bank Rate SONIA 7 day 30 day 90 day 180 day 365 day

Bank Rate SONIA 7 day 30 day 90 day 180 day 365 day

High 0.75 0.69 0.69 0.56 0.39 0.23 0.14

High Date 17/03/2022 18/03/2022 25/03/2022 31/03/2022 31/03/2022 31/03/2022 31/03/2022

Low 0.10 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05

Low Date 01/04/2021 15/12/2021 16/12/2021 16/12/2021 16/12/2021 07/06/2021 13/12/2021

Average 0.19 0.14 0.13 0.12 0.09 0.07 0.06

Spread 0.65 0.65 0.65 0.51 0.34 0.18 0.09

Page 37



 

  

12 

to lift interest rates to combat the second-round effects of growing levels of inflation 
(CPI was 6.2% in February).  

While the Council has taken a cautious approach to investing, it is also fully 
appreciative of changes to regulatory requirements for financial institutions in terms 
of additional capital and liquidity that came about in the aftermath of the financial 
crisis. These requirements have provided a far stronger basis for financial 
institutions, with annual stress tests by regulators evidencing how institutions are 
now far more able to cope with extreme stressed market and economic conditions. 

Investment balances have been kept to a minimum through the agreed strategy of 
using reserves and balances to support internal borrowing, rather than borrowing 
externally from the financial markets. External borrowing would have incurred an 
additional cost, due to the differential between borrowing and investment rates as 
illustrated in the charts shown above and below. Such an approach has also 
provided benefits in terms of reducing counterparty risk exposure, by having fewer 
investments placed in the financial markets.  

4.2 Borrowing strategy and control of interest rate risk 

During 2021/22, the Council maintained an under-borrowed position.  This meant 
that the capital borrowing need, (the Capital Financing Requirement), was not fully 
funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and 
cash flow was used as an interim measure. This strategy was prudent as 
investment returns were very low and minimising counterparty risk on placing 
investments also needed to be considered. 

A cost of carry remained during the year on any new long-term borrowing that was 
not immediately used to finance capital expenditure, as it would have caused a 
temporary increase in cash balances; this would have incurred a revenue cost – 
the difference between (higher) borrowing costs and (lower) investment returns. 

The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances has 
served well over the last few years.  However, this was kept under review to avoid 
incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when this authority may not be able 
to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure and/or the refinancing of 
maturing debt. 

Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution was 
adopted with the treasury operations. The Director for Corporate Services has 
monitored interest rates in financial markets and adopted a pragmatic strategy.  

Page 38



 

  

13 

Forecasts at the time of approval of the treasury management strategy report 
for 2021/22 were as follows: - 
 

 
 

Link Group Interest Rate View  9.11.20

Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24

BANK RATE 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

  3 month ave earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

  6 month ave earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

12 month ave earnings 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20

5 yr   PWLB 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.90 1.90 1.90 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

10 yr PWLB 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30

25 yr PWLB 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.80 2.80 2.80 2.80

50 yr PWLB 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60

Page 39



 

  

14 

 
PWLB RATES 2021/22 
 

 
 

 
 
HIGH/LOW/AVERAGE PWLB RATES FOR 2021/22 
 

 
 

0.60%

0.80%

1.00%

1.20%

1.40%

1.60%

1.80%

2.00%

2.20%

2.40%

2.60%

2.80%

3.00%

PWLB Rates 1.4.21 - 31.03.22

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year 50 year target %

0.60

0.80

1.00

1.20

1.40

1.60

1.80

2.00

2.20

2.40

2.60

2.80

3.00

PWLB Certainty Rate Variations 1.4.21 to 31.3.2022

1-Apr-21 31-Mar-22 Average

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year

01/04/2021 0.80% 1.20% 1.73% 2.22% 2.03%

31/03/2022 1.91% 2.25% 2.43% 2.64% 2.39%

Low 0.78% 1.05% 1.39% 1.67% 1.25%

Low date 08/04/2021 08/07/2021 05/08/2021 08/12/2021 09/12/2021

High 2.03% 2.37% 2.52% 2.75% 2.49%

High date 15/02/2022 28/03/2022 28/03/2022 23/03/2022 28/03/2022

Average 1.13% 1.45% 1.78% 2.10% 1.85%

Spread 1.25% 1.32% 1.13% 1.08% 1.24%

Page 40



 

  

15 

PWLB rates are based on gilt (UK Government bonds) yields through 
H.M.Treasury determining a specified margin to add to gilt yields.  The main 
influences on gilt yields are Bank Rate, inflation expectations and movements in 
US treasury yields. Inflation targeting by the major central banks has been 
successful over the last 30 years in lowering inflation and the real equilibrium rate 
for central rates has fallen considerably due to the high level of borrowing by 
consumers: this means that central banks do not need to raise rates as much now 
to have a major impact on consumer spending, inflation, etc. This has pulled down 
the overall level of interest rates and bond yields in financial markets over the last 
30 years.  We have seen, over the last two years, many bond yields up to 10 years 
in the Eurozone turn negative on expectations that the EU would struggle to get 
growth rates and inflation up from low levels. In addition, there has, at times, been 
an inversion of bond yields in the US whereby 10 year yields have fallen below 
shorter term yields. In the past, this has been a precursor of a recession.  Recently, 
yields have risen since the turn of the year on the back of global inflation concerns. 

Graph of UK gilt yields v. US treasury yields   

 

Gilt yields fell sharply from the spring of 2021 through to September and then spiked 
back up before falling again through December.  However, by January sentiment 
had well and truly changed, as markets became focussed on the embedded nature 
of inflation, spurred on by a broader opening of economies post the pandemic, and 
rising commodity and food prices resulting from the Russian invasion of Ukraine. 

At the close of the day on 31 March 2022, all gilt yields from 1 to 5 years were 
between 1.11% – 1.45% while the 10-year and 25-year yields were at 1.63% and 
1.84%.   

Regarding PWLB borrowing rates, the various margins attributed to their pricing are 
as follows: - 

• PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps) 

• PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80 basis points (G+80bps) 

• PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps) 

0.25

0.75

1.25

1.75

2.25

2.75

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.8

2

Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22

10
 ye

ar
 Tr

ea
su

ry
 yi

el
d (

%)

10
 ye

ar
 G

ilt
 yi

el
d (

%)

Gilts Forwards - Gilts Treasuries Forwards - Treasuries

Page 41



 

  

16 

• PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps) 

• Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps) 

 

There is likely to be a further rise in short dated gilt yields and PWLB rates over the 
next three years as Bank Rate is forecast to rise from 0.75% in March 2022 to 1.25% later 
this year, with upside risk likely if the economy proves resilient in the light of the cost-of-
living squeeze.  Medium to long dated yields are driven primarily by inflation concerns but 
the Bank of England is also embarking on a process of Quantitative Tightening when Bank 
Rate hits 1%, whereby the Bank’s £895bn stock of gilt and corporate bonds will be sold 
back into the market over several years.  The impact this policy will have on the market 
pricing of gilts, while issuance is markedly increasing, is an unknown at the time of writing.  
 

5. Borrowing Outturn 

There were no borrowing requirements during 2021/22.   
 
The Council has not borrowed more than, or in advance of its needs, purely in order 
to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed.  
 
No rescheduling was done during the year as the average 1% differential between 
PWLB new borrowing rates and premature repayment rates made rescheduling 
unviable. 
 

6.  Investment Outturn  

Investment Policy – the Council’s investment policy is governed by DLUHC 
investment guidance, which has been implemented in the annual investment 
strategy approved by the Council on 24/2/21.  This policy sets out the approach for 
choosing investment counterparties, and is based on credit ratings provided by the 
three main credit rating agencies, supplemented by additional market data, (such 
as rating outlooks, credit default swaps, bank share prices etc.).   
 
The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and 
the Council had no liquidity difficulties. 
 
Resources – the Council’s cash balances comprise revenue and capital resources 
and cash flow monies.  The Council’s core cash resources comprised as follows: 

Balance Sheet Resources (£m) 31.3.21 31.3.22 

Balances 699 791 

Earmarked reserves 17,070 14,899 

Provisions 595 298 

Usable capital receipts 5,150 4,751 

Total 23,514 20,739 

The above table excludes any funding being held on account for future payments 
for government schemes such as Covid business support and therefore year cash 
balances will be higher as a result but not on our balance sheet. 
 

Page 42



 

  

17 

Investments held by the Council 

• The Council maintained an average balance of £26.1m of internally 
managed funds.   

• The internally managed funds earned an average rate of return of 0.82%.   

• The comparable performance indicator is the average 7-day LIBID rate, 
which was 0.13%.  

• This compares with a budget assumption of £15.5m investment balances 
earning an average rate of 1.15%. 

• Total investment income was £212,816 compared to a budget of £178,000 
 

7.  Other Issues 

1. IFRS 9 fair value of investments 
Following the consultation undertaken by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government, [MHCLG] (now renamed the Department of Levelling Up, 
Housing & Communities) on IFRS 9 the Government previously introduced a 
mandatory statutory override for local authorities to reverse out all unrealised fair 
value movements resulting from pooled investment funds. This was effective from 
1 April 2018.  The statutory override applies for five years from this date. Local 
authorities are required to disclose the net impact of the unrealised fair value 
movements in a separate unusable reserve throughout the duration of the override 
in order for the Government to keep the override under review and to maintain a 
form of transparency. 
 
In 2021-22 there was an increase in the valuation of the property fund of £330k 

resulting in an overall increase in the fund of £212k although at present this is 

just a notional gain. There remains a risk that future losses may offset this gain, 

so the Council has previously approved the establishment of a reserve in order 

to help offset any potential deficits that might arise in future in advance of the 

statutory override being removed. At the end of 2021-22 the balance in this 

reserve stood at £90k, which can be called on in the future if required. 

 
2.  IFRS 16 
The implementation of IFRS16 bringing currently off balance sheet leased assets 
onto the balance sheet, has been delayed until 2024/25. However, as the Council 
has done a lot of the preparatory work already we have decided to prepare the 
2021/22 accounts to include the requirements of IFRS16. 
 

Page 43



 

  

18 

Appendix 1: Graphs       

Please find below graphs which clients may wish to use. 

Market Expectations for Future Increases in Bank Rate (6th April 2022) 

 

 

UK, US and EZ Quarterly GDP 

 

Page 44



 

  

19 

CPI v Average Weekly Earnings Growth 

 

Page 45



 

  

20 

Appendix 2:  Investment Portfolio 
Investments held as at 31st March 2022 compared to our counterparty list: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 46



 

 

Council Report 

Cabinet Recommendations to Council - Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
Business Plan (2022-2052) 

1 

 

 

Council 
28 July 2022 

Report of: Councillor Ronan Browne - 
Portfolio Holder for Council Homes 
and Landlord Services 

       

  
  

 

Cabinet Recommendations to Council - Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (2022-2052) 

Corporate Priority: Providing high quality council homes and landlord 
services. 

Relevant Ward Member(s): All 

Date of consultation with Ward 
Member(s): 

N/A 

Exempt Information: No 

1 Summary 

1.1 The report at Appendix 1 introduces the Council’s Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

Business Plan 2022 to 2052. The purpose of the Plan is to set out the Council’s 

expectations and plans for council homes for the next 30 years and the financial 

sustainability of the Council’s housing services. 

1.2 The HRA Business Plan sets out how the money that is available for the Council to 

maintain and improve council housing will be spent The HRA Business Plan shows that 

the Council’s Housing Revenue Account is sustainable over the 30-year period, but that 

resources will have to be managed carefully.  

1.3 The Business Plan shows that the council can maintain its focus on compliance (health 

and safety) to ensure that Council homes remain safe and meet decent homes standards. 

It also sets out what other housing improvements can be made within the budget 

available, examines how the Council can build new council housing in an affordable and 

sustainable way, and also considers the implications of the changing regulatory context for 

the housing sector.  

1.4 The HRA Business Plan is an evidence led document and provides a framework for long 

term strategic planning. It is informed by a range of things including a survey of the 

Council’s housing stock and by feedback from tenants. It contains a series of evidence led 

policy recommendations. 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 10

http://www.melton.gov.uk/
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Council Report 

Cabinet Recommendations to Council - Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
Business Plan (2022-2052) 

2 

 

 

 

2 Recommendations 

That Council: 

 

2.1 Approves the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022 – 2052 and 
associated policy recommendations. 

2.2 Delegates authority to the Director for Housing and Communities in consultation 
with the Director for Corporate services and the Portfolio Holder for Housing and 
Landlord Services to review and update the financial modelling within the HRA 
Business Plan on an annual basis to reflect the most up to date stock condition 
data. 

2.3 Delegates authority to the Director for Housing and Communities in consultation 
with the Director for Corporate services and Portfolio Holder for Housing and 
Landlord Services to access the HRA Development and Regeneration Reserve to 
progress projects and activities in support of the HRA up to a limit of £100k per 
project and up to a maximum of £500k in any one year subject to the financial 
viability of the HRA Business plan not being undermined. 

2.4 Revises the target working balance of the HRA be to £1m with effect from 1 April 
2023. 

2.5 Accepts that the affordability of new borrowing be measured using industry 
standard indicators, and these be tracked alongside the HRA business plan. 

2.6 Continues the current policy of not providing for the repayment of debt within the 
HRA in respect of existing and any new borrowing. 

2.7 Sets the rent for re-let properties at the 5% upward tolerance allowed on formula 
rent. 

2.8 Designates the Director for Housing and Communities as the nominated person 
with responsibility for compliance with landlord health and safety on behalf of the 
Council. 

2.9 Designates the Assistant Director for Housing Management as the nominated 
person with responsibility for ensuring that the consumer standards, as set out by 
the Social Housing Regulator, are met. 

2.10 Agrees the following finance principles as set out at Section 9.8 of Appendix 1 

a) that overhead recharges remain as is with annual uplift for inflation. 

b) that any growth in management and maintenance costs is met by reductions 
elsewhere within the HRA. 

c) that actual rent increases are in line with Government policy to maximise income 
to the HRA. 

3 Reason for Recommendations 

3.1 The HRA Business Plan 2022 – 2052 will support the Council to deliver on its 

commitments to deliver high quality council homes across Melton and to manage its 

available finances effectively. 

Page 48



Council Report 

Cabinet Recommendations to Council - Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
Business Plan (2022-2052) 

3 

 

3.2 The Council has made significant improvements to its housing and landlord services and 

whilst it is still on its housing improvement journey, is ready to transition from delivery of 

the Housing Improvement Plan to a more proactive, assurance led approach. 

3.3 It is also important to note that the Business Plan has been developed at a time of 

significant regulatory change in the housing sector. A strong understanding of the council’s 

housing stock and future investment needs is a key element of preparedness for this 

change. 

3.4 The Council will also be taking other steps to ensure it is ready for the regulatory changes 

being introduced. The designation of a nominated person for landlord health and safety 

and a nominated person for consumer standards are requirements of the regulatory 

changes. 

3.5 The HRA Business Plan is a significant programme of work for the Council. It provides a 

clear strategic framework and will enable the development of the Council’s Housing Asset 

Management Plan and capital programme. The Business Plan takes into account 

feedback from tenants and sets out what is affordable, whilst also providing clarity on what 

the Council will need to consider to best manage its housing finances in the future. 

3.6 The implementation of the HRA Business Plan marks a key transitional phase in the 

Council’s Housing Improvement Journey and has been developed at a time of significant 

regulatory change for the housing sector.  

4 Background 

4.1 Cabinet considered the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (2022-2052) at 

their meeting on 13 July 2022 and made recommendations to Council, as outlined in 

section 2. 

4.2 Scrutiny committee supported the development of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

Business Plan (2022-2052) through workshop sessions in December 2021 and March 

2022. The committee formally considered the business plan at their meeting on 14th June 

2022 and provided feedback to Cabinet.   

5 Main Considerations 

5.1 As outlined in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (2022-2052) report 

(Appendix 1). 

6 Options Considered 

6.1 As outlined in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (2022-2052) report 

(Appendix 1). 

7 Consultation 

7.1 As outlined in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (2022-2052) report 

(Appendix 1). 

8 Next Steps – Implementation and Communication 

8.1 As outlined in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (2022-2052) report 

(Appendix 1). 

9 Financial Implications 

Page 49



Council Report 

Cabinet Recommendations to Council - Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
Business Plan (2022-2052) 

4 

 

9.1 As outlined in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (2022-2052) report 

(Appendix 1). 

Financial Implications reviewed by: See Appendix 1 

10 Legal and Governance Implications 

10.1 As outlined in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (2022-2052) report 

(Appendix 1). 

Legal Implications reviewed by: See Appendix 1 

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 

11.1 As outlined in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (2022-2052) report 

(Appendix 1). 

12 Community Safety Implications 

12.1 As outlined in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (2022-2052) report 

(Appendix 1). 

13 Environmental and Climate Change Implications 

13.1  As outlined in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (2022-2052) report 

(Appendix 1). 

14 Other Implications (where significant) 

14.1 As outlined in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (2022-2052) report 

(Appendix 1). 

15 Risk & Mitigation 

15.1 As outlined in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (2022-2052) report 

(Appendix 1). 

16 Background Papers 

16.1 As outlined in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (2022-2052) report 

(Appendix 1). 

17 Appendices 

17.1 Appendix 1 – Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (2022-2052) report. 

17.2 Appendix A – HRA Business Plan 2022-2052 

17.3 Appendix B – Summary of Business Plan recommendations 

Report Author: Pam Wharfe, Housing Management – Strategic 
Projects Lead 

 

Michelle Howard, Director for Housing and 
Communities  

 

Dawn Garton, Director for Corporate Services 
(Section 151 Officer) 

Report Author Contact Details: pwharfe@melton.gov.uk  

Page 50

mailto:pwharfe@melton.gov.uk


Council Report 

Cabinet Recommendations to Council - Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
Business Plan (2022-2052) 

5 

 

mhoward@melton.gov.uk  

dgarton@melton.gov.uk  

Chief Officer Responsible: Michelle Howard, Director for Housing and 
Communities (Deputy Chief Executive) 

Chief Officer Contact Details: 01664 504322 

mhoward@melton.gov.uk 

 

Page 51

mailto:mhoward@melton.gov.uk
mailto:dgarton@melton.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Scrutiny Report 

Housing Development Strategy 2022-2052 

1 

 

 

Cabinet 
13th July 2022 

Report of: Councillor Ronan Browne - 
Portfolio Holder for Housing and 
Landlord Services 

       

  
  

 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (2022-2052) 

Corporate Priority: Providing high quality council homes and landlord 
services. 

Relevant Ward Member(s): All 

Date of consultation with Ward 
Member(s): 

N/A 

Exempt Information: No 

Key Decision Yes 

Subject to call in No  

Recommendation to Council  

 

1 Summary 

1.1 This report introduces the Council’s Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022 

to 2052. The purpose of the Plan is to set out the Council’s expectations and plans for 

council homes for the next 30 years and the financial sustainability of the Council’s housing 

services.  

1.2 It is not a legal requirement to produce a Housing Revenue Account Business Plan; 

however, it is good practice and helps provide a good framework for long term strategic 

planning. 

1.3 The HRA Business Plan sets out how the money that is available for the Council to maintain 

and improve council housing will be spent. It facilitates compliance (health and safety) to 

ensure that Council homes remain safe and meet decent homes standards. It also sets out 

what other housing improvements can be made within the budget available, examines how 

the Council can build new council housing in an affordable and sustainable way, and also 

considers the implications of the changing regulatory context for the housing sector.  

1.4 The HRA Business Plan is an evidence led document. It is informed by a range of things 

including a survey of the Council’s housing stock and by feedback from tenants. It contains 

a series of evidence led policy recommendations. 

Page 53

Appendix 1

http://www.melton.gov.uk/
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Cabinet Report 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022-2052 

2 

 

1.5 Delivery of the HRA Business Plan will be supported by a separate Asset Management Plan 

and Affordable Housing Development Plan.  

1.6 The HRA Business Plan will be updated on an annual basis, to ensure it reflects the most 

up to date operating costs, capital programme costs and wider financial context. The annual 

update will be based on a consistently applied methodology.  

1.7 The implementation of the HRA Business Plan marks a key transitional phase in the 

Council’s Housing Improvement Journey and has been developed at a time of significant 

regulatory change for the housing sector.  

 

2 Recommendation 

That Cabinet:  

 

2.1 Endorses the HRA Business Plan 2022 to 2052 and; 

2.2 Recommends to Council that: 

2.2.1 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022 – 2052 and associated 
policy recommendations (set out in Appendix B of this report) be approved 

2.2.2 Delegated authority is given to the Director for Housing and Communities in 
consultation with the Director for Corporate services and the Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and Landlord Services to review and update the financial modelling 
within the HRA Business Plan on an annual basis to reflect the most up to date 
stock condition data. 

2.2.3 Delegated authority is given to the Director for Housing and Communities in 
consultation with the Director for Corporate services and Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and Landlord Services to access the HRA Development and 
Regeneration Reserve to progress projects and activities in support of the HRA 
up to a limit of £100k per project and up to a maximum of £500k in any one year 
subject to the financial viability of the HRA Business plan not being undermined.  

2.2.4 The target working balance of the HRA be revised to £1m with effect from 
1.4.2023. 

2.2.5 That the affordability of new borrowing be measured using industry standard 
indicators, and these be tracked alongside the HRA business plan.  

2.2.6 That the current policy of not providing for the repayment of debt within the HRA 
be continued in respect of existing and any new borrowing. 

2.2.7 The rent for re-let properties is set to the 5% upward tolerance allowed on 
formula rent. 

2.2.8 That the Director for Housing and Communities is designated as the nominated 
person with responsibility for compliance with landlord health and safety on 
behalf of the Council. 

2.2.9 That the Assistant Director for Housing Management is designated as the 
nominated person with responsibility for ensuring that the consumer standards, 
as set out by the Social Housing Regulator, are met. 

2.2.10 That the following finance principles set out at Section 9.8 are agreed 

a) that overhead recharges remain as is with annual uplift for inflation 

Page 54



Cabinet Report 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022-2052 

3 

 

b) that any growth in management and maintenance costs is met by reductions 
elsewhere within the HRA 

c) that actual rent increases are in line with Government policy to maximise income 
to the HRA.  

 

 

3 Reason for Recommendations 

3.1 The HRA Business Plan 2022 – 2052 will support the Council to deliver on its commitments 

to deliver high quality council homes across Melton and to manage its available finances 

effectively. 

3.2 The Council has made significant improvements to its housing and landlord services and 

whilst it is still on its housing improvement journey, is ready to transition from delivery of the 

Housing Improvement Plan to a more proactive, assurance led approach.  

3.3 It is also important to note that the Business Plan has been developed at a time of significant 

regulatory change in the housing sector. A strong understanding of the council’s housing 

stock and future investment needs is a key element of preparedness for this change.  

3.4 The Council will also be taking other steps to ensure it is ready for the regulatory changes 

being introduced. The designation of a nominated person for landlord health and safety and 

a nominated person for consumer standards are requirements of the regulatory changes. 

3.5 The HRA Business Plan is a significant programme of work for the Council. It provides a 

clear strategic framework and will enable the development of the Councils Housing Asset 

Management Plan and capital programme. The Business Plan takes into account feedback 

from tenants and sets out what is affordable, whilst also providing clarity on what the Council 

will need to consider to best manage its housing finances in the future.  

3.6 The implementation of the HRA Business Plan marks a key transitional phase in the 

Council’s Housing Improvement Journey and has been developed at a time of significant 

regulatory change for the housing sector.  

 

4 Background 

4.1 Housing Improvement Journey  

4.1.1 In November 2019 the Council adopted a Housing Improvement Plan1.  This followed a 

period of review and recognition that the Council’s housing stock and landlord services had 

suffered from chronic under investment, were not meeting the required standards and that 

significant action was required to improve.  

4.1.2 The last full HRA Business Plan was approved in 2012, but from 2010-2018 the level of 

homes not meeting the Decent Homes Standard had risen to over 30% and the historic 

reduction in housing officers and dedicated housing asset management team had 

significantly reduced the council’s ability to maintain effective grip and oversight on council 

housing. Issues with the Council’s previous governance structures and the absence of 

regular formal performance reporting had removed corporate visibility and inhibited an 

effective response. The adoption of the Cabinet and Scrutiny model in May 2019 enabled a 

 
1 https://democracy.melton.gov.uk/documents/s8354/Item%2013%20-
%20Adoption%20of%20the%20Housing%20Improvement%20Plan.pdf 

Page 55



Cabinet Report 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022-2052 

4 

 

far greater focus and significant progress has been made since the adoption of the Housing 

Improvement Plan later that year.  

4.1.3 In November 2019, in support of the Housing Improvement Plan, the Council referred itself 

to the Regulator for Social Housing (RSH), highlighting the improvements required as well 

as the plan, resources and commitment required to deliver them. In March 2020, the 

Regulator confirmed that the Council had not breached the Homes Standard and was 

satisfied with the progress being made.  

4.1.4 In 2021, the Council’s Internal Audit team undertook an audit of landlord health and safety 

and also found a significant improvement on the limited assurance identified in 2019; with a 

‘good’ control environment and ‘satisfactory’ compliance.  

4.1.5 A further audit of landlord health and safety will take place in 2022. It will be an important 

tool in demonstrating the continued improvement and progress made. 

4.1.6 The Council has also managed a number of challenges including in relation to Covid-19 and 

continuity of leadership during this period but has maintained progress and momentum. This 

is to the credit of everyone involved and has benefited from the continued Portfolio Holder 

support and direction.  

4.1.7 Some notable developments and milestones over recent years include:   

a) October 2019: New Corporate Structure approved, creating the Director for Housing 

and Communities post and associated housing team structures. 

b) February 2020: Approval of interim (estimate-led) HRA Business Plan – supporting the 

aspirations set out in the Housing Improvement Plan and enabling reinvestment in the 

service and housing stock condition surveys to be undertaken 

c) February 2020: Corporate Strategy 2020-2024 adopted establishing “High Quality 

Homes and Landlord Services” as one of the Council’s 6 key priorities.  

d) February 2020: Significant funding approved by Council to support investment in new 

housing IT systems (Northgate). Since then, the new asset management and 

compliance modules implemented. Further work continues to roll out additional 

functionality. Ability to locate property information and certification greatly enhanced.  

e) January 2021: New Tenancy Agreement approved, and a range of Housing Landlord 

policies approved by Council 

f) 2021/22: Full Stock condition survey completed (approx. 81% properties) with rolling 

programme of surveys agreed at 20% per year.  

g) January 2022: New tenant engagement framework approved, and following a full 

tenant satisfaction survey undertaken (November 2021) marking the start of a 

transitional process in line with the White Paper: Charter for Social Housing Residents  

h) June 2022: Further to significant programme of development work, new 30-year HRA 

Business Plan presented to Scrutiny Committee prior to Cabinet and Council 

consideration. Draft business plan reviewed externally by sector experts, Savills.   

4.1.8 The Council’s Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2022-2052 represents the 

culmination of determined focus and significant progress over the last 2 years and enables 

a move to a proactive and assurance led approach, marking a transition from the Housing 

Improvement Plan. The HRA Business Plan can be found at Appendix A.  

Page 56



Cabinet Report 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022-2052 

5 

 

4.1.9 The purpose of the Plan is to lay out the Council’s expectations for Council housing over the 

next 30 years. It sets out how the money that is available for the Council to maintain and 

improve council housing will be spent. It facilitates compliance (health and safety) to ensure 

that Council homes remain safe and meet decent homes standards. It also sets out what 

housing improvements can be made within the budget available, examines how the Council 

can build new council housing in an affordable and sustainable way, and also considers the 

implications of the changing regulatory context for the housing sector.  

4.1.10 The HRA Business Plan is an important document. It sets the framework for investment in 

Council Homes for the future. It will sit alongside other key documents:  

a) An Affordable Housing Development Plan which explains the Council’s approach to 

delivering new Council owned housing in the Borough. Separate business cases will be 

completed for all new affordable homes. The Affordable Housing Development Plan will 

be considered by Scrutiny Committee in June 2022 and Cabinet in July 2022. 

b) An Asset Management Plan which will contain a detailed plan for planned maintenance 

and will cover an initial 5-year period. It will be updated annually, adding a 5th year to 

ensure that it always covers a 5-year period and reflects an up-to-date position. The 

Asset Management Plan will be considered by Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet later in 

the year. It will inform the Council’s budget setting process and capital strategy.  

4.1.11 The HRA Business Plan will also be updated on an annual basis, to ensure it reflects the 

most up to date operating costs and capital programme costs. The annual update will be 

based on consistently applied methodology.  

4.1.12 The Council’s Housing Strategy 2021-2026 and Tenant Engagement Framework are also 

key documents.  

4.1.13 To build on the Tenant Engagement Framework and in line with the requirements of the 

regulatory changes, the Council is currently developing new processes for engaging and 

working with tenants including in relation to elements of delivering the capital programme. 

4.2 Regulatory Changes 

4.2.1 The HRA Business Plan has been developed at a time of significant regulatory change in 

the housing sector. 

4.2.2 The government signalled major changes for social housing in January 2021 when it 

published its White Paper, The Charter for Social Housing Residents. The government have 

planned an updated set of standards not only for the homes of social housing residents but 

also for the services they receive and including a comprehensive schedule of proposed 

Tenant Satisfaction Measures that will have to be reported annually by every social housing 

provider. The council will be subject to an external assessment, led by the Regulator of 

Social Housing, every four years. 

4.2.3 The Council is in a positive position in some areas in preparing for these changes. It now 

has a detailed understanding of its stock profile and investment needed to meet decent 

homes standard across all stock. Having developed a business plan, the Council is in a 

stronger position than many others who have not undertaken such a comprehensive 

exercise and do not have up to date plans in place.    

4.2.4 The regulatory changes for the housing sector are significant, including changes to 

legislation, regulation, new consumer standards and a move to an inspection regime for 

council landlords (mirroring the approach applied to Housing Associations for many years).  

Page 57

https://www.melton.gov.uk/media/on2gl4ad/final-housing-stategy-2021-26.pdf


Cabinet Report 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022-2052 

6 

 

4.2.5 Whilst not yet due to be implemented, we have received a strong message from government 

that these changes are coming and that we should begin to prepare for them now.  

4.2.6 The draft HRA Business Plan has been updated to include relevant changes. They provide 

important context for committee members in considering the HRA Business Plan. Further 

details, published in March 2022 can be found here. 

 

5 Main Considerations 

5.1 The HRA Business Plan has been informed by a full Stock Condition Survey carried out by 

Michael Dyson Associates Ltd (February 2022) and a Residents Satisfaction Survey carried 

out by Acuity (November 2021).  

5.1.1 The Stock Condition Survey describes the state of council housing in Melton and what 

investment is required (and when) to meet the Government’s Decent Homes Standard, and 

more generally, the cost of improving the council’s housing stock. Data from the stock 

condition survey has been analysed and uploaded into the Council’s housing asset 

management system.  

5.1.2 The Residents Satisfaction Survey carried out in 2021 provided a snapshot of the views and 

concerns of tenants about their homes. The views of tenants have been further tested via a 

focus group and via a survey of 436 tenants asking for areas of choice for investment to be 

prioritised. 

5.2 The Council now has a clear and evidence-based understanding of the Council’s income 

and expenditure over a 30-year period: 

a) The work carried out to develop the business plan shows that the management and 

maintenance of council housing in Melton is affordable over that period.  

b) It also shows that income (rents) needs to be maximised and resources need to be 

carefully managed.  

c) There are some things that the Council must do (health and safety, decent homes) and 

there are some things that are a matter of choice, affordability and prioritisation. These 

are set out within the business plan.   

5.3 Specifically, the Business Plan shows that: 

5.3.1 Landlord Health and Safety (compliance) can be maintained. The resources available 

enable the Council to ensure Council properties are safe including achieving timely 

compliance with new regulatory requirements on smoke and carbon monoxide alarms. 

Landlord Health and Safety should always remain the top priority for the Council as a 

responsible landlord. 

5.3.2 The resources available enable the Council to meet the current Decent Homes 

Standard across its stock. A Decent Home needs to: 

- Meet the current statutory minimum standard for housing (the Housing Health and 

Safety Rating System)  

- Be in a reasonable state of repair 

- Have reasonably modern facilities and services 

- Provide a reasonable degree of thermal warmth 

Page 58

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-housing-regulation-draft-clauses


Cabinet Report 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022-2052 

7 

 

- Meeting the standard will mean replacing kitchens after 20 years and bathrooms after 

30 years but only if the condition requires that they are replaced 

5.3.3 The resources available will enable the Council to continue to replace metal 

windows with upvc windows. This work is underway and will continue.  

5.3.4 Whilst the resources available do not allow for programmes of work for replacing footpaths 

or fences (for example) across the Council’s stock, funding has been set aside within the 

business plan (approximately £100,000 per year) to assist (on a case-by-case basis, 

guided by need and risk) with one off costs, for example: 

- Fixing paths where there is an identified risk  

- Installing CCTV to address community safety issues  

- Works or services around improving car parking  

- Fixing fencing in some circumstances (although this is generally the tenant’s 

responsibility) 

- Fixing some garages or demolishing them 

5.4 The Business plan shows that there is an average “head room” of approximately £796,000 

per year which will need to be carefully managed through the associated asset 

management plan, which will consider priorities, profile of spend, and affordable housing 

plans, whilst also taking into consideration the impact of any changes such as inflation 

increases. Examples of what could be funded include energy efficiency measures. This 

needs to be considered alongside the sensitivity analysis set out in the financial 

implications section of this report. 

5.4.1 The Business Plan is clear that projects and initiatives will need to be guided by robust 

business cases and will be considered on a case-by-case basis to test on value for money 

and affordability. Resources need to be carefully managed.  

5.5 The HRA Business Plan makes a number of evidence led policy recommendations. A 

summary of these recommendations is set out below and can also be found at Appendix B 

of this report: 

a) Gretton Court will need to have a business case devised, with project management 

support, to determine its future development. 

b) New council housing is a priority for investment. Subject to affordability borrowing can 

meet the balance of cost for newly built or purchased housing, alongside use of right to 

buy receipts.  

c) Right to buy receipts will be retained within the Housing Revenue Account. 

d) All compliance measures will be undertaken within appropriate timescales to ensure 

that the Council’s housing meets the relevant health and safety standards and keeps 

tenants safe 

e) Fairmead Estate will continue to be a focus for improvement, but plans will need to 

include a variety of different measures for example, consideration of a local lettings 

policy and collaboration to focus on community safety and community cohesion. 

f) A review of supported housing will be progressed in 2022. The Council will consider 

how best to use assistive technology to increase independence in the future and how 

to align this with assistive technology offer available through the Council’s lifeline 

service.  

Page 59



Cabinet Report 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022-2052 

8 

 

g) In terms of energy efficiency and zero-carbon the Council will: 

i) focus on improving energy efficiency in its existing homes but will set a zero-carbon 

standard for its new build homes 

ii) explore how best to adapt Council homes to be closer to zero carbon  

iii) provide advice on energy efficiency will be shared proactively with tenants 

iv) work to attract national funding to improve the energy efficiency of the stock  

v) upvc windows will continue to replace metal windows as part of the main planned 

maintenance programme 

vi) The Asset Management Plan will set a SAP rating as a performance measure 

against which the Council will assess its progress in improving energy efficiency 

every year 

h) Service improvement: The Council will engage and consult with tenants about what 

areas of its housing services should be improved. This will be looked at for cost neutral 

or cost saving proposals. It there is a need for additional investment there will need to 

be savings identified elsewhere within the Housing Revenue Account 

i) Works to the external areas around council housing (e.g. paths) will be addressed 

based on a risk based approach. Fences remain the tenant’s responsibility but may be 

fixed or replaced if there is significant risk if not addressed.  

j) Garages are not a priority for investment but will be looked at as development sites. If 

they are viable for letting then there is budget for them to be repaired. If they are not 

lettable, demolition will also be considered. Business cases would be prepared on a 

case-by-case basis.  

k) Other assets which are held in the HRA but are not housing will be reviewed within the 

Asset Management Plan. 

 

6 Options Considered 

6.1 Good governance requires that the Council adopts a long term HRA Business Plan to 

ensure sustainability and forward planning for the Council’s landlord services.  

6.2 In line with the Council’s obligations as a landlord, the proposed Business Plan and 

associated investment prioritises works on compliance – that is meeting the Council’s 

statutory obligations to ensure that tenants are safe in their homes. The Plan then 

recognises the Council’s duty to meet the Decent Homes Standard which is a standard set 

by central government for social housing. There is an overlap between compliance and the 

Decent Homes Standard as it contains the legal requirement for the Council to meet the 

Housing Health and Safety Rating System as laid out in the Housing Act 2004.  

6.3 The Council will have the opportunity to consider business cases regarding housing 

development and other regeneration projects and these will be brought forward as part of 

the Affordable Housing Development Plan and subsequent business cases. 

6.4 The Council has developed its long-term business plan at a time of significant regulatory 

change for the housing sector. Where possible, preparedness for those changes have been 

built into the business plan (for example, requirements for smoke and carbon monoxide 

alarms). The Council will need to ensure that the impact of any subsequent changes are 

assessed and costed within the asset management plan and review of the HRA business 

Page 60



Cabinet Report 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022-2052 

9 

 

plan at appropriate times. For example, the Government has delayed a consultation on a 

review of the Decent Homes Standard.  

6.5 The Council is actively preparing for regulatory change and will commence self-assessment 

and action planning to ensure readiness. The Council will also ensure that it responds 

proactively to any Government consultation on further proposed changes for the housing 

sector.  

 

7 Consultation 

7.1 Consultation on the views of council tenants of the quality, condition and services provided 

to them were captured in the Residents’ Satisfaction Report November 2021 conducted by 

sector specialists, Acuity.  

7.1.1 This showed that while tenants are relatively satisfied with the quality of their homes (77%) 

a significant minority (22%) are dissatisfied with the condition. 

7.2 A tenant focus group was held on 13th January 2022 to look in more detail at tenants’ 

views on council housing and where the council should place its investment.  

7.2.1 The focus group identified the repairs service and communications as areas of particular 

concern. 

7.3 Additionally, a consultation survey exercise has been carried out with tenants, specifically 

asking tenants to tell us their priorities for housing. It was sent out to 436 tenants who had 

offered to take part in consultation exercises with the Council. 118 responses were 

received. The three top priorities emerging from the survey were: 

- Building new council homes 

- Replacing metal windows with upvc windows 

- Energy efficiency  

7.4 The Council’s Scrutiny Committee has been engaged throughout the development of the 

HRA Business Plan. This has been valuable in shaping the development of the Plan 

through workshop sessions in December 2021 and March 2022.  

7.4.1 The Council’s Scrutiny Committee formally considered the HRA Business Plan on 14th 

June 2022. The Portfolio Holder for Housing and Landlord Services, in addition to Housing 

and Finance lead officers were in attendance for this meeting of the scrutiny committee. 

Comments from the Scrutiny Committee will also be provided to Cabinet.  

7.4.2 A review of the final draft of the HRA Business Plan has been carried out by housing 

finance specialists, Savills. The draft Business Plan has been updated to include the 

advice received. Feedback was positive and described the Business Plan as a 

comprehensive and extensive piece of work. It considered that the Business Plan had 

been developed robustly, with a positive approach to involving tenants in this process, and 

that the Council could take assurance and confidence from the extent of the stock 

condition survey work undertaken.   

8 Next Steps – Implementation and Communication 

8.1 Cabinet Members are asked to endorse the HRA Business Plan (2022 – 2052) and 

recommend it to Council for approval in July 2022. Council will also be asked to approve the 

following recommendations: 

Page 61



Cabinet Report 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022-2052 

10 

 

8.1.1 Delegated authority is given to the Director for Housing and Communities in consultation 

with the Director for Corporate services and the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Landlord 

Services to review and update the financial modelling within the HRA Business Plan on an 

annual basis to reflect the most up to date stock condition data. 

8.1.2 Delegated authority is given to the Director for Housing and Communities in consultation 

with the Director for Corporate services and Portfolio Holder for Housing and Landlord 

Services to access the HRA Development and Regeneration Reserve to progress projects 

and activities in support of the HRA up to a limit of £100k per project and up to a maximum 

of £500k in any one year subject to the financial viability of the HRA Business plan not being 

undermined.  

8.1.3 The target working balance of the HRA be revised to £1m from 1.4.2023. 

8.1.4 That the affordability of new borrowing be measured using industry standard indicators, and 

these be tracked alongside the HRA business plan.  

8.1.5 That the current policy of not providing for the repayment of debt within the HRA be 

continued in respect of existing and any new borrowing. 

8.1.6 The rent for re-let properties is set to the 5% upward tolerance allowed on formula rent. 

8.1.7 That the Director for Housing and Communities is designated as the nominated person with 

responsibility for compliance with landlord health and safety on behalf of the Council  

8.1.8 That the Assistant Director for Housing Management is designated as the nominated person 
with responsibility for ensuring that the consumer standards, as set out by the Social 
Housing Regulator, are met. 

8.2 The recommendations in the Business Plan will need to be shared with the Council’s tenants 

in a clear, accessible and meaningful way. They should also be shared widely with the 

Council’s staff and partners.  

8.3 Implementation of the Business Plan will be supported by an Asset Management Plan 

(October / November 2022) and the Affordable Housing Plan (July 2022).  

8.4 The Business Plan should be kept under annual review. The Asset Management Plan will 

also be reviewed each year, to ensure there is always a five-year delivery plan in place.   

8.5 The Council has included the HRA Business Plan as part of its Internal Audit Programme 

for 2022/2023 to seek assurance of the arrangements in place for development and effective 

delivery.   

 

9 Financial Implications 

9.1 The main conclusion from the Business Plan is that the Housing Revenue Account is 

sustainable over the 30-year period based on the assumptions regarding future costs.  

9.2 The financial assumptions show that over the 30-year period after allowing for spend on 

maintaining decent homes (as shown in the condition surveys received and compliance) 

there is a surplus amount of £23.9m available over the 30-year period, equating to an 

average of £796k per year for investment in other priorities (choices) such as new housing 

or energy efficiency measures, subject to a business case.  

9.3 Sensitivity analysis has been undertaken on the financial assumptions made in the business 

plan.  

Page 62



Cabinet Report 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022-2052 

11 

 

9.3.1 The key areas that could impact on the projections set out in the business plan are rental 

increases arising primarily from the associated government policy relating to this and 

inflation affecting future expenditure levels. These are largely outside of the Council’s 

control and are risk areas that the Council will need to pay close attention to. Changes in 

these areas (for example, government policy leading to a period in which rents cannot be 

increased) would directly impact the monies available for investment.  

9.3.2 There are also financial sensitivities relating to voids and the loss of income and additional 

expenditure associated with this as well as potential bad debts. These two areas the 

Council can influence to an extent and are areas where focus will be given to improve the 

financial position of the HRA, including: 

a) Ongoing work in relation to voids includes engaging with contractors to ensure works 

can be completed in a timely way, moving the responsibility for allocations to the tenancy 

services team, the launch of a voids module in the Northgate system to allow for 

improved tracking and monitoring of voids. There is a commitment set out within the 

Business Plan to review options regarding Gretton Court, where the Council has a high 

level of voids and properties are less desirable due to having shared bathroom facilities.  

b) Ongoing work in relation to debt management includes the development of a dedicated 

rents and income officer, within the housing team. Recruitment to this post will 

commence as soon as possible.   

9.3.3 Another key area of sensitivity is the cost of repairs, and with the business plan having been 

prepared without the conclusion of the Asset Management Plan, it is likely that these could 

reduce when taken into account alongside a history of underspending on the account. The 

Asset Management Plan is therefore a key document in budget setting and profiling of 

spend. 

9.3.4 The sensitivity analysis shows that the estimated surplus amount of £23.9m over the 30-

year period set out in the business plan, based on a range of negative and positive 

assumptions, could be within the range of a £145m deficit to a £110m surplus. This shows 

how susceptible the estimates are to changes in assumptions. Any change in the actual 

assumptions made will impact on the residual amount available for investment in the 

“choices” as set out in the business plan. Through the annual review these assumptions can 

be updated, and an assessment made on the latest forecast of the amount available for 

investment elsewhere. 

9.4 Until the Asset Management Plan is developed setting out the spending needs over the next 

5 years it is not possible to compare spending needs with resources over this period. Whilst 

the plan shows there are sufficient resources over the life of the business plan these need 

to be prioritised and profiled over the life of the 30-year plan. Modelling shows that if 

spending correlated exactly with the condition survey without any prioritisation, then there 

are insufficient reserves to meet spend in the early years. The work on the asset 

management plan and particularly the prioritisation of spend over each 5-year period can 

assess if essential spend and priorities can be met from resources available. Should this 

not be the case borrowing in these years would need to be considered. Any cost of 

borrowing would need to be met from revenue resources within the HRA, which would 

impact on the headroom available. 

9.5 Benchmarking information shows that the Council’s rents are comparatively low. The Savills 

review noted that the indicative costs of capital works inclusive of fees and preliminaries 

were ‘on the high side of benchmarks’ but noted that the stock condition survey is not a 

programme, highlighting the importance of the work that will be done through the Asset 

Page 63



Cabinet Report 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022-2052 

12 

 

Management Plan to set a programme, including the potential to achieve value for money 

in procurement and delivery. 

9.6 It is important to review revenue and operating costs including through the development of 

the Asset Management Plan in order to maximise the resources available to the HRA. (i.e. 

in a period of business as usual as opposed to in a period of housing improvement plan 

delivery). To support with benchmarking and value for money assessment on an ongoing 

basis, the Council will take steps to join Housemark, a performance management 

organisation for social housing organisations.   

9.7 A risk assessment has been carried out for the HRA Business Plan. The most financially 

significant risk is whether the government maintains the current rent increase policy as it 

covers inflation (currently, rents can rise by the Consumer Price Index (CPI) plus 1%). In 

the recent past central government has reduced social housing rents which has damaged 

plans for investment. This will need to be closely monitored not least because inflation has 

risen significantly over the last 12 months. In order to protect the HRA, the Council will need 

to continue to maximise rental and other income to the HRA.  

9.8 The key financial policies arising from the plan to ensure financial sustainability are: 

a)  that overhead recharges remain as is with annual uplift for inflation 

b) That the affordability of new borrowing be assessed using industry standard indicators 

based on data taken from the individual project business cases and that these are 

tracked and monitored over the life of the business plan 

c) that the current policy regarding the provision for the repayment of debt within the HRA 

is continued for both existing and new borrowing taking into account that the affordability 

of new borrowing will be assessed, tracked and monitored using industry standard 

indicators. This will ensure that interest payments are affordable. All additional/new 

borrowing will increase the Council’s exposure to changes in the interest rates, which 

while relatively low currently does carry risk in future.  Of the Council’s current debt 

£4.1m is due for rescheduling by the end of 2026-27, the business plan for this along 

with any new borrowing is reliant on maintaining low interest repayments. 

d) that any growth in management and maintenance costs is met by reductions elsewhere 

within the HRA 

e) that actual rent increases are in line with Government policy to maximise income to the 

HRA.  

9.9 With regard to rental increases careful consideration will need to be given to the approach 

taken and safeguards for tenants should inflation levels remain at the current levels. 

9.10 One of the key gaps financially has been the absence of a longer term HRA capital 

programme to inform the Council’s capital strategy and treasury management strategy. This 

is also important if value for money is to be secured through long term contracts. The 5-year 

HRA asset management plan will be critical for the development of this longer term capital 

programme and the link to other core financial strategies. This will be finalised in time to 

inform the 2023/24 budget. 

9.11 Based on the assumptions at the current time the Plan shows that building new council 

housing or purchasing new council housing should be affordable, when using borrowing to 

meet the balance of the cost of building or buying on top of using right to buy receipts. 

However, this is subject to Right to Buy rules remaining as they are and affordable rents 

being charged in line with council policy. The Council will also be able to repay any 

Page 64



Cabinet Report 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022-2052 

13 

 

borrowings even if homes are sold over the life of the assets however this will need to be 

tested further during any business case developed 

9.12 With regard to the various HRA reserves that are held these are set out as follows with the 

associated policy: 

9.13 HRA working balance 

9.14 When calculating Budget requirements, relevant authorities are required (by The Local 

Government Finance Act 1992) to have regard to the level of reserves needed for meeting 

estimated future expenditure.  Reserves held as a working balance are held for contingency 

purposes (e.g. for emergencies) and the appropriate level is reviewed annually as part of 

the budget setting process. The target level has been reviewed as part of this process and 

a revised level of £1m recommended. This takes into account a specific risk assessment 

and also using a guideline of £500 per property. This results in a minimum level of reserve 

at circa 15% of revenue expenditure.  

9.15 HRA Development and Regeneration Reserve 

9.16 This reserve is for specific HRA development and regeneration needs within the HRA ring 

fence.  The authority to access this reserve is currently tied in with the Housing Improvement 

Programme (HIP), however the completion of the HIP requires a change to the delegation 

in regard to the current needs of the service.  The recommendation is to limit delegation to 

£100k per project a maximum of £500k per annum, with each project considered in regard 

to the affordability of the plan. 

9.17 Major Repairs Reserve 

9.18 This reserve holds amounts set aside as depreciation from the HRA, based on a calculation 

which includes depreciation and additional revenue to support the HRA capital programme.  

9.19 Water Reserve 

9.20 On the cancellation of the Agency Agreement that the Council had with Severn Trent Water 

to collect water rates on their behalf, Severn Trent Water agreed to continue to fund future 

written off amounts of water arrears by a one-off payment 

 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Director for Corporate Services 

 

10 Legal and Governance Implications 

10.1 The Localism Act 2011 reformed the way that council housing is financed in England and 

Wales. The national HRA subsidy system ended in April 2012 and was replaced with self-

financing.  

 

10.2 Since Section 167 / Schedule 15 of the Localism Act 2011 came into force, English local 

authorities have been required to be self-financing in relation to their housing stock.  

10.3 The items to be credited and debited to the HRA are prescribed by statute. It is a ring-

fenced account within the authority’s General Fund, which means that local authorities 

have no general discretion to transfer sums into or out of the HRA. It is not a legal 

requirement to produce an HRA Business Plan; however, it is good practice and helps 

provide a good framework for long term strategic planning. 

Page 65



Cabinet Report 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022-2052 

14 

 

10.4 The HRA Business Plan provides an important mechanism for ensuring that the council’s 

housing stock is well managed and maintained, and that investment is made to ensure the 

safety of residents.  

10.5 The HRA should be self-funding and continuous review of the position of the HRA is 

required to ensure this. The Council has a statutory duty to approve a balanced HRA each 

year. 

10.6 Delivery of projects and activities which may have an implication on the HRA, will be 

subject to separate governance decisions and monitoring of the impact on the HRA. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Natasha Taylor (Deputy Monitoring Officer)  

 

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 

11.1 In finalising the Plan, the Authority must comply with the public sector equality duty as set 

out in S149 of the Equality Act. 

11.2 An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out and has been reviewed by the 

Council’s Check and Challenge Group. It has been published on the Council’s website and 

can be found here. Investment in decent and safe homes will positively impact the safety 

and wellbeing of council tenants. There are two actions arising from the equality impact 

assessment which will be taken forward by the Housing Service. These are shown below: 

There are gaps in the Council’s database relating to information about council tenants. 

Work needs to be done to evaluate how to rectify this. 

Younger tenants need to be more effectively engaged in consultations with the Council. 

This is recognised as a difficult task across the social housing sector. 

 

12 Community Safety Implications 

12.1 The HRA Business Plan recognises that there will likely be a need to invest in the wider 

housing environment to support safe, resilient and cohesive communities.  

12.2 There is also direct consideration given to the Fairmead estate where tenants are the least 

satisfied with the environment in which they live. 

12.3 There is also revenue funding to support vulnerable tenants within the base budget. 

 

13 Environmental and Climate Change Implications 

13.1 The Plan considers recommendations regarding net-zero and energy efficiency, however, 

the Plan itself will not be able to deliver a carbon neutral outcome without significant external 

funding. This is the case for the wider housing sector. 

13.2 This will be further considered through the Asset Management Plan and Housing 

Development Plan and will need to be considered in the context of the cost-of-living crisis, 

fuel poverty and thermal efficiency. 

13.3 The Council will need to be ready to apply for external funding opportunities as they become 

available, in order to support its ambitions in this regard.  

 

Page 66

https://www.melton.gov.uk/strategies/equality-diversity-and-cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/


Cabinet Report 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022-2052 

15 

 

14 Other Implications  

14.1 Health and Wellbeing Implications: The current HRA budget pays for support to tenants 

to manage their homes via Case Management, Intensive Housing Management and 

Housing Officers. Work is underway to review how this support is currently provided and to 

consider future options.  

14.2 Environmental Implications: There is funding to improve the external areas around 

council housing across the borough, but it is limited and will need to be carefully managed. 

14.3 Human Resource Implications: There are no direct human resource implications from 

this report 

14.4 Procurement Implications: There are no procurement implications from this report. The 

Asset Management Plan and Affordable Housing Development Plan will set out 

procurement proposals. Delivery of the capital programme will be in line with the Council’s 

contract procedure rules. 

 

15 Risk & Mitigation 

Risk 
No 

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Risk 

1 Lack of continuity of leadership  1 4 Low 

2 Rents not raised in line with inflation  1 4 Low 

3 

 

A level of inflation has been provided for in 
the business plan. However, market 
uncertainties might mean that this is 
insufficient  

4 2 Medium 

4 Poor Quality Business Plan  2 2 Low 

5 Compliance works are not carried out 1 4 Low 

6 Not having the capacity and expertise in 
place to produce businesses cases  

3 4 Medium  

7 Capital spending is not delivered 2 4 Medium 

8 Right to buy receipts not used 2 4 Medium 

9 New homes lost under RTB 2 4 Medium 

10 The Asset management plan is not 
developed in time for the 2023/24 budget 
due to other priorities and a lack of 
resources. 

3 3 Medium 

11 The prioritisation of spend as part of the 
Asset Management Plan results in a 
borrowing need in the early years which 
impacts on revenue resources 

3 2 Medium 

12 Regulatory changes lead to increased costs 
(for example, changes to the Decent Homes 
Standard) 

4 3 
Medium 

 

13 Preparedness for regulatory change and 
ability to provide assurance  

3 3 Medium 

 

  Impact / Consequences 

Page 67



Cabinet Report 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022-2052 

16 

 

  Negligible Marginal Critical Catastrophic 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Score/ definition 1 2 3 4 

6 Very High 
    

5 High 
    

4 Significant 

 3, 12  

3 Low 
 11 10, 13 6 

2 Very Low 
 4,   7, 8, 9 

1 Almost 
impossible    1, 2, 5 

 

 

 

 

Risk No Mitigation 

1 Documentation of all key decisions. Robust approach to managing vacancies. 
Added to council’s risk register with clear mitigation in place.  

2 Monitor govt policy in this area. Key principle within business plan to maximise 
income (rental income) to maintain sustainability of the HRA. However, current 
unprecedented levels of inflation mean that careful consideration will need to be 
given prior to rent setting to ensure there are sufficient safeguards for tenants.  

3 Need for savings to balance budget. Dynamic risk management approach needed. 
Annual review of business plan.  

4 External feedback being sought from sector expert. Audit programme to include 
audit of HRA Business Plan 

5 Regular monitoring of KPIs. Sufficient expertise in place. Organisational focus on 
landlord health and safety. Prioritisation of compliance within business plan. Budget 
shows that compliance works can be met within the available budget.  

6 Capacity brought in for significant projects. Use of council’s project documentation 
and governance arrangements. Cross organisational expertise to review business 
cases to evaluate viability and deliverability. Keep capacity to deliver under review.  

7 Support to Asset Manager from across the council. Ensure team has the right 
resources to deliver. Appropriate procurement and contract management 
arrangements.  

8 Support for borrowing needed. Affordable Housing development plan in place. 
Business cases and evaluations needed.  

9 Monitor changes to this area of policy closely 

10 Priority to be given to the development of the Asset Management Plan in order to 
inform the capital strategy and capital programme 

Page 68



Cabinet Report 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2022-2052 

17 

 

11 Modelling undertaken on the asset management plan against the resources 
available to mitigate the need to spend, should this be required look to manage debt 
accordingly to reduce costs as much as possible 

12 Feed into future Government consultations and carry out impact assessment for the 
Business Plan and Asset Management Plan / adjust accordingly. Ensure clear and 
visible implementation plans. Highlight any risks to members.  

13 Carry out self-assessment in line with charter for social housing residents and 
regulatory changes/ consumer standards and develop associated action / 
implementation plan. Appoint to an assurance officer post to lead on and oversee 
this work. Develop a programme of assurance reporting to cabinet and scrutiny 
committee.  

 

16 Background Papers 

16.1 Michael Dyson Associates Ltd Melton Stock Condition Survey February 2022 

16.2 Acuity Residents Satisfaction Survey November 2021 

16.3 Equality Impact Assessment  

16.4 Tenant and Leaseholder Engagement Framework (2021) 

16.5 Housing Strategy 2021-2026 

 

17 Appendices 

17.1 Appendix A: HRA Business Plan, 2022-2052 

17.2 Appendix B: Summary of Business Plan recommendations  

 

Report Author(s): Pam Wharfe, Housing Management – Strategic 
Projects Lead  

 

Michelle Howard, Director for Housing and 
Communities (Deputy Chief Executive) 

 

Dawn Garton, Director for Corporate Services 
(Section 151 Officer) 

Report Author Contact Details: pwharfe@melton.gov.uk  

mhoward@melton.gov.uk 

dgarton@melton.gov.uk   

Chief Officer Responsible: Michelle Howard, Director for Housing and 
Communities (Deputy Chief Executive) 

Chief Officer Contact Details: 01664 504322 

mhoward@melton.gov.uk 

 

Page 69

mailto:pwharfe@melton.gov.uk
mailto:mhoward@melton.gov.uk
mailto:dgarton@melton.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
Business Plan 

2022-2052Page 71

Appendix A



2     

Melton Borough Council Property Ownership
The Council currently owns over 1800 properties across Melton. This map shows the locations of 
Council properties.

Page 72



3     

Contents
1   Foreword.......................................................................................................................................6
2   Executive Summary.......................................................................................................................7
3   Introduction....................................................................................................................................7
   3.1  Summary of what is included in the base budget.....................................................................9
   3.2  Value for Money........................................................................................................................10         
  3.3   Summary of what can be funded and what needs to be managed within the “headroom”
     available:................................................................................................................................10
   3.4   Recommendation on budgeting and rents.............................................................................10
   3.5  Risks.......................................................................................................................................11
4   Regulatory Change - The Charter for Social Housing Residents.................................................12
   4.1   Implications of the Charter for Social Housing Residents White Paper.................................12

4.1.1  Planned changes to the Decent Homes Standard..........................................................13
4.1.2   Nominated person responsible for compliance with health and safety.............................13
4.1.3   Recommendation for person nominated for Health & Safety...........................................13
4.1.4   Responsible person for consumer standards.................................................................13
4.1.5   Recommendation for person responsible for consumer standards................................13
4.1.6   Reporting accountability.................................................................................................13

5  Melton..........................................................................................................................................14
6  Corporate Priorities......................................................................................................................15
   6.1   Corporate Strategy 2020 to 2024..........................................................................................15
7  Council Housing Key Facts and Figures......................................................................................15
   7.1   Supported Housing...............................................................................................................16

7.1.1   Recommendation for Gretton Court...............................................................................17
7.2   Homes sold under the Right to Buy......................................................................................17

7.2.1   Recommendation on retaining right to buy receipts.......................................................18
7.3   Information about council housing tenants in Melton............................................................18

7.3.1   Age of tenants.................................................................................................................18
7.3.2   Gender of tenants...........................................................................................................18
7.3.3   Ethnicity..........................................................................................................................19
7.3.4   Number of leaseholders.................................................................................................19

8  Areas for Investment....................................................................................................................19
8.1.1   Housing needs................................................................................................................19
8.1.2   Recommendation for new council housing.....................................................................20
8.1.3   Council housing condition...............................................................................................20
8.1.4   Keeping tenants safe......................................................................................................21
8.1.5   Fire Safety.......................................................................................................................21
8.1.6   Legionella.......................................................................................................................22
8.1.7   Asbestos.........................................................................................................................22
8.1.8   Radon.............................................................................................................................22
8.1.9   Electricity.........................................................................................................................22

Page 73



4     

8.1.10   Gas...............................................................................................................................22
8.1.11   Carbon Monoxide Monitoring........................................................................................22
8.1.12   Recommendation on compliance.................................................................................23
8.1.13   Regeneration................................................................................................................23
8.1.14   Recommendation for regeneration...............................................................................23
8.1.15   Meeting the needs of all tenants...................................................................................24
8.1.16   Lifeline and Assistive technology..................................................................................24
8.1.17   Recommendations for supported housing....................................................................24

8.2   Climate change and Energy Efficiency.................................................................................24
8.2.1   Recommendations on climate change and energy efficiency.........................................25
8.2.2   Service improvement......................................................................................................25
8.2.3   Recommendation for service improvement....................................................................26

9   Choices.......................................................................................................................................26
9.1.1   Priorities for investment..................................................................................................27
9.1.2   Table showing results of survey on investment choices.................................................28
9.1.3   Recommendations on investment..................................................................................29
9.1.4   Garages and other HRA non-housing assets.................................................................29
9.1.5   Recommendation on garages and other HRA non-housing assets................................29
9.1.6   Cost of building or purchasing council housing..............................................................29
9.1.7   Effect of the Right to Buy on New Build or Purchase.....................................................30

10   Finances....................................................................................................................................30
10.1.1   Forecast revenue projection.........................................................................................30
10.1.2   30-Year Budget and Illustrative Annual Budget............................................................30
10.1.3   Assumptions.................................................................................................................31

10.2   HRA Business Plan– Sensitivity Analysis...........................................................................32
10.2.1   Government removes the additional 1% above CPI that rents can be increased by.....34
10.2.2   Voids change to the Business Plan by +/-2%...............................................................34
10.2.3   Arrears are measured against income with a factor of 5%........................................... 34
10.2.4   Inflation on costs.......................................................................................................... 35
10.2.5   Change in the stock/regulatory repairs standard +10%................................................35
10.2.6   Interest changes............................................................................................................35
10.2.7   Right to Buys +/-5 or New builds +/-5 which is maintained across the plan................. 35
10.2.8   Repairs & Maintenance Costs reduce by 10%............................................................. 35
10.2.9   Developing a Borrowing and Investment Framework...................................................35
10.2.10   What do the metrics look like and how does Melton compare?..................................36
10.2.11   Reserves.....................................................................................................................38

11   Consultation...............................................................................................................................39
11.1.1   Putting tenants at the heart of the service....................................................................39
11.1.2   Key results from the Residents Satisfaction Survey.....................................................39
11.1.3   Satisfaction with the quality of your home.....................................................................39
11.1.4   Satisfaction with the condition of your home.................................................................40

Page 74



5     

11.1.5   Internet Access..............................................................................................................40
11.1.6   Focus Group of Tenants.................................................................................................41
11.1.7   Working with leaseholders............................................................................................41
11.1.8 Other stakeholders.......................................................................................................41
11.1.9 Survey of tenants on priorities......................................................................................41

12   Appendices................................................................................................................................41
12.1.1 Appendix 1 Tenants’ Focus Group................................................................................41
12.1.2 Appendix 2 Scrutiny Meeting Notes 7.12.21................................................................42
12.1.3 Appendix 3 Check on the results from the Stock Condition Survey.............................44

       12.1.4   Appendix 4 Summary of Business Plan recommendations..........................................45

Page 75



6     

1 Foreword
 
Providing high quality council homes and landlord services is a top priority for Melton Borough 
Council and as Portfolio Holder, I want us to be a robust and responsible landlord. I want to be sure 
that tenants are living in good and safe accommodation. I am committed to the Council meeting, 
all its statutory responsibilities and where resources allow, to go beyond that to best support and 
improve the lives of our residents

I am completely committed to listening to and working with tenants. I will make sure that the Council 
listens and will adjust plans where that is possible. I want to see the Council working with tenants 
at the start of future policy changes and plans as well as consulting on them when they are more 
complete.

There will be key delivery plans coming from this document which will make 
sure that the Council keeps council housing in good condition over the 
coming years.

As we look to the future and particularly with the Charter for Social Housing 
Residents in mind, housing will remain at the forefront of what we do. 

Councillor Ronan Browne

Portfolio Holder for Housing and Landlord Services 

I am proud to present Melton Borough Council’s long-term plan for Council Homes and Landlord 
services. This Plan represents the Council’s transition to the next phase of its housing journey – one 
that builds on the investment, improvement and focus the Council has embedded over recent years 
and enables the Council to move confidently from a reactive and risk management approach to a 
position of managing its housing stock in a way that is proactive, and assurance led. 

It is a plan that shows that the Council’s Housing Revenue Account is 
sustainable, and that the Council can maintain its commitments to health 
and safety and to meeting the Decent Homes standard, whilst also enabling 
the council to carefully manage its remaining resources to consider wider 
improvements to its housing stock and to accelerate efforts to acquire and 
build more affordable homes that meet the needs of our communities for 
the future. 

This Business Plan has been developed at a time of significant regulatory 
change in the housing sector and this document is an important tool in 
demonstrating readiness for these changes.

Edd de Coverly

Chief Executive Melton Borough Council

        

Page 76



7     

2 Executive Summary
 
This document is the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan for Melton Borough Council.

It sets out the Council’s expectations and plans for council homes for the next 30 years (2022 – 2052) 
and the financial sustainability of the Council’s housing services. It looks at the money available for 
the Council to maintain and improve council and ensures that Council homes remain safe and meet 
decent homes standards. It also sets out what other housing improvements and investment choices 
can be made within the budget available, examines how the Council can build new council housing 
in an affordable and sustainable way to meet the needs of residents in Melton, and considers the 
implications of the changing regulatory context for the housing sector.

The implementation of the HRA Business Plan marks a key transitional phase in the Council’s 
Housing Improvement Journey and has been developed at a time of significant regulatory change 
for the housing sector.

The Business Plan shows that management and maintenance of council housing in Melton is 
affordable over the 30 year period. The resources available mean that the Council can ensure its 
properties are safe, including achieving timely compliance with new regulatory requirements on 
smoke and carbon monoxide alarms. Landlord Health and Safety will always remain the top priority 
for the Council as a responsible landlord.

However, the Business Plan also shows that income (rent) needs to be maximised and that resources 
need to be carefully managed. There are some things that are a matter of choice, affordability and 
prioritisation and the business plan sets out how the Council will approach these things.  The HRA 
Business Plan is an evidence led document and is informed by a range of things including a survey 
of the Council’s housing stock and by feedback from tenants.

The Business Plan contains a series of evidence led policy recommendations. A summary of these 
recommendations can be found on page 45.  It sets the framework for investment in Council Homes 
for the future and will be updated on an annual basis. It will sit alongside other key documents:

An Affordable Housing Development Plan which will set out the Council’s approach to delivering 
new Council owned housing in the Borough.

An Asset Management Plan which will contain a detailed plan for planned maintenance and will 
cover an initial 5-year period. It will be updated annually, adding a 5th year to ensure that it always 
covers a 5-year period and reflects an up-to-date position.

The Business Plan has also been developed at a time of regulatory change in the housing sector. The 
regulatory changes sector are significant including changes to legislation, regulation, new consumer 
standards and a move to an inspection regime for council landlords (mirroring the approach applied 
to Housing Associations for many years). Whilst not yet due to be implemented, Councils have 
received a strong message from government that these changes are coming and that we should 
begin to prepare for them now. The Council finds itself in a positive position in preparing for these 
changes, and the Business Plan is a key part of this, as it provides a detailed understanding of the 
Councils housing stock and the investment needed to meet decent homes standard across all stock

3 Introduction
 
The Council’s 30-year HRA Business Plan shows that the maintenance and management of the 
Council’s homes is sustainable. However, subject to confirmation of actuals costs of delivering the 
supporting asset management plan, there may be little excess financial resource in the plan. This 
means that the Council needs to manage its resources carefully, realise efficiencies to release 
financial headroom and where appropriate, bid for external financial resources to support aspirations, 
for example for energy efficiency measures and for building new council housing. 

It will be important to maximise income to the HRA (for example, rental income) and to review revenue 
and operating costs including through the development of the associated Asset Management Plan 

Page 77



8     

to maximise the resources available to the HRA, including the potential to achieve value for money 
in procurement and delivery. 

The table below shows the agreed financial position over the 30-year Business Plan in March 2022. 
It leaves the council with an average budget flexibility (“head room”) of approximately £796,000 
per year which will need to be carefully managed through the associated asset management plan. 
The Council will need to remain focused on resilience to other costs that may occur, for example, 
inflationary increases. 

30-Year HRA Budgets Income
Revenue Costs £312,700,000
Cost of meeting the Condition Survey (Capital 
Budget)

£92,000,000

Capitalisation of salaries £6,400,000
Total Cost £411,100,000
Income £369,000,000
Gap between income and expenditure £42,100,000
Gap can be covered by money set aside for 
depreciation (which is)

£51,500,000

Use of other reserves £14,500,000
Therefore the remaining budget flexibility over 
30 years is

£23,900,000

Average budget flexibility each year £796,670

 
The business plan shows that the management and maintenance of council housing in Melton is 
affordable over the period of the plan. It also shows that income (rents) needs to be maximised and 
resources need to be carefully managed. There are some things that the Council must do (health 
and safety, decent homes) and there are some things that are a matter of choice, affordability and 
prioritisation. 

Within the planned expenditure as set out within the Business Plan, the Council can:

• Maintain Landlord Health and Safety (compliance) and

• Meet the current Decent Homes Standard across its stock:

Money has been allowed for within the investment from the stock condition survey for replacing 
kitchens and bathrooms (as required) and to continue a programme of replacing metal windows with 
upvc windows. 

Whilst the resources available do not allow for programmes of work for replacing footpaths or fences 
(for example) across the Council’s stock, contingency funding has been set aside within the business 
plan to assist with one off costs where appropriate, guided by need and risk on a case by case basis. 

Projects and initiatives that constitute ‘choices’ (see section 9) will need to be guided by robust 
business cases and will be considered on a case-by-case basis to assess value for money and 
affordability. 

When looking at a budget over a 30-year period there will inevitably be changes and the overall 
budget will need to be reviewed, at least annually. Section 10 (Finances) shows the inflation and 
other financial assumptions made in drawing up this model. 

Sensitivity analysis has been undertaken on these assumptions. This shows that the estimated 
surplus amount of £23.9m over the 30-year period set out in the business plan, however based on 
a range of negative and positive scenarios, could be within the range of a £145m deficit to a £110m 
surplus (as shown in the chart below). 

Page 78



9     

This shows that whilst the HRA is sustainable, it is potentially vulnerable to the scenarios that 
have been modelled. Any change in the assumptions made will impact on the residual amount 
available for investment in the “choices” as set out in the business plan. Through an annual review 
these assumptions can be updated, and an assessment made on the latest forecast of the amount 
available for investment elsewhere. Resources will need to be carefully managed.

3.1  Summary of what is included in the base budget
Landlord Health and Safety (compliance) can be maintained: The resources available enable 
the Council to ensure Council properties are safe including achieving timely compliance with new 
regulatory requirements on smoke and carbon monoxide alarms. Landlord Health and Safety will 
always remain the top priority for the Council as a responsible landlord.

Meeting the Decent Homes Standard: The resources available enable the Council to meet the 
current Decent Homes Standard across its stock. 

The stock condition data shows that there are currently 128 properties failing the Decent Homes 
standard (8.7% of the stock). 

A Decent Home needs to:

- Meet the current statutory minimum standard for housing (the Housing Health and Safety 
Rating System) 

- Be in a reasonable state of repair
- Have reasonably modern facilities and services
- Provide a reasonable degree of thermal warmth

Meeting the standard will mean replacing kitchens after 20 years and bathrooms after 30 years but 
only if the condition requires that they are replaced
The Council will also continue to replace metal windows with upvc windows.  

Page 79



10     

3.2 Value for Money
Benchmarking information shows that the Council’s rents are low compared to other social housing 
landlords. An external review has identified that indicative costs of capital works inclusive of fees 
and preliminaries are ‘on the high side of benchmarks’ but noted that the stock condition survey 
is not a programme, highlighting the importance of the detailed work and cost analysis that will be 
done through the Asset Management Plan, including the potential to achieve value for money in 
procurement and delivery. The Council will review revenue and operating costs including through 
the development of the Asset Management Plan to maximise the resources available to the HRA. 
To support with benchmarking and value for money assessment on an ongoing basis, the Council 
will also take steps to join Housemark1, a data and insight company for the housing sector.

3.3 Summary of what needs to be managed within the “headroom” available:
The following costs will need to be managed within the £796,670 average annual headroom:

• Any works to Gretton Court 

• Changes to the Fairmead estate

• Funding energy efficiency measures

• Inflation above the assumptions included in the forward projections which is not met by 
government permitted rent rises

Any major expenditure on changes to buildings or services will require a business case to show that 
it is affordable to the Housing Revenue Account, including considering the impact of other factors 
such as inflationary increases.  The Council has an existing business case and project management 
framework that will be used to enable robust project development and evaluation.

£100,000 a year has been put aside as a contingency to assist with one off costs for the following 
items, on a case by case / needs basis, guided by an assessment of need and risk. This may 
include, for example: 

• Fixing paths where there is an identified risk 

• Installing CCTV (to deal with anti-social behaviour)

• Works or services around improving car parking 

• Fixing fencing (this is generally the tenant’s responsibility)

• Fixing some garages or demolishing them

3.4 Recommendation on budgeting and rents

1 https://www.housemark.co.uk

 
The council will review the 30-year position at least annually and will develop and maintain a 5-year 
asset management programme to which that position is aligned. The 5-year programme will be  
re-evaluated every year to add a new 5th year to the programme. The council will inform, engage, 
and consult tenants and leaseholders about these programmes.

To meet the expenditure commitments described above the council will need to implement 
rent increases in line with government policy on inflation (the consumer price index plus 1%). 
If a lower figure is chosen, then balancing reductions in service costs will need to be made. 

Page 80

https://www.housemark.co.uk


11     

3.5 Risks
Identifying risks for a 30-year plan could be an extensive and speculative task. Risk management 
should be kept under constant review using the Council’s corporate risk management approach. 

The risks that have been identified in the development of the HRA Business Plan are set out in the 
following tables, along with appropriate mitigation. 

Risk No Risk Description Likelihood Impact Risk
1 Lack of continuity of leadership 1 4 Low

2 Rents not raised in line with inflation 1 4 Low
3 A level of inflation has been provided for in the business 

plan. However, market uncertainties might mean that this 
is insufficient 

4 2 Medium

4 Poor Quality Business Plan 2 2 Low
5 Compliance works are not carried out 1 4 Low
6 Not having the capacity and expertise in place to produce 

businesses cases 
4 3 Medium 

7 Capital spending is not delivered 2 4 Medium
8 Right to buy receipts not used 2 4 Medium
9 New homes lost under RTB 2 4 Medium
10 The Asset management plan is not developed in time for 

the 2023/24 budget due to other priorities and a lack of 
resources.

3 3 Medium

 11 The prioritisation of spend as part of the Asset Manage-
ment Plan results in a borrowing need in the early years 
which impacts on revenue resources.

3 2 Medium

12 Regulatory changes lead to increased costs (for example, 
changes to the Decent Homes Standard)

4 3 Medium

13 Preparedness for regulatory change and ability to provide 
assurance

3 3 Medium

Risk No How these risks will be mitigated 
1 Documentation of all key decisions. Robust approach to managing vacancies. Added to 

council’s risk register with clear mitigation in place. 
2 Monitor government policy in this area. Key principle within Business Plan to maximise 

income (rental income) to maintain sustainability of the HRA. 
3 Need for savings to balance budget. Dynamic risk management approach needed. An-

nual review of business plan. 
4 External feedback being sought from sector expert. Audit programme to include audit 

of HRA Business Plan.
5 Regular monitoring of KPIs (key performance indicators). Sufficient expertise in place. 

Organisational focus on landlord health and safety. Prioritisation of compliance within 
business plan. Budget shows that compliance works can be met within the available 
budget. 

6 Capacity brought in for significant projects. Use of council’s project documentation and 
governance arrangements. Cross organisational expertise to review business cases to 
evaluate viability and deliverability. Keep capacity to deliver under review. 

7 Support to Asset Manager from across the council. Ensure team has the right resources 
to deliver. Appropriate procurement and contract management arrangements. 

Page 81



12     

Risk No How these risks will be mitigated 
8 Support for borrowing needed. Housing development plan in place. Business cases 

and evaluations needed. 
9 Monitor changes to this area of policy closely.
10 Priority to be given to the development of the Asset Management Plan to inform the 

capital strategy and capital programme.
11 The interaction between the Asset Management Plan and the Business Plan needs 

to include the profile of expenditure and any borrowing which might be required in the 
early years of this plan.

12 When it becomes clear what the expectations are for the new Decent Homes Standard 
and what additional costs there will be from the Charter for Social Housing Residents, 
budgets will need to be recalculated.  Feed into future Government consultations and 
carry out impact assessment for the Business Plan and Asset Management Plan / ad-
just accordingly. Ensure clear and visible implementation plans. Highlight any risks to 
members.

13 Carry out self-assessment in line with charter for social housing residents and regu-
latory changes/ consumer standards and develop associated action / implementation 
plan. Appoint to an assurance officer post to lead on and oversee this work. Develop a 
programme of assurance reporting to cabinet and scrutiny committee.

4 Regulatory Change - The Charter for Social Housing 
Residents

4.1 Implications of the Charter for Social Housing Residents White Paper
The HRA Business Plan has been developed at a time of significant regulatory change in the housing 
sector.
The government signalled major changes for social housing in January 2021 when it published its 
White Paper, The Charter for Social Housing Residents. The government have planned an updated 
set of standards not only for the homes of social housing residents but also for the services they 
receive and including a comprehensive schedule of proposed Tenant Satisfaction Measures that will 
have to be reported annually by every social housing provider. It is expected that the council will be 
subject to an external assessment, led by the Regulator of Social Housing, every four years.
The Council is actively preparing for regulatory change and will commence a period of self-
assessment and action planning to ensure readiness. The Council will also ensure that it responds 
proactively to any Government consultation on further proposed changes for the housing sector. 
The social housing regulations2 have been laid before parliament but it is not yet possible to calculate 
how much this might cost the council. The risk of additional costs has been included in the risk 
matrix. It is, however, clear that the council needs to put new arrangements in place to meet some 
of the new requirements. The new governance arrangements are outlined below with the intention 
that they will be in place in the autumn of 2022.

2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-housing-regulation-draft-clauses/so-
cial-housing-regulation-draft-clauses-explanatory-notes

Page 82

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-housing-regulation-draft-clauses/social-housing-regulation-draft-clauses-explanatory-notes


13     

4.1.1 Planned changes to the Decent Homes Standard 
The Government has committed to reviewing the Decent Homes Standard. Several areas are 
identified as things that may be updated / included: 

• ventilation

• home security

• thermostatic mixer valves

• window restrictors

• electrical safety

• refuse management

• water efficiency

This will have an impact on the budgets required to meet the standard. It is not yet possible to evaluate 
the costs without more detail from government, but the risk of increased costs has been included 
in the risk matrix. At the time of drafting the Business Plan, the Government has not commenced a 
consultation on changes to Decent Homes Standard and the timeline for implementing changes is 
not known. 

4.1.2 Nominated person responsible for compliance with health and safety
The regulations laid on 29th March 2022 require that the council will nominate a senior officer to 
be the person responsible for compliance with health and safety. That person must be “sufficiently 
senior to drive a culture of safety throughout the landlord organisation” and will be the public face of 
compliance for the council and, of course, tenants.

4.1.3 Recommendation for person nominated for Health & Safety  

4.1.4 Responsible person for consumer standards
The regulations also require the council to have a responsible person who will ensure that the 
housing service is complying with the consumer standards which will be set by the Social Housing 
Regulator. Alongside health and safety measures there will be a set of performance indicators which 
measure the standards. This will also be a public facing post ensuring that tenants are aware of the 
standards and clear about whether the council is achieving them.

4.1.5 Recommendation for person responsible for consumer standards
 

The council will designate the Assistant Director Housing Management as the council’s nominated 
person with responsibility for ensuring that the consumer standards as set out by the Social 
Housing Regulator are met.

4.1.6 Reporting accountability 
In order to ensure that the council is maintaining its focus on health and safety and consumer 
standards the relevant sets of performance indicators required by the Social Housing Regulator 

 
The Council will designate the Director for Housing and Communities as the Council’s nominated 
person responsible for compliance with landlord health and safety on behalf of the council.

  

Page 83



14     

will be reported to the Portfolio Holder on a quarterly basis, to Cabinet on a six-monthly basis and 
annually (as an annual report) to the Council’s Scrutiny Committee and Full Council.

Performance information will be made available to tenants and leaseholders, including in the form 
of an annual report. A performance dashboard will also be developed

5 Melton 
Melton is a borough council sitting within Leicestershire in the East Midlands. The map below shows 
some of the key statistics about Melton. More detailed and up to date statistics regarding the borough 
of Melton are set out in the State of Melton report which will be refreshed on an annual basis to 
capture the key data and statistics which inform the Council’s decision-making.

Some key highlights relevant to the HRA Business Plan are that the borough has an older and aging 
population, has longer life expectancy and is less ethnically diverse than for England as a whole. 
The borough itself is the 5th smallest, by population, in the country. While deprivation in the borough 
is low there are problems with accessing housing which are discussed in more detail in section 8 of 
this plan, Housing needs.

Page 84

https://www.melton.gov.uk/strategies/digital-customer-service-and-communications/state-of-melton/


15     

6 Corporate Priorities 
6.1 Corporate Strategy 2020 to 2024
The Council’s Corporate Strategy 2020-24 sets out the Council’s Mission, Vision and Values:

  

It presents a clear focus for the Council from 2020 to 2024 and is separated into six priority areas:

1. Excellent services positively impacting on our communities

2. Providing high quality Council homes and landlord services

3. Delivering sustainable and inclusive growth in Melton

4. Protect our climate and enhance our natural environment 

5. Ensuring the right conditions to support delivery (inward)

6. Connected and led by our community (outward)

The HRA Business Plan contributes to all these priorities, most clearly to priorities 1 and 2 but also to 
growth if the Council chooses to invest in more Council housing, and for climate change by making 
homes more energy efficient (3). It is important to have the right housing service in place to deliver 
on all those priorities (5) and for the service to be one that tenants, and leaseholders have a voice 
in shaping (6).

7 Council Housing Key Facts and Figures 

The data below describes the Council’s housing. It is largely built using traditional building methods 
and most of the Council’s housing stock (70%) was built before 1974. There are no high-rise 
buildings; the tallest Council blocks of flats do not go over 4 storeys. In addition to its housing stock, 
the Council’s Housing Revenue Account (HRA) also holds garages, play areas, open spaces, and 
verges as well as roads and paths which are maintained by the HRA (called unadopted as they are 
not included with the other roads and paths which are maintained in the Council’s General Fund). 
The Housing Revenue Account also holds a shop3. Some flats have been purchased under the Right 
to Buy scheme and the Council has 29 leaseholders who lease their properties from the Council.

3  Information from Cabinet Report 22.1.20 Interim HRA Business Plan

Page 85

https://www.melton.gov.uk/media/gq0lpilx/melton-borough-council-corporate-strategy-2020-to-2024.pdf


16     

  

Figures from September 2021 MBC data

The data shows that the Council has retained a high proportion (60%) of its housing as single 
dwellings (both houses and bungalows) with the remaining 40% being flatted accommodation.

  

Figures from September 2021 MBC data

The homes split by bedroom size give roughly equal amounts of three-bedroom, two bedroom and 
one-bedroom homes. There are a very small number of four-bedroom homes there are only 37 four-
bedroom Council homes. 

7.1 Supported Housing
The Council has around 400 properties which are intended to be used by people who need supported 
housing including sheltered housing and one Extra Care scheme. The Extra Care Scheme at Gretton 
Court (44 flats) offers an externally commissioned care service and provides lunch for residents. 

The Council has had a high level of void units within the Gretton Court scheme and properties are 
considered less desirable due to having shared bathroom facilities. The Council has looked at how 
to adapt the building to create individual shower rooms in the past but needs to resolve the future 
for the scheme. 

The Council has three sheltered housing schemes Wilton Court and Granby House (in Melton 
Mowbray) and Bradgate Flats (in Asfordby). St Johns Court in Melton Mowbray comprises flats 
designated for older people who have access to some support.

Page 86



17     

7.1.1 Recommendation for Gretton Court 
 

Work will commence to determine the future of Gretton Court. This would be best addressed 
by a project looking at present and future needs for the accommodation. In line with other 
recommendations in this Plan, the Council should use its business case process to guide that 
project.

7.2 Homes sold under the Right to Buy
Right to Buy is a government scheme that allows secure council home tenants, as well as some 
housing association tenants, to buy their council property at a discount. The chart below shows how 
many homes have been sold under the right to buy scheme in Melton.

  

Figures from DLUCH accessed 31.12 21 Live Table 691

137 council homes have been sold under the Right to Buy since 2006. The numbers sold have been 
influenced by central government policy where discounts on purchasing homes have either been 
reduced or increased either discouraging or encouraging sales. 

The Council is required to invest the receipts it receives from Right to Buy sales. However, the 
money received can only constitute 40% of the spend on the new homes with the remaining 60% 
to be found from other sources. The balance of funding to produce a new home either must come 
from the Housing Revenue Account resources directly or via borrowing. If the money from sales is 
not invested within government timescales money will need to be returned to the government with 
high interest payments.

The council will, under current rules applying to the Right to Buy be able to recover its investment 
in new homes even if they are also sold. This is because there is a cost floor which applies to 
new build and newly purchased homes for 15 years which means they cannot be purchased at a 
discount for the first 15 years after they are acquired or built. The government also has a limit to the 
maximum discount which is currently £84,6004. The council’s policy is to charge affordable rents on 
new homes (i.e. 80% of market rents). These three factors mean that the full costs of building and 
borrowing would be covered by any sales even if homes are purchased under the Right to Buy. This 
is an area of housing policy which has been changed by successive national governments therefore 
it needs to be kept under regular review.

4  Your Right to Buy Your Home MHCLG April 2021

Page 87

https://www.gov.uk/right-to-buy-buying-your-council-home


7.2.1 Recommendation on retaining right to buy receipts
 

The Council will continue its existing policy to retain Right to Buy receipts in the Housing Revenue 
Account.

7.3 Information about council housing tenants in Melton

7.3.1 Age of tenants
This section looks at the age profile of council tenants in Melton BC and compares it to the profile 
for all residents of the borough. In comparison with the borough the age profile of council tenants is 
quite similar. There is, however, a higher proportion aged 65-85 amongst council tenants compared 
to the borough. It is likely that services which support older people to live independently into the 
future will continue to be needed.

  

MBC data from Northgate accessed 22/2/22. Note: some data missing 

 
Data from the 2011 UK Census for Melton

7.3.2 Gender of tenants
There is limited information on gender held within the council’s computer systems. There were only 
437 of 1710 tenants showing information on gender. The data shows that tenants are predominantly 
female (59% compared to 41% male).

18     
Page 88



19     

  

Data from MBC Northgate system 2.2.22 information is for the main tenant

7.3.3 Ethnicity
There is a notable gap in the data held by the council on the ethnicity of council tenants. 

The information held on the Council’s database shows that there is no information on the ethnicity 
of 82% of council tenants. Other authorities have sought to update this information and the Council 
should consider how to complete this task. The absence of this information makes it difficult to 
understand whether the council is at risk of discriminating against particular ethnic groups. It is, 
however, worth noting that the borough is predominantly White British (95%)5 so there is less likely 
to be a missed ethnic group than elsewhere in the country. It may be that when the information is 
released from the 2021 census that this will help to identify how urgently this gap in knowledge 
needs to be addressed.

7.3.4 Number of leaseholders 
The Council has 29 leaseholders. Given that they are very small in number the Council can respond 
to their needs and carry out consultation with those households as and when works to the buildings 
they lease are planned.

8 Areas for Investment
8.1.1 Housing needs
The Council’s Housing Strategy has identified the need for 70 new affordable homes to be built each 
year6 but with an expectation that only two thirds of that figure is deliverable. The same document 
illustrates the difficulty of accessing private rented housing for local people. A two-bedroom home 
costs £595 per calendar month and sits £31.50 a month above the amount that can be met via 
Housing Benefit7. 

The Council can spend money on providing new council housing which could be accessed by 
eligible household, in line with the Council’s housing allocations policy. The Council has some money 
received from council house sales which it needs to spend on new affordable housing. Alongside 
this Plan the Council has developed an Affordable Housing Development Plan to guide the building 
of new council housing. It is, however, possible that more homes could be built using council rents 
to pay for any additional borrowing. 

In order to spend the receipts it has received from the sale of council homes, the Council has to find 
60% of the costs from other sources (as set out by Government). This money could be provided by 
borrowing within the Housing Revenue Account. It is important that such borrowing is backed up 

5  State of The Borough 2021 p3
6  MBC Housing Strategy 2021 to 2026 p9
7  MBC Housing Strategy 2021 to 2026 p8

Page 89

http://www.melton.gov.uk/stateofborough21
https://www.melton.gov.uk/housingstrategy2126
https://www.melton.gov.uk/housingstrategy2126


20     

by a business case which demonstrates how the cost of borrowing will be met and how this avoids 
paying back receipts to central government. 

The building of new council housing is the only element of spending which brings in additional 
income via new rental income and in that way helps maintain existing homes as well as building 
new ones.

8.1.2 Recommendation for new council housing
 

Building new council housing will remain a priority for investment. However, given the need to 
improve existing homes the Council will investigate additional borrowing to fund council housing 
alongside using other funding routes (investment from Homes England and planning payments 
via s106). The ability to borrowing will depend on an assessment of the affordability using a range 
of appropriate indicators. Interest payments will need to be budgeted for and taken into account 
in assessing affordability but provision for the repayment of the debt will not be made as this is 
not a requirement within the HRA.  A target will be set in the Council’s Affordable Development 
Plan for the building of new council homes.

 

8.1.3 Council housing condition
In 2021 the Council commissioned Michael Dyson Associates Ltd to survey all council housing in 
the Borough. The results of the survey show that the Council’s housing is in reasonable condition. 
The charts below lay out the works that need to take place both internally and externally over the 
next 5 years.

  

Source Michael Dyson Associates Ltd Stock Condition Survey

In these categories “compliance” refers to works that a landlord must carry out to meet legal 
obligations to keep homes safe for tenants. This includes, for example, ensuring that fire safety risk 
assessments have been carried out and that the works identified are completed within a reasonable 
time frame. There is more detail on this area in Keeping tenants safe section of this document. 

Page 90



21     

  

Michael Dyson Associates Ltd Stock Condition Survey Data 2022

The requirement for internal works relfect a need to invest in heating systems, particularly in year 5 
of any asset management programme devised. The proposed investment in kitchens and bathrooms 
is based on a shorter replacement period than the Council has worked to previously. The Council 
has previously planned to replace kitchens every 20 years and bathrooms every 30 years, but only 
where replacement is required

In terms of external works, whilst the stock condition survey shows that work is required to deal with 
the boundaries around homes (this includes fencing, gates and footpaths), this does not form part 
of the Government’s Decent Homes Standard and remains a matter of choice and affordiblity for the 
Council. Due to affordability, this has not previously been a priority for the Council in its investment 
planning. The financial resilience of the Housing Revenue Account means that fences, gates and 
paths are not currently affordable within this business plan. Instead, a contingency has been set 
aside for these works as required, on a case by case basis, and guided by an assement of need 
and risk.

8.1.4 Keeping tenants safe
The Council must ensure that tenants are safe in their homes and that means meeting all its legal 
responsibilities as a landlord. The list below describes the key areas that the Council must address:

8.1.5 Fire Safety
The Council needs to carry out Fire Safety Risk Assessments on all of its properties. Those 
assessments identify any works that need to be carried out. The works are then scheduled for 
completion in a reasonable time scale. The Council works closely with Leicestershire Fire and 
Rescue Authority to improve fire safety in the Borough.

Page 91



22     

8.1.6 Legionella
Legionella is a bacterium which can breed in water systems and can be dangerous if inhaled as a 
water droplet. It can cause Legionella disease which is particularly dangerous for older people. 

The Council protects tenants from Legionella by completing a legionella risk assessment that is 
reviewed every 5 years, or sooner if changes have been made to the system on site. This is then followed 
up externally by a competent contractor with monthly temperature routine, quarterly shower/spray 
head routine, quarterly calorifier and expansion vessel routine, and biannual tank inspection routine. 
Council staff that have had a suitable level of training complete weekly flushing on areas that have 
limited or no use.

Any works identified are scheduled for completion in a suitable timescale by competent contractor.

8.1.7 Asbestos
Asbestos is a highly heat-resistant material which has been used to protect homes from fire. It 
can be dangerous if disturbed and if inhaled. The Council operates an asbestos register of all the 
asbestos in its homes. Tenants moving into a new home will be made aware of where any asbestos 
is. The information on asbestos in council owned properties is shared with any operatives who need 
to work on council properties. The Council must ensure complete management surveys are carried 
out for all properties, and a further detailed survey is completed when larger scale and/or more 
intrusive works are required. Relevant council staff have received extensive training in asbestos 
management. 

8.1.8 Radon
Radon is a radioactive gas produced from the soil, in some areas this is naturally produced. It can be 
removed via proper ventilation between a home and the soil beneath it. In Melton tests are put into 
properties in known Radon areas according to Public Health England’s8 advice. After 3 months the 
tests are sent to a lab who produce data with all the readings from the tests. For those with levels 
requiring mitigation, a mitigation survey is arranged and then the recommendations are completed 
by a competent contractor.

8.1.9 Electricity
The Council has a duty to maintain electrical safety in its homes. This is ensured via electrical 
checks and the rewiring of all council homes takes place every 30 years. 

The standard for electrical sockets is that there should be at least 2 sockets in each main room with 
each socket being a double socket. This reduces the need for electrical extensions which can be 
trip and fire hazards. 

8.1.10 Gas
The Council has a responsibility to ensure that gas boilers in tenants’ homes have an annual check. 
The Council monitors this closely and is currently achieving 100% of all boilers have had their 
annual check (2021-22). This has not dropped below 99% in the current year. The Council commits 
to achieving the same levels in in future years. 

8.1.11 Carbon Monoxide Monitoring
The Council is putting carbon monoxide detectors in any room that has an appliance which is fuelled 

8  UK Health Security Agency from April 2021

Page 92



23     

by gas, solid fuel or oil. There are new regulations planned by central Government which will require 
this to be done by social landlords. Melton Borough Council is already working to a higher standard 
than those regulations will set. In particular the Council will be including carbon monoxide detectors 
in kitchens which have gas cookers.9 

8.1.12 Recommendation on compliance
 

All compliance measures will be undertaken within appropriate timescales to ensure that the 
Council’s housing meets the relevant health and safety standards, meets the requirements of 
the Homes Standard, and keeps tenants safe. There are a set of performance indicators which 
monitor how effectively the Council is meeting its compliance requirements. A dashboard to 
demonstrate compliance performance will be produced.

8.1.13 Regeneration
The residents’ satisfaction survey completed in November 2021 asked tenants about where they 
lived and their satisfaction or dissatisfaction with their neighbourhood. The report identifies the 
Fairmead area as having the lowest level of satisfaction across three key areas:

Question Highest Satisfaction Lowest Satisfaction
Satisfaction with the neighbour-
hood as a place to live?

Village 92% Fairmead 51%

Satisfaction with the overall 
appearance of your neighbour-
hood?

South Melton 83%  Fairmead 54%

Satisfaction with the upkeep of 
communal areas?

South Melton 74% Fairmead 66%

10

The Council has already identified Fairmead as a priority neighbourhood 
and this focus is reinforced by the information from the tenant satisfaction 
survey. The Fairmead Estate has a Radburn11 layout which means that some 
properties have narrow alleyways to access their properties. There are also 
several pathways around the estate that can feel unsafe.

Pathway, Fairmead Estate 
 

8.1.14 Recommendation for regeneration
 

The Council’s focus on Fairmead as a priority neighbourhood should continue. Work with the 
community on the estate should include engagement to support community cohesion and 
developing options to reconfigure parts of the estate as well as developing sites for new build 
housing. A local housing allocations policy should also be explored to support a balanced and 
cohesive community. Where there is a need to deal with anti-social behaviour the Council will 
use its enforcement powers appropriately and will work collaboratively across teams and with 
other partners.

 

9 Domestic smoke and carbon monoxide alarms: proposals to extend regulations
10 Data from Acuity Resident Survey November 2021 p12
11 A Radburn layout looks to have pathways away from cars and to turn houses/flats away from streets

Page 93

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/domestic-smoke-and-carbon-monoxide-alarms/domestic-smoke-and-carbon-monoxide-alarms-proposals-to-extend-regulations


24     

8.1.15 Meeting the needs of all tenants
The Council seeks to meet the needs of tenants by providing help depending on individuals’ needs. 
Support available includes:

• Disabled adaptations (e.g. handrails, ramps and stair lifts) to tenants’ homes

• Sheltered housing designed to support independent living for older people

• Gretton Court an extra care scheme for older people who need more support

• Emergency alarms 

• Case management – a short term service provided to help people manage their lives

• Intensive Housing Management Service – provides support for people living in sheltered 
housing, Gretton Court and in “designated properties12” around the borough.

A review of the Council’s support services will take place to ensure the Council can best meet the 
needs of residents. 

8.1.16 Lifeline and Assistive technology 
Lifeline is the Council’s emergency alarm service it is supplied in 280 council homes across the 
borough. The service is paid for by a service charge both for the installation and response to the alarm. 
The alarms need to be replaced as they rely on older technology which will become obsolete as part 
of a national transition to digital technology. A budget has been set aside to renew the alarms so that 
they can be replaced with up-to-date technology. The council will also look to the wider opportunities 
to use assistive technology to enable tenants with disabilities or long-term illnesses to maintain their 
independence. A business case looking at costs and income for other assistive technology will need 
to be developed so that the impact on the overall Business Plan can be measured.

8.1.17 Recommendations for supported housing
 

To progress a review of support available to tenants, including options regarding support and 
assistive technology to increase independence in the future.  

8.2	 Climate	change	and	Energy	Efficiency
The Council declared a climate emergency in July 2019 and resolved to: 

Declare a “Climate Emergency”, with an aim to make Melton Borough Council activities as 
far as practical carbon neutral by 2030 and further promote a cutting of emissions within the 
wider Borough of Melton.”

The work done as part of this plan has examined how much it would cost to make all the Council’s 
homes zero carbon compliant. Whilst this could be in principle achieved by converting all council 
housing to electrical heating, the costs of heating a home could rise for tenants.

It would therefore require an insulation programme alongside photo voltaic installation to bring down 
the energy costs. In similar types of housing elsewhere this has cost £25,000 per property i.e. £45 
million to convert all the existing Council housing stock. This would be without any tenants receiving 
any other home improvements (e.g. kitchens and bathrooms) and is not a viable solution.  

12  “Designated properties” means properties that are intended for people who are 55 or over or those 
who are younger with a disability

Page 94



25     

In terms of energy efficiency, Councils measure this using a Standard Assessment Procedure (called 
a SAP rating). Existing Council homes have an average SAP rating of 67.92 which is below the 
average for Council housing stock (of 73.2) across the country13. The Council homes with the best 
SAP rating are the 3-bedroom homes in the Gretton Court Extra Care Supported housing scheme 
(73.7) and the lowest are 2-bedroom bungalows (65.3). 

Costs to residents will need to be taken into consideration for any decarbonisation option, particularly 
within the context of the Cost-of-Living crisis. Further work in relation to options for heating and 
decarbonisation will be required and will be considered as part of the Asset Management Plan.  

Whilst positive steps can be taken, decarbonising the Council’s housing stock will not be possible 
without external funding. This is the case for many social landlords. The Council will need to be 
ready to apply for external funding as it becomes available, which may require a match funding 
contribution to be made. 

8.2.1	Recommendations	on	climate	change	and	energy	efficiency
The Council will:The Council will:

• • Focus on improving energy efficiency in its existing homes but will set a zero-carbon standard Focus on improving energy efficiency in its existing homes but will set a zero-carbon standard 
for its new build homes. for its new build homes. 

• • Carry out further work to assess how best to adapt Council homes to be closer to zero carbonCarry out further work to assess how best to adapt Council homes to be closer to zero carbon

• • Consider and discuss with tenants, the implications and opportunities of decarbonisation Consider and discuss with tenants, the implications and opportunities of decarbonisation 
options options 

• • Set a SAP rating as a performance measure against which the Council will assess its progress Set a SAP rating as a performance measure against which the Council will assess its progress 
in improving energy efficiency every year. in improving energy efficiency every year. 

• • Provide advice on energy efficiency will be shared proactively with tenantsProvide advice on energy efficiency will be shared proactively with tenants

• • Work to attract national funding to improve the energy efficiency of the stockWork to attract national funding to improve the energy efficiency of the stock
 

A SAP rating is a way of comparing energy perfomance of different homes. Build Regulations 
require a SAP calculation and predicted EPC is before any work is started.

A SAP calculation results in a figure between 1 to 100+ for the annual energy cost. This is based 
on the following factors:

• The elements of structure

• The heating and hot water system

• The internal lighting

• The renewable technologies used in the home.

The higher the score the lower the running costs, with 100 representing zero energy cost. 
Dwellings with a rating in excess of 100 are net exporters of energy. 

8.2.2 Service improvement 
The Housing Revenue Account pays for both capital works and revenue services. It is therefore 
important to think about what level of service tenants expect and what the balance is between the 
physical improvement of tenants’ homes and the services they receive. 

13  As reported in the Stock Condition Survey report from Michael Dyson p20. This is not yet the whole 
stock but 1461 properties.

Page 95



26     

There is a requirement to carry out day to day repairs, report anti-social behaviour and to ensure that 
rents are collected. An enhanced service could help tenants who are struggling to pay their rents 
or could ensure that the areas around council homes and flats are well maintained and/or taking a 
more proactive approach to anti-social behaviour. 

Resident views and feedback are essential in delivering and improving services. The Council will 
build on its Tenant and Leaseholder Engagement Framework and will embed engagement into 
delivery of the HRA Business Plan through delivery of the associated Asset Management Plan. 

8.2.3 Recommendation for service improvement
 

The Council will engage with tenants to understand what areas of service delivery could be 
improved. If there is a need for additional investment there will need to be savings elsewhere.

9 Choices 

This Plan sets out choices for investment both for capital and revenue spend over the next 30 years. 
The Asset Management Plan will set this out in more detail for the next 5 years (with an update of 
the 5th year annually). 

This section sets out the things that are required (obligation – health and safety, decent homes) and 
those that are a matter of choice and affordability:

Item Detail Capital or reve-
nue cost?

Choice or Obligation?

External painting Capital Choice
Boundaries Both Choice
Building new Council 
homes

Capital Choice

Dealing with Climate 
change

(Future proof of the business) Choice

Garages Choice
Bathrooms To be replaced every 30 

years (but only if required)
Capital Has to have a bathroom 

but replacement fre-
quency is a choice

Kitchens To be replaced every 20 
years

(but only if required)

Capital Has to have a kitchen 
but replacement fre-
quency is a choice

Drains Capital Obligation
Heating Both Obligation
Provision of Double 
Electrical Sockets

Increasing speed with which 
double sockets are available 
in all main rooms in a home.

Both Electrical safety an 
obligation but pace of 
ensuring double sock-
ets available in rooms 
- choice 

Roofs Capital Obligation

Page 96



27     

Item Detail Capital or reve-
nue cost?

Choice or Obligation?

Windows While windows that weath-
er tight are an obligation the 
Council has been converting 
all metal windows to UPVC. 
This is a choice and is an ad-
ditional cost.

Obligation to provide 
windows but choice to 
convert metal to UPVC

Doors (In the survey) Obligation to replace 
doors if damaged

Service standards 
/ service improve-
ments 

Basic or

Enhanced

Obligation for a basic 
service but a choice for 
an enhanced service

Internet Access Connection

Cost of service

Cost of equipment

Choice but would need 
to come from a revenue 
budget. 

In terms of Internet Access this will not be capital choice and has therefore not been included in the 
survey carried out. There are schemes which assist people on low incomes to access the internet. 
The Council will look to publicise these to tenants.

9.1.1 Priorities for investment
In the survey sent to 436 tenants there were 119 responses – 27% of those who were contacted.

The top three priorities given to the 9 choices were:

1. Building more council homes

2. Energy efficiency 

3. Replacing metal windows with upvc

Followed by:

• New bathrooms every 30 years (as required)

• A planned programme for paths New kitchens every 20 years (as required)

• A planned programme for fences

• A planned programme for external painting

• A planned programme for garages

Page 97



28     

9.1.2 Table showing results of survey on investment choices
The table below shows the top priorities chosen by the respondents to the survey.

Priority Kitchens Bathrooms Windows Energy Garages Fences Paths Painting New 
Homes

1 32 32 45 48 5 14 30 16 52
2 12 7 8 19 7 16 15 10 8
3 13 12 14 7 5 8 10 14 7
4 13 10 12 3 6 9 9 10 6
5 14 13 7 13 7 9 11 11 8
6 7 7 6 5 7 9 4 9 8
7 3 5 4 4 11 16 14 7 4
8 7 8 5 2 9 19 8 16 3
9 10 8 10 11 45 9 9 14 9

The survey also provided respondents with an opportunity to provide other comments if they felt a 
priority had been missed. There were 78 comments. The analysis showed that:

- The most frequently raised issue was around energy issues, particularly looking for solar 
panels and methods for reducing energy costs

- The next highest was a group of issues covering rubbish collection and bin provision as well 
as work needed on gardens. 

- Six respondents raised concerns about the repairs service 

- Five respondents raised issues relating to disabilities e.g., handrails and the condition of paths

- Nine respondents raised car parking as a priority. 

There was a further opportunity for respondents to add any further comments. 57 were received and 
included:

- Repairs issues (9 comments)

- Energy efficiency (6 comments)

- Parking (5 comments)

- Crime (3 comments)

- There were a wide variety of “other” issues including concern about street trees and the 
council’s allocations policy. 

The survey asked equalities monitoring questions. The data showed that the male/female split was 
very similar to the tenant database overall, 58% women to 42% men. The respondents were older 
than the tenant database 65% were aged between 65 and 85 years old (it is only 35% on the 
database of all tenants). Importantly there was a very high rate of disability with 70% of those 
who responded reporting that they had a disability. In terms of ethnicity the respondents reflected 
the population of Melton being 96% White British (the Borough’s population is 95% White British. 
The most common religion was Christian with 75% of respondents identifying themselves as being 
Christian. 

Page 98



29     

9.1.3 Recommendations on choices investment
There are clear recommendations elsewhere in this plan on investment for the top two priorities that 
emerged from the consultation:

- Building new council homes

- Energy efficiency

The recommendation below picks up on the other priorities raised within the tenant consultation:
 

- The Council will continue to replace metal windows with upvc windows. This will be built into 
the Asset Management Plan.

- For fences, paths and external painting; works will be carried out on a case by case 
basis with a focus on risk. It is recognised that the need to improve paths has been a 
high priority from this survey. Fences are included in the tenancy handbook as a tenant 
responsibility, but it is recognised that there will be occasions when the council may need 
to take a lead in repairing or replacing a fence (e.g., where there is a serious safety risk). 

 

9.1.4 Garages and other HRA non-housing assets
Garages have been identified by tenants who responded to the consultation on the choices available 
as a low priority for investment. Only a third of the council’s garages are occupied. They are often 
unsuitable for modern cars as they are not big enough. However, the Council is aware that there 
is a demand for garages in some areas and steps have been taken to make garages available to 
residents where possible. 

There are assets held within the Housing Revenue Account which are not housing properties for 
example there is a shop and community centres. The Asset Management Plan will need to make 
detailed recommendations on their future use, maintenance and investment.

9.1.5 Recommendation on garages and other HRA non-housing assets
 

For garage and HRA non housing assets the council will:

Identify garage sites which could be made available for future council house development. 
Leading to demolition when a project has been put together.

Remaining garages to either be repaired if they can be let (either for cars or for storage of 
appropriate items) or demolished if they are creating a nuisance.

Other assets which are held in the HRA but are not housing will be reviewed within the Asset 
Management Plan

 

9.1.6 Cost of building or purchasing council housing 
A business case will need to be produced for each purchase or new build project as part of the 
development of a framework through which to take investment and borrowing decisions. This will 
need to assess the impact of the capital spend and revenue implications of that decision, including 
the interest related to any borrowing need. The outcome of this assessment will then need to feed 
into the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan to assess what the overall impact is on the 
HRA of the project being assessed. 

The framework will comprise a suite of indicators that will be maintained showing the relativity of the 
HRA debt and borrowing costs in relation to the HRA’s overall financial position. These indicators are 
being developed as “industry standard” to enable comparison with other social housing providers 

Page 99



30     

(see para 10.2.9). The impact of the need to borrow for an individual project on the financial health 
of the HRA can then be assessed though the framework: the impact on these borrowing indicators 
and comparison with industry standards.  

9.1.7 Effect of the Right to Buy on New Build or Purchase
A new build or newly purchased home has a ‘cost floor’ which means there is no discount for a 
purchaser for the first 15 years for a new build or newly purchased home. There is also a limit to the 
total discount. This is currently £86,400 and it rises each year with inflation. This means that if the 
person living in the home wanted to purchase it after 15 years there would be enough money in the 
balance of the cost vs the discount to pay any outstanding borrowings.

10 Finances 
10.1.1 Forecast revenue projection
The following chart shows how revenue is in annual deficit in the first few years, drawing upon 
reserves, but then surpluses grow rapidly and significantly over the term of the plan. Over time, as 
rents grow, costs are controlled and capacity grows, there is plenty of scope for further investment 
– the Council will therefore be able to bring forward ideas and plans for future programmes on the 
basis that, providing the plan is managed well, there will be increasing future headroom in the plan

10.1.2 30-Year Budget and Illustrative Annual Budget
The basic model of income and expenditure is laid out below with an illustration of what that means 
on an annual basis.

30-Year HRA Budgets Income
Revenue Costs £312,700,000
Cost of meeting the Condition Survey (Cap-
ital Budget)

£92,000,000

Capitalisation of salaries £6,400,000
Total Cost £411,100,000
Income £369,000,000
Gap between income and expenditure £42,100,000
Gap can be covered by money set aside for 
depreciation (which is)

£51,500,000

Page 100



31     

30-Year HRA Budgets Income
Use of other reserves (current and anticipat-
ed RTB receipts)

£14,500,000

Therefore	 the	 remaining	 budget	 flexibility	
over 30 years is

£23,900,000

Average	budget	flexibility	each	year £796,670

To show these large 30-year figures in a more manageable way the figures have been built back to 
an illustrative average annual budget, which is set out below, however in reality, the budget will vary 
each year:

Costs
Revenue	costs,	staffing,	repairs	etc £10.42m
Capital budget £3.07m
Capitalisation of salaries £0.21m
Income
Income from rents and service charges £12.3m

The Asset Management Plan will develop the detailed capital budget and repairs budget in time for 
consultation with tenants for rent setting in the autumn of 2022. This will enable the council’s capital 
strategy and 5-year capital programme to be developed. The Asset Management Plan will cover a 
five-year period and will be updated annually to add a fifth year. 

10.1.3 Assumptions
In drawing up a 30-year Business Plan, several assumptions need to be made. It is important that 
they are recorded here so that when future iterations of the plan take place it is understood what 
those assumptions were and how they can be altered to reflect changes in circumstances.

The table below details the main financial assumptions that have been made in preparing the 
financial plan to support the business plan:

Description Short-term 2022-24 Medium-long term 2025 on-
wards

Property changes 
over the plan

1789 at 1.4.22 with 10 Right to Buy 
pa and 5 new affordable

10 RTB pa and 5 new affordable

Current borrowing 
interest Rates

3.72% Current rate 3.52% Change with maturities

New borrowing inter-
est rates

2.44% Bank of England (BoE) 50 
year rate at 4.10.21

2.44% BoE 50-year rate at 
4.10.21

Cost	Inflation 2.0% 2022-23 to 2.5% 2023-24 2.2% 2024-25 returning to BoE 
target of 2% thereafter

Income	Inflation 2% BoE Target 2% BoE Target
Rent	Inflation 3% being 1% above BoE Target 3% being 1% above BoE Target

Interest on balances 0.8% in 2021-22 0.8% in 2021-22

Page 101



32     

10.2 HRA Business Plan– Sensitivity Analysis
The financial modelling within the Business Plan shows that the Housing Revenue Account is 
sustainable over the 30-year period based on the assumptions regarding future costs. 
The financial assumptions show that over the 30-year period after allowing for spend on maintaining 
decent homes (as shown in the condition surveys received and compliance) there is a surplus 
amount of £23.9m available over the 30-year period, equating to an average of £796k per year for 
investment in other priorities (choices) such as new housing or energy efficiency measures, subject 
to a business case. 
However, any business plan is vulnerable to changes. A sensitivity analysis (stress test) of the 
Business Plan has been carried out, supported by external housing finance specialists. This shows 
how susceptible the estimates are to changes in assumptions. Any change in the actual assumptions 
made will impact on the residual amount available for investment in the “choices” as set out in the 
business plan. Through the annual review these assumptions can be updated, and an assessment 
made on the latest forecast of the amount available for investment elsewhere

The key areas that could impact on the projections set out in the business plan are rental increases 
arising primarily from the associated government policy relating to this and inflation affecting future 
expenditure levels. These are largely outside of the Council’s control and are risk areas that the 
Council will need to pay close attention to. Changes in these areas (for example, government policy 
leading to a period in which rents cannot be increased) would directly impact the monies available 
for investment. 
There are also financial sensitivities relating to voids and the loss of income and additional expenditure 
associated with this as well as potential bad debts. These two areas the Council can influence to an 
extent and are areas where focus will be given to improve the financial position of the HRA. 
Another key area of sensitivity is the cost of repairs and with the business plan having been prepared 
without the conclusion of the Asset Management Plan it is likely that these costs could reduce when 
taken into account alongside a history of underspending on the account. The Asset Management 
Plan is therefore a key document in budget setting and profiling of spend.
Benchmarking information shows that the Council’s rents are comparatively low. An external review 
(Savills) review noted that the indicative costs of capital works inclusive of fees and preliminaries 
were ‘on the high side of benchmarks’ but noted that the stock condition survey is not a programme, 
highlighting the importance of the work that will be done through the Asset Management Plan to set 
a programme, including the potential to achieve value for money in procurement and delivery.
It is important to review revenue and operating costs including through the development of the 
Asset Management Plan to maximise the resources available to the HRA. (i.e. in a period of 
business as usual as opposed to in a period of housing improvement plan delivery). To support with 
benchmarking and value for money assessment on an ongoing basis, the Council will also take steps 
to join Housemark, a data insight organisation for social housing organisations.

Page 102



33     

Financial implications arising from the sensitivity analysis are shown below: 

REVENUE 30 Year Total
Pessimistic Business Plan Optimistic

Note £’000 £’000 £’000
INCOME:

     Dwelling Rental Income 1 -287,304 -336,518 -336,518
     Other Income -32,305 -32,305 -32,305
Total Income -319,609 -368,823 -368,823
EXPENDITURE:    
     General Management    
          Employees 4 21,017 17,922 15,368
          Other 4 45,405 38,719 33,200
     Special Services    
          Employees 4 13,494 11,507 9,867
          Other 4 30,731 26,205 22,470
     Repairs & Maintenance    
          Overall 8 0 0 -12,719
          Employees 4 35,343 30,138 25,843
          Premises 4 106,953 75,498 64,737
          Other 4,5 31,178 29,198 27,457
     Increase in Impairment of Debtors 3 18,441 4,057 4,057
     Depreciation & Impairment 49,671 49,671 49,671
    Capital Financing Costs 1,877 1,877 1,877
Total Expenditure 354,110 284,792 241,828
     Voids change 2 6,291 0 -6,292
    Revenue Impact of +/-5 RTB 7 4,830 0 -4,831
    Revenue Impact of +/-5 New Build 7 10,880 0 -10,869
Net Cost of Services (NCS) 56,502 -84,031 -148,987
     Interest Paid 6 35,363 31,118 28,996
     Interest Receivable 6 -866 -2,310 -8,085
     Contribution to/from(-) Reserves -90,599 55,623 128,477
     Revenue Provision to MRR & MRP -400 -400 -401
NCS After Transfers to Reserves 0 0 0
           CAPITAL    
Capital Expenditure 121,604 98,544 85,556
FUNDING AVAILABLE    
     Major Repairs Reserve 0 52,220 52,220
     Right to Buy Receipts 0 10,185 10,185
     Regeneration & Development Reserve -23,780 60,037 132,891
HEADROOM 145,384 -23,898 -109,740

The above table shows how the headroom of £23.9m (over the 30-year business plan) could be 
affected if certain conditions arise.  

Page 103



34     

The chart below highlights the impact on the revenue projection of the “downside” stress tests 
commented on below.

The stress tests analysed are discussed further below:

10.2.1 Government removes the additional 1% above CPI that rents can be 
increased by  

The rent standard of CPI+1 is certain until 2024-25, after which time the Government may take a 
different view.  This condition is outside the Council’s control which increases the vulnerability of the 
Business Plan to it, it is also the most likely adverse condition to occur.  This alone has reduced the 
headroom in the plan by £49m moving it to a deficit position.  If the Government should decide to 
reduce the rents after 2024-25 to -1% for 5 years, followed by the remaining time at CPI only, then 
this would reduce the headroom by a further £33.5m.

10.2.2 Voids change to the Business Plan by +/-2%.
This is a condition well within the Council’s control.  The Business Plan allows for 4% voids, which is 
high, so a concentrated effort to reduce voids to 2% as a strategy decision would be beneficial, and 
the £6.2m gained used to invest in the stock.

10.2.3 Arrears are measured against income with a factor of 5%.

The Business Plan has a flat level of £100,000 for the increase in impairment of debtors which is 
increased by inflation each year, without any clear method of calculation, which amounts to 1.1%.  
To set this amount relative to the income with a sensitivity of 5% shows that this is a clear risk to the 
Business Plan without proactive management of the arrears.  If this were to transpire than this would 
decrease the available headroom by £14.4m.

Page 104



35     

10.2.4	Inflation	on	costs	
The inflation on costs have been assessed as +/-1% for employees and other costs plus +/-8% on 
repairs capital and premises costs for 4 years followed by the +/-1% of other costs.

Inflation will always be the most obvious risk to the business plan, the expectation of a similar 
inflation increase for income and expenditure should be some mitigation in itself, however this is not 
always the case, especially in more specialised industries with their own inflationary measures, such 
as the building industry, and so the sensitivity here has been measured around cost increases only.  
The highly increased inflation on the repairs element for just 4 years in conjunction with an additional 
1% elsewhere would be a reduction in headroom of £71m resulting in a deficit position.

10.2.5 Change in the stock/regulatory repairs standard +10%.
Regulators are considering changes to standards to both Decent Homes and various consumer 
standards around landlord services, so an additional 10% on the stock condition amounts have 
been added which reduces headroom by an additional £6.9m.

10.2.6 Interest changes 
This has been assessed, on borrowing of +2%/-1% and on income of +2%/-.50%

These sensitivities are based around the current borrowing and its rescheduling only, with the 
changes in interest rates making relatively little difference to the overall plan.  This may become 
more significant as borrowing increases.  This rescheduling can be managed within the Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy.

10.2.7 Right to Buys +/-5 or New builds +/-5 which is maintained across the 
plan

The Business Plan currently expects that there will be 10 Right to buys and 5 new builds each 
year. While this analysis has not taken into account the change to the reserves from the right to 
buy receipts, or their subsequent use to build new housing, both the revenue income and repairs 
expenditure have been included and show the positive revenue position for retaining current 
properties and investing in new.

10.2.8 Repairs & Maintenance Costs reduce by 10%
The Business Plan has been prepared without the conclusion of the Asset Management Plan which 
will consider all areas of capital and revenue spend.  The underspend in 2021-22 further supports 
the possibility of reducing expenditure in this plan based on a more business as usual approach 
following completion of the Housing Improvement Plan.

Overall, there are a number of scenarios where the Business Plan is vulnerable, such as changes to 
Government policy and inflation, however, if managed proactively areas such as arrears and voids 
management strategies, could counter some of those risks to some degree. Maximising income 
including rental income, will be important to protect the Council’s Housing Revenue Account. 

In summary therefore, the business plan is particularly sensitive to changes in longer term government 
rent policy and short-term cost hikes that might then become fixed into the expenditure base. There 
are things that the Council can do to try to proactively manage and mitigate income loss through a 
focus on debt management and voids management. 

10.2.9 Developing a Borrowing and Investment Framework
(Standard Performance Indicators to Assess Borrowing)

Once the Asset Management Plan has been prepared and the Business Plan updated, the indicators 

Page 105



36     

for Melton can be accurately calculated and then an assessment made as to whether any additional 
borrowing to support new build/purchases, particularly in the early years of the plan, is affordable. 
These indicators can be refreshed and updated as the Business Plan is updated, and affordability 
of borrowing kept under review alongside any new build/house purchase business cases. Through 
utilising these indicators (usually called “metrics”) to assess affordability of borrowing the principle of 
only providing for the payment of interest on borrowing within the HRA and not setting aside funding 
to repay debt is considered sound. 

Interest Cover – this measures the extent to which net income from services is able to cover interest 
commitments each year.  An industry standard “golden rule” would be in the region of a minimum 
of between 1.00 and 1.25.  These are not “hard and fast” rules applied annually but provide a clear 
view on the longer-term viability of borrowing within the overall plan.

Margin – this measures the excess of income over expenditure in each year, with the national 
average standing at 22.2%.  The extent to which services are able to generate net income is a 
critical way of demonstrating how much headroom there may be to borrow against.

Loan to Value (LTV) – shows the relationship between the borrowing in the plan and the value of 
the housing properties. Whilst the council does not secure its borrowing against its assets (as in the 
private and RP sectors), this measure offers a good guide to how effective borrowing might be over 
the longer term in generating value in the plan.

10.2.10 What do the metrics look like and how does Melton compare?

Page 106



37     

An external review of the Council’s Business Plan has been carried out, which notes that taking the 
current position and the projections shown above as a whole, Melton’s business plan is currently 
characterised as follows:

• Operating surpluses are lower than the national average of 22%

• Whilst operating surpluses will take some years to grow to this level, it is not essential for 
investment that the average is achieved; risk will need to be managed carefully in order to 
ensure that future borrowing and investment remains viable 

• Interest cover is low currently implying the need to draw upon reserves in the early years of the 
plan; whilst interest cover averages nationally above 1.75, around ¾ of authorities have cover 
above the “golden rule” of 1.25 implying immediate capacity for investment

• At Melton therefore, an immediate programme of borrowing to increase development and 
acquisition programmes would rely on finding efficiencies within the plan (or further drawing 
on reserves in the short term – which is not considered feasible)

• Over time, as rents grow, costs are controlled and capacity grows, there is plenty of scope 
for further investment – the Council will therefore be able to bring forward ideas and plans 
for future programmes on the basis that, providing the plan is managed well, there will be 
increasing future headroom in the plan

• The debt capacity forecast also highlights the critical importance of generating surpluses 
within the Business Plan as will be seen there is not a huge difference between capacity at 
interest cover of 1.00 or 1.25 over time – the key factor is to increase how much the service 
is generating in net income.

The Asset Management Plan will refine the amount invested into the existing stock and the business 
plan updated accordingly.  This is a critical aspect of the business plan – whilst the stock condition 
survey profile is able to be financed, this leaves little headroom in the short term; if the costs of the 
survey can be engineered downwards through procurement and additional value, this would release 
some additional capacity for further development and acquisition. 

Rents and Service Charges

The Council’s current average rent is £80.24 per week14. Council rents are currently allowed by the 
government to rise by the Consumer Price Indicator plus 1% per annum. For 2022/3 this led to a 
rent rise of 4.1%. The Council charges separately for the intensive housing management service, for 
health and safety checks in communal areas, for grounds maintenance and for heating in communal 
areas. The charge for the intensive housing management service was not increased for 2022/3 
because of other cost of living pressures facing tenants. 

14  Melton BC data 28.3.22

Page 107



38     

Council rents, on average, sit well below the cost of private sector rents (£138.23 per week for a 
2-bedroom property15). They have also been subject to government reductions as shown in the 
graph below.

10.2.11 Reserves
The Council holds the following reserves in the Business Plan:

10.2.11.1 – HRA working balance
When calculating Budget requirements, relevant authorities are required (by The Local Government 
Finance Act 1992) to have regard to the level of reserves needed for meeting estimated future 
expenditure.  Reserves held as a working balance are held for contingency purposes (e.g. for 
emergencies) and the appropriate level is reviewed annually as part of the budget setting process.
10.2.11.2 – HRA Development and Regeneration Reserve
This reserve is for specific HRA development and regeneration needs within the HRA ring fence.  The 
authority to access this reserve is currently tied in with the HIP, however, the completion of the HIP 
requires a change to the delegation regarding the current needs of the service.  The recommendation 
is to limit delegation to £100,000 per project with a maximum of £500,000 in any one year, with each 
project considered regarding the affordability of the plan.

10.2.11.3 – Major Repairs Reserve
This reserve holds amounts set aside as depreciation from the HRA, based on a calculation which 
includes depreciation and additional revenue to support the HRA capital programme. This programme 
is substantially regarding the Council’s current housing stock.

10.2.11.4 – Water Reserve
On the cancellation of the Agency Agreement that the Council had with Severn Trent Water to collect 
water rates on their behalf, Severn Trent Water agreed to continue to fund future written off amounts 
of water arrears by a one-off payment

The 5-year assessment of the Asset Management Plan will enable these balances to be monitored 
and will in turn inform the plan on the availability of resources. 

15  https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=3477&mod-area=E07000133&-
mod-group=AllDistrictInRegion_EastMidlands&mod-type=namedComparisonGroup accessed 24.3.22

Page 108

https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=3477&mod-area=E07000133&mod-group=AllDistrictInRegion_EastMidlands&mod-type=namedComparisonGroup
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=3477&mod-area=E07000133&mod-group=AllDistrictInRegion_EastMidlands&mod-type=namedComparisonGroup


39     

11 Consultation 

Consultation with residents has taken place to shape this business plan. The consultation which has 
taken place forms part of the council’s new approach to tenant engagement as set out in the Tenant 
and Leaseholder Engagement Framework (January 2022)16.

11.1.1 Putting tenants at the heart of the service
The Council carried out an extensive residents’ satisfaction survey which was sent out to all the 
Council’s tenants and leaseholders in November 2021. The key results from the satisfaction survey 
are laid out below. A specific consultation exercise has been undertaken to test the options outlined 
above in the section called Choices.

11.1.2 Key results from the Residents Satisfaction Survey
The Council recognises the need to consult a broad range of tenants about both the housing service 
and the standard of the homes the Council provides. 

The Council conducted a residents satisfaction survey in between the 20th September and 25th of 
October of 2021 via Acuity a company with extensive experience of conducting this type of surveys. 
The company reported on the results of the survey in November 2021 and the key elements which 
refer to satisfaction with homes are reported here. Acuity received 473 surveys back from the 1763 
they sent out – a 27% response rate.

11.1.3 Satisfaction with the quality of your home

 

Michael Dyson Associates Ltd Stock Condition Survey Data 2022

The chart above shows that most tenants were either fairly or very satisfied with the quality of their 
homes (77%). The survey also asked more specifically about satisfaction with the condition of the 
home.

16 https://www.melton.gov.uk/decision1049

Page 109

https://www.melton.gov.uk/decision1049
https://www.melton.gov.uk/decision1049


40     

11.1.4 Satisfaction with the condition of your home

 17

This second question found a higher proportion of tenants either fairly or very dissatisfied with the 
condition of their homes. At 22% that is more than a fifth of tenants being dissatisfied. The survey 
asked what the key issues were leading to dissatisfaction with the condition of the property and the 
following issues were picked out by those responding. This provides the Council with a very useful 
indication of tenants’ priorities for this Business Plan.

• Home Improvements (including new kitchens, bathrooms, windows and doors) 35% referred 
to these problems

• Property Condition (including damp and mould, the outside of the property) 25% referred to 
these problems

• Day to Day Repairs (including outstanding or forgotten repairs and the quality of the work) 
11% referred to these problems

• Grounds Maintenance (including fences and pathways) 4% referred to these problems.

11.1.5 Internet Access
It is important for the Council to offer tenants and leaseholders up-to-date services. The survey 
asked residents about internet access and their use of the Council’s online services. Only 61% of 
tenants said that they had access to the internet, although that was higher amongst those living in 
general needs accommodation (70%)18. There were a number of issues with those who did not use 
the internet – mostly a lack of a desire to do so (58% of respondents said they did not want to use 
it) but also the cost of equipment, connections and a lack of confidence about how to use it. As the 
key problems were most common amongst those in supported accommodation this implies that the 
Council will need to make a significant effort to encourage residents to use more technology.

Improving the internet offer has been included as a choice for investment as part of this Business 
Plan.

17  Melton MBC Survey cited above also section 3
18  Melton MBC Survey cited above section 7

Page 110



41     

11.1.6 Focus Group of Tenants
A focus group was held on the 13th of January 2022 with group of tenants to further explore tenants’ 
concerns for this Plan. Details are included within Appendix 1 of the Business Plan. 

The key findings were that the group assessed Council housing in Melton as being of low quality 
with concerns about the repairs service and poor communication from the Council picked out as 
the areas of greatest concern. Attendees noted that where work has been done to improve energy 
efficiency on some homes, it had a positive impact on the heating of homes.

11.1.7 Working with leaseholders
When the Council works on properties which contain leaseholders it is vital that they are consulted 
and that they understand why works need to be done and are given advice about how to finance 
their part of those works (if necessary). The Council commits to this process. 

11.1.8 Other stakeholders
A meeting with the Council’s Scrutiny Committee was held on 7th December 2021 to explore 
Councillors’ views of the quality of Council housing in Melton BC. The details can be found at Appendix 
2 of the Business Plan. The subgroup of the scrutiny committee was attended by 6 Councillors. The 
Councillors rated the Council’s housing as being of poor quality. They picked out investment in staff 
who care and dealing better with health and safety as key elements which were good. 

Problems with communication, investment, stock pipeline and maintenance were highlighted 
as part of their assessment of what is not so good about council housing in Melton.

11.1.9 Survey of tenants on priorities

An email survey (148 tenants) and paper survey (288 tenants) were sent out from the last week 
of February 2022 – with a closing date of 25th March 2022. The tenants contacted were those who 
had self-identified (from the Resident Satisfaction Survey completed by Acuity) as being willing to 
participate in consultations run by the council. The results of the consultation have been included in 
the Priorities for Investment section on page 27 of this document.

12  Appendices

12.1.1 Appendix 1 Tenants’ Focus Group
Four tenants attended the focus group (12 people invited) on 13th January 2022.

After a presentation, the group considered the question “How good is housing in Melton?” Attendees 
were asked to place a star on the diagram below to indicate how they assessed this:

12.1.1.1 What is Good?
The members of the group were all given 3 post-it notes to highlight 3 parts of the service which they 
though were good. These were then collected together, and the group ended up with 6 issues. They 
then voted with 3 stickers to choose the three most important issues.

Page 111



42     

Issue Details Votes
Heating Heating x2 6
Neighbourhood Neighbourhood

Nice Neighbourhood

4

Repair Service Moderately good services & 
repair

1

Lifeline Lifeline 1
Rent Rent £ 1
 1
Improving  
Services

Improving housing manage-
ment

0

12.1.1.2 What is Not so Good?
The group were then given 3 post-it notes to describe their top 3 issues which made the service 
not so good. Again, those issues were collected under agreed headings. There were 5 issues. The 
group then had 3 votes using a sticker to pick out the 3 most important issues.

Issue Details Votes
Attention to Detail (Repairs 
etc)

Out of hours 5 

Repairs not completed
Outstanding works

Lack of  
Communication

Communication x3 4

Over promise under deliver
Not keeping promises
Clarity in answers to tenant 
queries

Parking Parking 2
Inconsistent  
Specification

Varying/variation in standards 1

Continuous	Change	of	Offi-
cers

Change of officers

12.1.2 Appendix 2 Scrutiny Meeting Notes 7.12.21
The Scrutiny meeting was attended by 6 Councillors, and they were asked to place a star on the 
flip chart drawing to show how they rated Council housing in Melton. All attendees rated Melton’s 
Council Housing poorly. 

12.1.2.1 What makes it good?
Councillors were then given 3 post-it notes to describe what was good about Council housing in 
Melton. The post it notes were then grouped under headings agreed by the group and then were 
vote on. 

There were four headings so each person got 2 votes.

Page 112



43     

What makes it good?
Investment (7 votes) Staff who care

Health and Safety awareness improved
Cladding on flats
Investment 

Maintenance (3 votes) Responsive repairs
Good, quick response (now) to maintenance
Rubbish outside removed quick
Improvement

Social Provision (2 votes) Provide a roof over people’s heads
Long term tenants
Number of properties

Introduction/creation of TFEC

12.1.2.2 What makes it not so good?
The same process was followed for what is not so good about Council housing in Melton. For this 
exercise there was a tie with 4 votes for communication, investment, stock pipeline and maintenance.

What makes it not so good?
Communication (4 votes) Dampness and mould (explaining how to avoid 

it with tenants)
Better communication
Poorly organised records (which makes com-
munication with tenants difficult)

Investment (4 votes) Some security needs mending i.e. door buzzers 
and auto locks
Stairs and stairwells need attention i.e., re-furb
Better lighting around flats desirable in winter
Lack of car parking
Slow response to repairs

Stock Pipeline (4 votes) Waiting list
Type and mix of stock
Sold the best houses

Maintenance (4 votes) Dampness and mould
Badly maintained stock
Bad workmanship

ASB (2 votes) Anti-Social Behaviour

Page 113



44     

12.1.3  Appendix 3 Check on the results from the Stock Condition Survey
The Stock Condition Survey has not been completed for all 1801 properties. The draft survey 
results reported to the Council on 21st January 2022 covered 1461 properties. This Business Plan is 
therefore based on a sample of properties. An external review of the Business Plan has advised that 
the Council can place a high level of assurance in the coverage of the stock condition survey work. 
Additionally, the results of the draft survey have been compared with the Council’s housing stock 
which shows that there is a close correlation between the distribution of properties in the sample as 
compared to the overall stock.

Bedroom distribution total stock

12.3.3.1 Bedroom distribution in surveyed stock

Page 114



12.1.4 Appendix 4 Summary of Business Plan recommendations
Appendix B:

Summary of HRA Business Plan Recommendations 

Recommendation on budgeting and rents

• The council will review the 30-year position at least annually and will maintain a 5-year asset manage-
ment programme to which that position is aligned. The 5-year programme will be re-evaluated every 
year to add a new 5th year to the programme. The council will inform, engage, and consult tenants and 
leaseholders about these programmes.

• To meet the expenditure commitments described above the council will need to implement rent increas-
es in line with government policy on inflation (the consumer price index plus 1%). If a lower figure is 
chosen, then balancing reductions in service costs will need to be made.

Recommendation for person nominated for Health and Safety

• The Council will designate the Director for Housing as the Council’s nominated person responsible for 
compliance with landlord health and safety on behalf of the council.

Recommendation for person nominated for Consumer Standards

• The council will designate the Assistant Director Housing Management as the council’s nominated 
person with responsibility for ensuring that the consumer standards as set out by the Social Housing 
Regulator are met.

Recommendation for Gretton Court

• Work will commence to determine the future of Gretton Court. This would be best addressed by a proj-
ect looking at present and future needs for the accommodation. In line with other recommendations in 
this Plan, the Council should use its business case process to guide that project.

Recommendation on retaining Right to Buy receipts 

• The Council will continue its existing policy to retain Right to Buy receipts in the Housing Revenue Ac-
count.

Recommendation for new council housing 

• Building new council housing will remain a priority for investment. However, given the need to improve 
existing homes the Council will investigate additional borrowing to fund council housing alongside using 
other funding routes (investment from Homes England and planning payments via s106). The ability 
to borrowing will depend on an assessment of the affordability using a range of appropriate indicators. 
Interest payments will need to be budgeted for and taken into account in assessing affordability but 
provision for the repayment of the debt will not be made as this is not a requirement within the HRA.  A 
target will be set in the Council’s Affordable Development Plan for the building of new council homes.

Recommendation on compliance

• All compliance measures will be undertaken within appropriate timescales to ensure that the Council’s 
housing meets the relevant health and safety standards, meets the requirements of the Homes Stan-
dard, and keeps tenants safe. There are a set of performance indicators which monitor how effectively 
the Council is meeting its compliance requirements.

Recommendation for regeneration

• The Council’s focus on Fairmead as a priority neighbourhood should continue. Work with the communi-
ty on the estate should include engagement to support community cohesion and developing options to 
reconfigure parts of the estate as well as developing sites for new build housing. A local housing allo-
cations policy should also be explored to support a balanced and cohesive community. Where there is 
a need to deal with anti-social behaviour the Council will use its enforcement powers appropriately and 
will work collaboratively across teams and with other partners.

Recommendation for housing and support

• To progress a review of support available to tenants, including options regarding support and assistive 
technology to increase independence in the future.

45     
Page 115



Recommendations	on	climate	change	and	energy	efficiency

The Council will:

• Focus on improving energy efficiency in its existing homes but will set a zero-carbon standard for its 
new build homes. 

• Carry out further work to assess how best to adapt Council homes to be closer to zero carbon.

• Consider and discuss with tenants, the implications and opportunities of decarbonisation options.

• Set a SAP rating as a performance measure against which the Council will assess its progress in im-
proving energy efficiency every year.  

• Provide advice on energy efficiency will be shared proactively with tenants.

• Work to attract national funding to improve the energy efficiency of the stock.

Recommendation on service improvement

• The council will engage with the tenants to understand what areas of service delivery could be im-
proved. If there is a need for additional investment there will need to be savings  
elsewhere.

Recommendation on choices for investment

• The Council will continue to replace metal windows with upvc windows. This will be built into the Asset 
Management Plan.

• For fences, paths and external painting; works will be carried out on an as and when basis with a focus 
on risk. 

Fences are included in the tenancy handbook as a tenant responsibility, but it is recognised that there will 
be occasions when the council may need to take a lead in repairing or replacing a fence (e.g., where there 
is a serious safety risk).

Recommendation on garages and other HRA non-housing assets

• Identify garage sites which could be made available for future council house development. Leading to 
demolition when a project has been put together.

• Remaining garages to either be repaired if they can be let (either for cars or for storage of appropriate 
items) or demolished if they are creating a nuisance.

• Other assets which are held in the HRA but are not housing will be reviewed within the Asset Manage-
ment Plan.

46     
Page 116



47     
Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B: 

Summary of HRA Business Plan Recommendations  

 

1 Recommendation on budgeting and rents 
 

• The council will review the 30-year position at least annually and will maintain a 5-year asset management programme to which 
that position is aligned. The 5-year programme will be re-evaluated every year to add a new 5th year to the programme. The 
council will inform, engage, and consult tenants and leaseholders about these programmes. 

 

• To meet the expenditure commitments described above the council will need to implement rent increases in line with 
government policy on inflation (the consumer price index plus 1%). If a lower figure is chosen, then balancing reductions in 
service costs will need to be made. 

2 Recommendation for person nominated for Health and Safety 
 

• The Council will designate the Director for Housing as the Council’s nominated person responsible for compliance with landlord 
health and safety on behalf of the council 

3 Recommendation for person nominated for Consumer Standards 
 

• The council will designate the Assistant Director Housing Management as the council’s nominated person with responsibility for 
ensuring that the consumer standards as set out by the Social Housing Regulator are met 

 

4 Recommendation for Gretton Court 
 

• Work will commence to determine the future of Gretton Court. This would be best addressed by a project looking at present and 
future needs for the accommodation. In line with other recommendations in this Plan, the Council should use its business case 
process to guide that project. 

5 Recommendation on retaining Right to Buy receipts  
 

• The Council will continue its existing policy to retain Right to Buy receipts in the Housing Revenue Account 

6 Recommendation for new council housing  
 

P
age 119

A
ppendix B



• Building new council housing will remain a priority for investment. However, given the need to improve existing homes the 
Council will investigate additional borrowing to fund council housing alongside using other funding routes (investment from 
Homes England and planning payments via s106). The ability to borrowing will depend on an assessment of the affordability 
using a range of appropriate indicators. Interest payments will need to be budgeted for and taken into account in assessing 
affordability but provision for the repayment of the debt will not be made as this is not a requirement within the HRA.  A target 
will be set in the Council’s Affordable Development Plan for the building of new council homes 

7 Recommendation on compliance 
 

• All compliance measures will be undertaken within appropriate timescales to ensure that the Council’s housing meets the 
relevant health and safety standards, meets the requirements of the Homes Standard, and keeps tenants safe. There are a set 
of performance indicators which monitor how effectively the Council is meeting its compliance requirements. 

8 Recommendation for regeneration 
 

• The Council’s focus on Fairmead as a priority neighbourhood should continue. Work with the community on the estate should 
include engagement to support community cohesion and developing options to reconfigure parts of the estate as well as 
developing sites for new build housing. A local housing allocations policy should also be explored to support a balanced and 
cohesive community. Where there is a need to deal with anti-social behaviour the Council will use its enforcement powers 
appropriately and will work collaboratively across teams and with other partners 

9 Recommendation for housing and support 
 

• To progress a review of support available to tenants, including options regarding support and assistive technology to increase 
independence in the future 

10 Recommendations on climate change and energy efficiency 
 
The Council will: 
 

• focus on improving energy efficiency in its existing homes but will set a zero-carbon standard for its new build homes.  

• carry out further work to assess how best to adapt Council homes to be closer to zero carbon 

• consider and discuss with tenants, the implications and opportunities of decarbonisation options  

• set a SAP rating as a performance measure against which the Council will assess its progress in improving energy efficiency 
every year.   

• provide advice on energy efficiency will be shared proactively with tenants 

• work to attract national funding to improve the energy efficiency of the stock 
 

P
age 120



11 Recommendation on service improvement 
 

The Council will engage with tenants to understand what areas of service delivery could be improved. If there is a need  

for additional investment there will need to be savings elsewhere 

12 Recommendation on choices for investment 
 

• The Council will continue to replace metal windows with upvc windows. This will be built into the Asset Management Plan. 
 

• For fences, paths and external painting; works will be carried out on an as and when basis with a focus on risk.  
 

Fences are included in the tenancy handbook as a tenant responsibility, but it is recognised that there will be occasions when 
the council may need to take a lead in repairing or replacing a fence (e.g., where there is a serious safety risk). 

13 Recommendation on garages and other HRA non-housing assets 
 

• Identify garage sites which could be made available for future council house development. Leading to demolition when a project 
has been put together. 

 

• Remaining garages to either be repaired if they can be let (either for cars or for storage of appropriate items) or demolished if 
they are creating a nuisance. 

 

• Other assets which are held in the HRA but are not housing will be reviewed within the Asset Management Plan 

 

 

 

P
age 121



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Council Report 

Recommendations and Reports from Committees: Scrutiny Annual 
Report 2021/22 

1 

 

 

Council 
28 July 2022 

Report of: Scrutiny Committee Chairman 

       

  
  

 

Recommendations and Reports from Committees: 
Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 

Corporate Priority: All 

Relevant Ward Member(s): N/A 

Date of consultation with Ward 
Member(s): 

N/A 

Exempt Information: No 

1 Summary 

1.1 To provide an overview of the work completed by the Scrutiny Committee during the 

Municipal Year 2021/22. 

2 Recommendation from Scrutiny Committee 

That Council: 

 

2.1 Notes the Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 (Appendix 1). 

 

3 Reason for Recommendation 

3.1 To ensure that all Members are informed of the work of the Scrutiny Committee for the 

Municipal Year. 

3.2 It is considered good practice for the Scrutiny Committee to provide an annual report. 

  

Page 123

Agenda Item 11

http://www.melton.gov.uk/
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Council Report 

Recommendations and Reports from Committees: Scrutiny Annual 
Report 2021/22 

2 

 

 

4 Background 

4.1 The Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 was scheduled to be considered by the Scrutiny 

Committee at the meeting on 5 April 2022, however the report wasn’t considered until the 

Special Scrutiny Committee meeting on 25 May 2022. 

4.2 The Scrutiny Committee recommended that the report is submitted to Council for noting. 

5 Main Considerations 

5.1 Scrutiny Committee recommend the Annual Report to Council for information purposes. 

5.2 This report increases the profile of the work carried out by Scrutiny Committee and 

ensures that all members are provided with information in relation to the work of Scrutiny 

Committee as well as providing an opportunity for all members to feedback on the Scrutiny 

function of the Council. 

6 Options Considered 

6.1 As outlined in the Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 (Appendix A). 

7 Consultation 

7.1 As outlined in the Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 (Appendix A). 

8 Next Steps – Implementation and Communication 

8.1 As outlined in the Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 (Appendix A). 

9 Financial Implications 

9.1 As outlined in the Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 (Appendix A). 

Financial Implications reviewed by: See Appendix A 

10 Legal and Governance Implications 

10.1 As outlined in the Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 (Appendix A). 

Legal Implications reviewed by: See Appendix A 

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 

11.1 As outlined in the Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 (Appendix A). 

12 Community Safety Implications 

12.1 As outlined in the Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 (Appendix A). 

13 Environmental and Climate Change Implications 

13.1 As outlined in the Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 (Appendix A). 

14 Other Implications (where significant) 

14.1 As outlined in the Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 (Appendix A). 

15 Risk & Mitigation 

15.1 As outlined in the Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 (Appendix A). 

16 Background Papers. 

Page 124



Council Report 

Recommendations and Reports from Committees: Scrutiny Annual 
Report 2021/22 

3 

 

16.1 As outlined in the Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 (Appendix A). 

17 Appendices 

17.1 Appendix A – Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 covering report for Scrutiny Committee 

17.2 Appendix 1 – Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 

Report Author: Adam Green, Senior Democratic Services and 
Scrutiny Officer 

Report Author Contact Details: 01664 502319 

agreen@melton.gov.uk 

Chief Officer Responsible: Dawn Garton, Director for Corporate Services 

Chief Officer Contact Details: 01664 502444 

DGarton@melton.gov.uk 

 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Scrutiny Report 

Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 

1 

 

 

Scrutiny 
5 April 2022 

Report of: Scrutiny Committee Chairman 

       

  
  

 

Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 

Corporate Priority: All 

Relevant Ward Member(s): N/A 

Date of consultation with Ward 
Member(s): 

N/A 

Exempt Information: No 

1 Summary 

1.1 To provide an overview of the work done by Scrutiny Committee during the year 2021/22. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

That Scrutiny Committee: 

 

1. Approves the Annual Report (Appendix 1); and  

2. Recommends the report to Council. 

3 Reason for Recommendations 

3.1 To ensure that all Members are informed of the work of the Scrutiny Committee for the 

Municipal Year and an overview of the key priorities for Scrutiny in 2022/23. 

3.2 It is considered good practice for Scrutiny Committee to provide an annual report. 

  

Page 127

Appendix A

http://www.melton.gov.uk/
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Scrutiny Report 

Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 

2 

 

 

4 Background 

4.1 The report provides an overview of the items considered by Scrutiny Committee in the 

Municipal Year 2021/22, including reviews, task and finish groups and workshops. 

5 Main Considerations 

5.1 Scrutiny Committee are asked to consider the report and provide any feedback. 

5.2 Scrutiny Committee are asked to recommend the report to Council for information purposes.  

This will increase the profile of the work carried out by Scrutiny Committee and ensure that 

all members are provided with information in relation to the work of Scrutiny Committee. 

6 Options Considered 

6.1 The alternative is that Scrutiny does not provide an annual report. This option is not 

recommended. Having an annual report supports reflection, visibility and transparency of 

the work undertaken by the committee.  

7 Consultation 

7.1 Scrutiny Committee will be asked to consider the report before it is presented to Council. 

8 Next Steps – Implementation and Communication 

8.1 Subject to Scrutiny Committee approval, the report will be presented to Council in July 2022. 

9 Financial Implications 

9.1 There are no financial implications. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Director for Corporate Services 

10 Legal and Governance Implications 

10.1 There are no legal implications. 

10.2 The Executive Scrutiny Protocol provides at Section 18, that the Scrutiny Committee will 

produce an Annual Report for Council which will include evidence on delivery of the work 

plan; details of Scrutiny Reviews; details on recommendations to Cabinet and evaluation 

of the impact of Scrutiny. 

10.3 This report complies with the requirements of the Executive Scrutiny Protocol and is 

prepared and presented to Scrutiny Committee and Council as a matter of good practice. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Deputy Monitoring Officer 

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 

11.1 There are no equality and safeguarding implications. 

12 Community Safety Implications 

12.1 There are no community safety implications. 

13 Environmental and Climate Change Implications 

13.1 There are no environmental implications. 

14 Other Implications (where significant) 

14.1 There are not any other implications. 

Page 128



Scrutiny Report 

Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 

3 

 

15 Risk & Mitigation 

15.1 There are no risks in relation to this report. 

16 Background Papers 

16.1 There are no background papers. 

17 Appendices 

17.1 Appendix 1 – Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 

 

Report Author: Adam Green, Senior Democratic Services and 
Scrutiny Officer 

Report Author Contact Details: 01664 502319 

agreen@melton.gov.uk 

Chief Officer Responsible: Dawn Garton, Director for Corporate Services 

Chief Officer Contact Details: 01664 502444 

DGarton@melton.gov.uk 

 

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Melton Borough Council 

Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 

 

 

 

 

Page 131

Appendix 1



Page 2 of 21 
 

Contents 
Foreword from the Chairman of Scrutiny ......................................................................................... 3 

Scrutiny in Melton - Overview ........................................................................................................ 4 

Scrutiny Committee (Summary of items considered) ...................................................................... 5 

Portfolio Holder Presentations/Questions .................................................................................... 7 

Chairman’s Review of Topics ....................................................................................................... 10 

Task and Finish Groups and Reviews............................................................................................. 11 

Response and Recovery Task and Finish Group (Place) ................................................................ 11 

Response and Recovery Task and Finish Group (People) .............................................................. 12 

Lake Terrace – Scrutiny Chairman’s Review ................................................................................... 13 

Melton Mowbray Business Improvement District ............................................................................. 14 

Workshops ........................................................................................................................................ 16 

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan ....................................................................................... 16 

Budget Scrutiny ............................................................................................................................... 16 

Town Centre Masterplan ................................................................................................................. 16 

Asset Optimisation and Development Workshop ............................................................................. 17 

Scrutiny Reports to Cabinet ............................................................................................................. 18 

Reporting ........................................................................................................................................... 18 

Scrutiny Work Programme ............................................................................................................... 19 

Training .............................................................................................................................................. 20 

Looking ahead ................................................................................................................................... 20 

Further information ........................................................................................................................... 21 

 

  

  

Page 132



Page 3 of 21 
 

Foreword from the Chairman of Scrutiny 
 

This report is to inform Council of the work of Scrutiny Committee during 2021/22. 

Since the local elections in May 2019, we have had a new Council and a new system of Governance 

including a Scrutiny Committee of ten members.  

The scrutiny function acts as a critical friend on behalf of the community, to improve services and 

decision-making inside and outside of the Cabinet. The Scrutiny function belongs to the whole 

Council but is different from other committees in that it is Member-led and evidence-based, with most 

of Scrutiny’s Work plan being decided by Committee members, responding to concerns of elected 

members and the public.  

Scrutiny calls for Members with investigative minds who are prepared to challenge, when they have 

‘done some homework’ and are able to justify the challenge in accordance with the Constitution. 

I have been honoured to serve as Chair since October 2021 and would like to thank all members of 

the Committee for their hard work and dedication. 

This year, like last year, has been particularly challenging as we continue to get used to different 

ways of working as a result of the pandemic.  In spite of the challenges created by the pandemic we 

have managed to keep focused on important areas of Scrutiny work. 

I am also very grateful to the officers in Democratic Services who have supported the work of the 

Committee members, in particular the Council’s Scrutiny Officer, Adam Green. 

Cllr Robert Child 

Members of the Committee 2021/22 

Councillor Robert Child (Chair) (October 2021 – Present) 

Councillor Jacob Wilkinson (Vice-Chair)  

Councillor Robert Bindloss (May 2021 – October 2021) 

Councillor Pru Chandler     

Councillor Pat Cumbers (May 2021 – October 2021)   

Councillor Jeanne Douglas    

Councillor Christopher Evans 

Councillor Chris Fisher (May 2021 – October 2021)  

Councillor Margaret Glancy (December 2021 – Present) 

Councillor Elaine Holmes 

Councillor John Illingworth 

Councillor Pam Posnett (October 2021 – Present) 

Councillor Mel Steadman    

Councillor Rebecca Smith (October 2021 – December 2021)  

Page 133



Page 4 of 21 
 

Scrutiny in Melton - Overview 
 

In May 2019 Melton Borough Council formally adopted the Executive Model of Governance and 

established a Scrutiny Committee to carry out the functions as listed below. The Scrutiny Committee 

has held 8 meetings, 4 workshops, 2 reviews and completed 2 task and finish groups during the 

2021/22 Municipal Year. The workshops, reviews and task and finish groups involved an additional 10 

meetings. The reviews were in relation to the Council’s sale of land at Lake Terrace and the Melton 

Mowbray Business Improvement District. 

In summary the main functions of Scrutiny set out in Chapter 2, Part 10 of the MBC Constitution are 

to:- 

• review and scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the discharge of 

any function. 

• make reports or recommendations to Council or the Cabinet as appropriate with respect to the 

discharge of any function. 

• recommend that a decision made but not yet implemented, be reconsidered by the Cabinet 

through the Call In Procedure. 

• fulfil all the functions of the Council’s designated Crime and Disorder Committee under the Police 

and Justice Act 2006. 

• fulfil all the functions conferred on it by virtue of regulations under the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (local authority scrutiny of health matters). 

In addition to the entry in the Constitution, another important reference point for the functions of 

Scrutiny and how the function interacts with the Cabinet is the Executive Scrutiny Protocol. 

In May 2019 the Government published Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local 

Authorities which promoted a formal working agreement between the executive and the scrutiny 

function in the form of a protocol. The guidance suggested that an Executive Scrutiny Protocol can 

help to define the relationship and expectations between the Cabinet and Scrutiny Committee to 

ensure that the two can work together in a positive and productive way.  

The Protocol was approved by the Scrutiny Committee on 3 November 2020 and Council approved 

the protocol on 17 December 2020, it is now included in the Constitution. 

The Protocol provides a framework that deals with the practical expectations of Scrutiny Committee 

Members and the Executive, as well as the cultural dynamics of the Council.  It also helps define the 

relationship between the two and mitigates any differences of opinion before they manifest 

themselves in unhelpful and unproductive ways. The benefit of this approach is that it provides a 

framework for disagreement and debate, and a way to manage it when it happens. 

  

Page 134

https://democracy.melton.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=201&MId=1006&Ver=4&Info=1


Page 5 of 21 
 

Scrutiny Committee (Summary of items considered) 
 

Topic Date Brief Details Outcome 

REVIEW OF DRAFT 
SCRUTINY WORKPLAN 
2021/22 

14 June 
2021 

The draft Scrutiny Workplan for 
2021/22 was presented to the 
Committee 

It was agreed that the 
Chair and Vice-Chair 
would consider all the 
suggestions and that a 
final version of the 
Workplan would be 
presented at a future 
meeting.  

CORPORATE 
PERFORMANCE AND 
PROGRESS REPORT 
QUARTER 4, 2020/21  

15 July 
2021 

Members were presented with 
the Corporate Performance and 
Progress Report Quarter 4, 
2020/21. The report updated 
Members on the progress in 
relation to delivery of the 
Council’s Corporate priorities, 
providing both a set of 
Corporate Performance 
Measures alongside key project 
updates. 

Members were pleased 
that with the 
performance in the 
areas of affordable 
homes and major 
planning decisions. 
Concern was raised 
regarding the Council’s 
performance on fly 
tipping and requests for 
information deadlines. 

REVIEW OF THE 
SCRUTINY WORK 
PROGRAMME 2021/22 

2 
September 
2021 

To approve the work 
programme following the 
Scrutiny Workshop held in June 
2021 and deliberation (of what 
to include) by the Chair. 

The work programme 
was approved. 
Members noted the 
name change from 
Work Plan to Work 
Programme. 

HOUSING VOIDS 
MANAGEMENT AND 
TEMPORARY 
ACCOMODATION 
UPDATE 

2 
September 
2021 

The Committee received a 
report updating them on the 
actions taken since the Cabinet 
accepted the Committee’s 
recommendations. 

The Committee thanked 
the Director for Housing 
and Communities and 
asked that their thanks 
are passed on to the 
teams and contractors 
who had worked on this 
issue. 

MELTON COMMUNITY 
LOTTERY UPDATE  

5 October 
2021 

Members received a report 
updating them on the actions 
taken since Cabinet considered 
the Committee’s 
recommendations on 18 March 
2020. 

Members made a few 
comments on the 
growth of the scheme, 
publicity and cost and 
those comments were 
presented to Cabinet on 
23 November 2021. 

Page 135



Page 6 of 21 
 

LEICESTERSHIRE 
WASTE STRATEGY 

5 October 
2021 

The report asked for Members 
to provide feedback on the draft 
Leicestershire Waste Strategy. 
The strategy set out the 
expected changes to legislation 
as part of the Environment Bill 
(2021) which was expected to 
have significant impact upon 
the Council’s waste collection 
and disposal arrangements. 

Members provided 
feedback on food waste 
proposals, the use of 
anaerobic digesters and 
how waste is disposed 
of. Concern was 
expressed about the 
impact the bill would 
have on the Council’s 
budget. The comments 
were presented to 
Cabinet on 23 
November 2021. 

ANNUAL EQUALITIES 
REPORT  

9 November 
2021 

Scrutiny was asked to provide 
feedback on the Annual 
Equalities Report. 

Members welcomed the 
report and it was 
confirmed that the 
Council are undertaking 
equality impact 
assessments. 

GENERAL FUND 
REVENUE BUDGET 
2022/23 AND MEDIUM 
TERM FINANCIAL 
STRATEGY 2023/24 TO 
2025/26 

25 January 
2022 

The Committee was asked to 
provide feedback to Cabinet on 
the draft revenue budget and 
MTFS. 
 
Note: All members were invited 
to contribute. 

The Committee 
provided feedback in 
relation to special 
expenses areas and 
staff vacancy savings. 
Members questioned 
what activities would be 
funded by the 
Regeneration and 
Innovation Reserve and 
asked for the increase in 
Council Tax to be 
justified. The comments 
were presented to 
Cabinet on 9 February 
2022. 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
2021-2026 – GENERAL 
FUND AND CAPITAL 
STRATEGY 2022/23  

25 January 
2022 

The Capital Programme was 
presented to Members for 
comments and feedback. 
 
Note: All members were invited 
to contribute. 

Scrutiny provided 
feedback in relation to a 
new cemetery, Lifeline, 
assets and the Cattle 
Market. A request was 
made for a viability 
study into constructing a 
crematorium. 
Comments were 
presented to Cabinet on 
9 February 2022. 

Page 136



Page 7 of 21 
 

REVENUE BUDGET 
PROPOSALS 2022/23 – 
HOUSING REVENUE 
ACCOUNT (HRA) 

25 January 
2022 

Members were asked to 
provide feedback to Cabinet on 
the HRA budget and rent 
proposals. 
 
Note: All members were invited 
to contribute. 

The Committee 
highlighted that there 
has been an 
underspend in each of 
the last six years in 
respect of capital 
spending. The 
comments were 
presented to Cabinet on 
9 February 2022. 

UPDATE ON 
ALLOTMENTS 

22 February 
2022 

An update on the allotment 
service was presented to 
Members. 

Members provided 
feedback in the form of 
a report to Cabinet on 9 
March 2022. Comments 
consisted of 
maintenance costs, 
vandalism, raised beds, 
length of tenancies, the 
cost of the service to the 
council when overheads 
were taken into account 
and tenant debt. 

 

Portfolio Holder Presentations/Questions 
During the municipal year, Scrutiny have received Portfolio Holder presentations from the following: 

the Leader of the Council, Portfolio Holder for Corporate Governance, Finance and Resources, 

Portfolio Holder for Growth and Prosperity (Deputy Leader), Portfolio Holder for Council Homes and 

Landlord Services and the Portfolio Holder for Climate, Access and Engagement. A further 

presentation will be received from the Portfolio Holder for People and Communities (Deputy Leader) 

at April’s Committee meeting.  

 

The Leader of the Council provided a presentation at the meeting held on 14 June 2021. The 

presentation updated Members on the progress of work, policies and strategies under the following 

themes: 

o Review of 2020/21 

o Helping People 

o Shaping Places 

o Great Council 

o The coming year 

The Leader also provided answers to questions provided by Members of the Committee in advance 

of the meeting, as well answering questions asked at the meeting. 

 

The Portfolio Holder for Corporate Governance, Finance and Resources provided a presentation 

at the meeting held on 15 July 2021. The presentation set out Corporate Strategy and Priority 

updates as well as general portfolio updates on the following areas: 

o Human Resources 

o Health and Safety 

Page 137



Page 8 of 21 
 

o Debt Management 

o Procurement 

o LGA Review 

o Democratic Services 

o Constitution Review Working Group 

o Elections 

o Legal Services 

o GDPR/Information Governance 

o Complaints 

o Security and Counter Terrorism 

The Portfolio Holder also provided answers to questions provided by Members of the Committee in 

advance of the meeting, as well answering questions asked at the meeting. 

 

The Portfolio Holder for Growth and Prosperity (Deputy Leader) provided a presentation at the 

meeting held on 2 September 2021. The presentation set out Corporate Strategy and Priority updates 

as well as general portfolio updates on the following areas: 

o Economic Growth and Inward Investment 

o Tourism, events and place promotion 

o Town Centre Management and Car Parking 

o Capital Regeneration Projects 

o Infrastructure investment 

o Development of the country park 

o Culture and heritage 

o Corporate Property Asset Management 

o Housing Strategy 

o Planning Policy 

o Building Control and Land Charges 

The Portfolio Holder also provided answers to questions provided by Members of the Committee in 

advance of the meeting, as well answering questions asked at the meeting. 

 

The Portfolio Holder for Council Homes and Landlord Services provided a presentation at the 

meeting held on 5 October 2021. The presentation updated Members on the progress of work and 

covered the following areas: 

o Achievements 

o Challenges 

o Planned Maintenance 

o Responsive Repairs 

o New Build Development 

o Next Steps 

The Portfolio Holder also provided answers to questions provided by Members of the Committee in 

advance of the meeting, as well answering questions asked at the meeting. 

 

The Portfolio Holder for Climate, Access and Engagement provided a presentation at the meeting 

held on 9 November 2021. The presentation set out Corporate Strategy and Priority updates as well 

as general portfolio updates on the following areas: 

o Environment and Waste 

Page 138



Page 9 of 21 
 

o LGA Review 

o AV System 

o Constitutional Review Working Group 

o Disabled Facilities Grants and Lightbulb Project 

o Future Cemetery Provision 

o Equalities 

o Community Grants 

o Community Lottery 

The Portfolio Holder also provided answers to questions provided by Members of the Committee in 

advance of the meeting, as well answering questions asked at the meeting. 

 

Scrutiny Committee have found these Portfolio Holder presentations useful and welcomed the 

opportunity to be provided with details regarding emerging issues and projects on the horizon as well 

as the opportunity to ask questions of the Portfolio Holder. 

Scrutiny Committee have also been grateful for the attendance by Portfolio Holders at the Committee 

in order to present reports and receive feedback and questions from members on specific areas of 

the Council’s business.  
  

Page 139



Page 10 of 21 
 

Chairman’s Review of Topics 
 

Scrutiny Committee has considered a number of topics which are summarised above and has 

continued to deliver the Scrutiny agenda as set out in the Annual Work Programme at the start of the 

Municipal Year.  

The Committee has provided comment and feedback, as consultees, to Cabinet and Senior Officers. 

Scrutiny has provided input on several areas of policy development including the Housing Revenue 

Account 30 Year Business Plan, Leicestershire Waste Strategy, Town Centre Masterplan and the 

Housing Development Strategy.   

Scrutiny Members have also been extremely busy completing the Response and Recovery Task and 

Finish Groups, collating and evaluating evidence, the outcomes of which were presented to the 

Scrutiny Committee during the Municipal Year with recommendations referred to and accepted by 

Cabinet. 

At the January 2022 meeting all members (not just Scrutiny Committee Members) were invited to 

take part in feedback on the Budget setting process. In February 2022, the Scrutiny Committee 

received a report on the allotment service, this gave Members the opportunity to scrutinise a Council 

service which is often overlooked, providing comments which were presented to Cabinet at their 

meeting in March 2022.  

Page 140



Page 11 of 21 
 

Task and Finish Groups and Reviews 
 

Response and Recovery Task and Finish Group (Place) 
The final report was presented to the Scrutiny Committee at the meeting held on 14 June 2021. The 

lead Member, Councillor Bindloss, outlined to Members the methodology used, the evidence 

received, conclusions made and recommendations proposed. 

The following conclusions were made: 

• There had been a decline in Melton’s shopping lifestyle and leisure experience. 

• More resources were required in order to focus on project development in order to support 

place recovery and growth. 

• The Discover Melton website had a good framework but needed to be kept relevant and 

current. 

• The town centre required new life blood in the form of smaller retail outlets that are reactive to 

the needs of shoppers 

• The evening economy experience for families required development. Entertainment needs to 

be more than just bars and restaurants as these are not broad and diverse enough to engage 

the wider community. 

• The national economy was already seeing a slowdown before Covid-19, reflecting Brexit 

uncertainty and world trade tensions and high street retail was already under pressure with 

changing consumer shopping habits reducing footfall in many town centres and increasing 

online trade. The impact of non-essential retail businesses being forced to close since 23 

March 2020 has had a significant impact on vacancy rates and footfall in Melton Town Centre. 

The task and finish group made the following recommendations: 

1) To increase resources for project development. 

2) To collaborate with key stakeholders to increase awareness of the town’s waterways, which 

are currently under used and encouraging their use for leisure and fitness purposes by 

highlighting the range of potential and current activities that are available. 

3) To include the following key priorities in the formation of the Melton Town Centre Vision: 

• Develop a greater range of activities for a diverse and captivating Melton town evening 

economy. 

• Focus on attracting smaller retail outlets that are reactive to the needs of the shoppers. 

• Improve and increase signage and information. 

• Development of online portal/improved website to promote and showcase Melton’s 

food, drink and historical heritage. 

4) Any review of fees paid by taxi operators or taxi fares should have a specific focus on the 

impact of Covid-19 to ensure that this sector is provided with support to recover from the 

impacts of the pandemic. 

5) With any further tranches of funding, the Council should undertake additional forms of 

communication to promote the message and increase uptake e.g. drop in sessions, radio 

interviews or poster campaigns. 

 

The Committee approved the final report and recommended that it is presented to Cabinet. The 

report was presented to the Cabinet at their meeting on 21 July 2021, where they accepted the 

recommendations of the task and finish group. 

Page 141



Page 12 of 21 
 

 

Response and Recovery Task and Finish Group (People) 
The final report was presented to the Scrutiny Committee at the meeting held on 5 October 2021. The 

lead Member, Councillor Pat Cumbers, summarised the methodology used, the evidence received, 

conclusions made and recommendations proposed. 

 

The following conclusions were made: 

• The pandemic had led to an increase in youth unemployment which has had knock on 

repercussions in respect to debt issues. As younger people are more likely than older people 

to have issues with debt. 

• The pandemic has given people the chance to reflect on environment around them and how to 

be greener. The Prime Minister has often stated that the country needs to “build back greener”. 

• Homelessness has been an issue for the Council for a considerable number of years, however 

the pandemic has exacerbated this issue. Homelessness has a devastating impact upon the 

individuals and families experiencing it and the Council suffers financially as well. 

• The pandemic has seen a fall in formal volunteers. Whilst this has been coupled with a rise in 

informal volunteers, what this does mean is that fewer volunteers have had background 

checks. 

• It is unclear how much digital exclusion exists in Melton Borough, however we know digital 

exclusion exists. This makes it difficult for those excluded digitally to access services, 

particularly if they are primarily online services. 

• The survey suggests that members of the BAME community have experienced discrimination 

from the Council or one of its partners. In addition, evidence suggests that members of the 

BAME community have been disadvantaged as a result of the pandemic. 

• The number of respondents to the survey was lower than anticipated, therefore the data is not 

as rich as it could be. 

• Residents have benefited from the Helping People Partnership Board but it has, at times, 

acted like a ‘shadow Council’ with little oversight from non-Executive Members. There is also a 

lack of knowledge and understanding at what the partnership actually does. 

 

The task and finish group made the following recommendations: 

1) That assurance is given to Scrutiny that the Council is being proactive in identifying and putting 

measures in place to prevent people from becoming homeless, with a particular emphasis on 

encouraging people to seek housing advice and support prior to them becoming homeless. 

This should take the following form: 

a) A proactive communications approach including a poster campaign (public facing 

communications that emphasises the need for people to contact the Council for advice 

and support as soon as possible and not when they have already become homeless).  

b) A proactive communications approach that encourages landlords to contact the Council 

before they serve a notice, to see if we can work together to address any issues and 

stabilise the tenancy.  

c) A proactive approach to engaging with landlords in the Borough (for example, through a 

landlords’ forum).  

d) Readily available information and guidance about how the Council can help and prevent 

homelessness from occurring to begin with (for example, negotiating with landlords, 

Page 142



Page 13 of 21 
 

addressing underlying issues that have led to the tenancy being at risk, implementation 

of support to stabilise the tenancy).  

e) An update report to the Scrutiny Committee in 12 months’ time to demonstrate how 

successful the Council has been in preventing households from becoming homeless, 

and any lessons learned. 

2) As soon as practicable, the Council and appropriate partners should host a Jobs Fair for 

people aged between 16 and 24. It is recommended that the jobs fair should include 

businesses, the DWP, Brooksby-Melton College, advice services and sign-posting. 

3) Engagement with the lead officer for communications in respect to future Scrutiny studies 

where consultation and engagement may be required is crucial to ensure there is clarity on 

expectations, timescales and visibility/reach of consultation exercise. 

4) We recommend that the Council host a Volunteer Fair to be held at Parkside with as much 

publicity as possible to encourage as many charitable companies, voluntary organisations and 

possible volunteers to attend. 

5) The Council should review its existing processes to ensure that the digitally excluded have the 

same access to services at digitally savvy residents. In addition, the Council should work with 

partners (e.g. Age UK) to ensure that the digitally excluded have every opportunity to become 

digitally educated if they so choose. This could also be by increasing the help which the 

Council already provides in the computer suite at Phoenix House so that all residents, who 

wish, can obtain the necessary skills to access the internet. In addition, the Council should 

consider using the Government’s Kick Start scheme, to employ a 16 to 24 year-old on 

Universal Credit or at risk of long-term unemployment, to help residents develop their digital 

knowledge (Age UK has a Digital Buddy training video which provides guidance). 

6) The Council should review existing processes for monitoring its treatment of BAME residents 

and ensuring that BAME residents are treated fairly. This should include looking to make 

improvements where required. 

7) A refresh of the Helping People Partnership: 

a) To ensure that the Helping People Partnership Board is representative of relevant 

partners who can deliver an effective and collaborative approach to health and 

wellbeing in Melton.  

b) To ensure that the Helping People Partnership Board incorporates Covid 

recovery/insights, needs and trends as a standing agenda item to enable collective 

understanding and action planning, relevant to the remit of the partnership.  

c) To ensure that the outcomes of the partnership are made available to scrutiny members 

with an update report in six months. 

 

The Committee approved the final report and recommended that it is presented to Cabinet. The 

report was presented to the Cabinet at their meeting on 13 October 2021, where they accepted the 

recommendations of the task and finish group. 

 

Lake Terrace – Scrutiny Chairman’s Review 
Councillor Pat Cumbers presented her report and findings to the Scrutiny Committee on 14 June 

2021 and then to the Cabinet on 21 July 2021. The report was in relation to allegations made by 

Leicestershire County Council (LCC) in February 2021, who criticised the conduct and competence of 

Melton Borough Council (MBC) Senior Officers and Members in relation to land disposal at Lake 

Terrace. 

Page 143



Page 14 of 21 
 

The Scrutiny Chairman, Councillor Pat Cumbers, and Vice-Chair, Councillor Rob Bindloss, undertook 

a thorough review of the whole process, gathering information regarding land registry, land searches, 

planning, land ownership and any other matter related to this windfall site and reviewing the 

comments made at the LCC Cabinet meeting on 5 February 2021.  

The detailed investigation confirmed that throughout the process, MBC had acted professionally, in 

accordance with the law, and with extreme care. No evidence could be found to support the 

allegations reported to the Scrutiny Committee on 11 February.  

The review has shown that MBC officers have served the Council professionally, diligently and with 

the best interests of Melton and our Council at heart.  

 

MBC considers itself a reliable and honest partner to many organisations including LCC, such 

effective partnership working is essential to achieve positive outcomes for our community that we are 

all here to serve and support. 

 

When presented with the report at Cabinet the Leader of the Council, Councillor Joe Orson, stated: 

 

“This item relates to a review which the Chair and Vice Chair of Scrutiny undertook into the decision 

taken by Cabinet in January, regarding a proposed disposal of land. The summary of this review was 

discussed at the recent Scrutiny meeting and the notes of this discussion have been shared with 

Cabinet as part of the agenda.  I am very grateful for the extensive work which the Chair and Vice 

Chair of Scrutiny have undertaken in relation to this issue and it is both pleasing and reassuring that 

the efforts and actions of officers and the Cabinet have been fully vindicated through the work that 

has been done.  Thank you.” 

 

Melton Mowbray Business Improvement District 
On 22 December 2020 following feedback from BID levy payers and receivers of BID services, the 

Scrutiny Committee established a Task and Finish Group which would review the services provided 

by the BID, its current governance and accountability arrangements and plans for future delivery. It 

was agreed on 5 January 2021 that a review would be undertaken by the Chairman, Councillor Pat 

Cumbers, Councillor Browne and Councillor Child. When Councillor Browne was appointed to the 

Cabinet in May 2021, he was no longer part of the Scrutiny Committee or the review.  

 

On 10 February 2021, the Task and Finish Group’s scoping document was finalised. With the 

purpose identified as follows: to identify the preferred standards of Governance for UK BID 

companies to enable the Council to formulate a response to the consultation on the Melton Mowbray 

BID Business Plan and make recommendations in relation to the BID renewal proposals before the 

renewal Ballot in 2021. 

 

The task and finish group identified the following issues: 

• Past relationship between the Council and the BID. 

• Openness and transparency of information. 

• Ability to fulfil ambitions for Melton Mowbray. 

 

The following recommendations were made: 

Page 144



Page 15 of 21 
 

1) That the Council undertake greater collaboration with the BID to consider ways that both 

organisations could take some joint responsibility for shared priorities in relation to town centre 

businesses. This should include agreeing to an approach to identify realistic and positive 

expectations and aspirations for the relationship between the Council and the BID. 

2) That consideration is given to enlarging the defined BID area and then actively seeking a wider 

representation from local businesses on the Board. 

3) That the BID gives consideration to re-establishing a website. 

 

At the meeting held on 15 July 2021, the Committee approved the final report and recommended that 

it is presented to Cabinet and that the recommendations are submitted to the BID, following 

consideration by Cabinet. The report was presented to the Cabinet at their meeting on 21 July 2021, 

where they endorsed the recommendations of the task and finish group. The final report was formally 

dispatched to the BID, by the Scrutiny Chairman, on 1 August 2021. 

Page 145



Page 16 of 21 
 

Workshops  
 

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 
At the Scrutiny Committee meeting on 9 November 2021, Members agreed that a workshop should 

be held on the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan. The workshop took place on 7 December 

2021 and the following Members participated: Councillors Child, Chandler, Douglas, Evans, Posnett 

and Wilkinson. The purpose of the workshop is to allow Scrutiny Members to identify and prioritise the 

key issues in relation to the Council’s housing stock. 

At the workshop Members participated in two interactive sessions. During the first session, Members 

identified three positive aspects of the housing stock and scored each issue in terms of importance. 

Members decided that investment in the housing stock to be the most important issue. 

The second interactive session, had Members identify three negative aspects of the housing stock 

and service and rank them in terms of importance. Members decided that communications, 

investment, maintenance and stock pipeline were all equally important and issues that the Council 

had not quite got right. The workshop and interactive sessions gave Officers a steer in the 

development of the business plan. 

A second workshop on this topic was held on 15 March 2022 and the following Members participated: 

Councillors Child, Chandler and Posnett. 

Budget Scrutiny 

It was recognised by Scrutiny Members that Budget Scrutiny was an area of scrutiny which could be 

done more effectively. The Senior Democratic Services and Scrutiny Officer researched how budget 

scrutiny is carried out at other Local Authorities and what practices are recommended by the Centre 

for Governance and Scrutiny (formerly the Centre for Public Scrutiny) and the Chartered Institute of 

Public Finance and Accountancy. In reviewing the evidence, three options were identified and the 

workshop was chosen as the option that would potentially have greatest impact.  

The Scrutiny Committee agreed at their meeting on 9 November 2021 that a workshop on budget 

scrutiny should take place on 14 December 2021, with the purpose of providing comments and 

feedback to be considered during the finalisation of the budget. The following Members participated 

Councillors Child, Chandler, Douglas, Evans, Holmes and Smith. Between 9 November 2021 and 14 

December 2021, Councillor Smith agreed to accept the position of Cabinet Support Member and 

therefore decided to withdraw from participating prior to the workshop. 

At the workshop Members raised comments in relation to the following topics: Growth Bids, savings 

options under consideration, assets, services, discounted savings and the capital programme. All 

comments were taken away and considered prior to the budget being presented to the Committee in 

January 2022. 

Town Centre Masterplan 

The Scrutiny Chair received a request from the Director for Growth and Regeneration for Scrutiny to 

assist with the development of a Town Centre Masterplan. It was agreed at the Scrutiny Committee 

meeting on 22 February 2022 that a workshop on the topic would take place following the meeting. 

The following Members participated: Councillors Chandler, Douglas, Evans, Glancy, Holmes, Posnett 

and Wilkinson. 

 

Page 146



Page 17 of 21 
 

At the workshop, Members discussed the opportunities for the improvement of Melton Mowbray town 

centre and debated what options and ideas should be included within the masterplan. The discussion 

Members had at the workshop gave Officers direction on what ideas they should be focussing on and 

developing. 

 

Asset Optimisation and Development Workshop 

The Scrutiny Committee agreed to add the topic to the work programme at the meeting in December 

2020. A workshop was held on 23 March 2022 and the following Members participated, Councillors: 

Child, Chandler, Evans, Holmes and Posnett. A discussion about the Council’s general assets took 

place with Members providing comments, feedback and directional steer. It was agreed that Officers 

would prepare a series of options for Members to consider at a future workshop. 
  

Page 147



Page 18 of 21 
 

 

Scrutiny Reports to Cabinet 
 

In accordance with the Scrutiny Procedures Rules, the Scrutiny Committee may report to Cabinet 

under Item 4 of the Cabinet Agenda – Matters Referred from Scrutiny Committee in Accordance with 

Scrutiny Procedure Rules. 

 

The Chairman of Scrutiny has formally reported to Cabinet on behalf of the Committee on the 

following items: 

✓ Lake Terrace – 21 July 2021 

✓ Response and Recovery Task and Finish Group (Place) Final Report – 21 July 2021 

✓ Scrutiny Task and Finish Group Review of the Melton Mowbray Business Improvement District 

(BID) Final Report – 21 July 2021 

✓ Response and Recovery Task and Finish Group (People) Final Report – 13 October 2021 

✓ Melton Community Lottery – 23 November 2021 

✓ Leicestershire Waste Strategy – 23 November 2021 

✓ Budget – 9 February 2022 

✓ Allotment Service – 9 March 2022 

Reporting 
 

The Committee are keen to ensure that the Scrutiny function at Melton Borough Council remains 

outcomes focused and that following implementation, the impact of its recommendations are 

monitored and reported back to the Committee and all Members. 

 

Scrutiny have produced three Task and Finish Group reports with recommendations during 2021/22. 

Although Members did not specifically stipulate that there should be update reports, 

recommendations are closely monitored and the Scrutiny Committee can request progress reports as 

required. The Scrutiny Committee have also provided comments and feedback on a number of 

reports for Cabinet’s consideration. Since December 2021, Scrutiny have adopted the workshop 

approach. Members appreciate this approach because it is an opportunity to assist in the 

development of policy. 
 

Prior to the Budget Scrutiny meeting, Scrutiny held a workshop on the budget on 14 December 2021, 

this was an opportunity for Members to feed comments into the budget development process prior to 

receiving the final draft at the Budget Scrutiny meeting. At the 25 January 2022 Budget Scrutiny 

meeting, Committee members were joined by other Members to consider a number of reports, to 

question Portfolio Holders and Chief Officers and to provide feedback to Cabinet on the Budget and 

Medium Term Financial Strategy. Scrutiny formally provided their response to the Budget proposals 

to the Cabinet meeting held on 9 February 2022.  

 

The Scrutiny Committee are committed to reviewing actions in relation to recommendations/feedback 

provided through meetings and reviews to ensure that the positive impact of the Scrutiny Function 

can be evidenced. 

  

Page 148



Page 19 of 21 
 

Scrutiny Work Programme 
 

Scrutiny Committee reflect on the work programme at each meeting and consider any new items to be 

added. The work programme is developed by the Chairman and Vice Chair in collaboration with the 

Committee. 

 

The Scrutiny Committee must agree an Annual Work Programme in accordance with the Scrutiny 

Procedure Rules and that Work Programme may contain: 

1) Matters which inform the development of the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework. 

2) Matters which inform the development of the Council’s approach to matters not forming part of 

the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework. 

3) Holding enquiries and investigating the available options for future direction in policy 

development, matters of public concern and any other issues within their functions. 

4) Call in of Key Decisions. 

5) Requests by a member of the Scrutiny Committee. 

6) Requests from the Council and if it considers appropriate, the Cabinet. 

 

The Chairman has asked members to consider the following when proposing items to add to the work 

programme: 

1) Scrutiny Committee Functions & Procedures Rules: 

➢ Which Corporate Priority the item links to (Priorities attached for ease of reference) 

➢ If the item is of significant community concern 

➢ If the issue is significant to Partners and/or Stakeholders 

➢ What the added value is of doing the work  

➢ What evidence there is to support the work 

➢ If the Scrutiny work can be completed within a proportionate time to the task identified  

➢ If the work is being done somewhere else  

➢ What will be achieved  

➢ If the Council has the resources to carry out the work effectively 

 

2) Consider: 

➢ What? 

Be prepared to provide the committee with some background information and scope of the 

proposed report/review. 

➢ Why? 

Be prepared to justify why the item should be considered by Scrutiny, what might be the intended 

outcome, why is it important in relation to the provision of services/value for money etc…? 

➢ When? 

Is the item time sensitive?  What is the level of priority? 

  

Page 149



Page 20 of 21 
 

➢ Outcomes? 

What value can Scrutiny add, what are likely to be the measurable outcomes, is the work already 

being done somewhere else? 

It is hoped this guidance will ensure that Scrutiny at Melton Borough Council is outcomes focused and 

that the value of Scrutiny can be evidenced and results measured. 

The Scrutiny Committee held a workshop on 10 June 2021 to discuss the Annual Work Plan (later 

renamed Work Programme), which was attended by all Officers from the Senior Leadership Team.   

 

➢ Members were asked in advance of this workshop to provide ideas for inclusion in the Scrutiny 

Work Plan 2021/22 to the Scrutiny Chairman.   

➢ The Senior Leadership Team also provided a presentation which provided detail of emerging 

priorities in relation to the Corporate Strategy.   

➢ All ideas put forward were discussed in detail and a shortlist of items was agreed.   

➢ The shortlisted items were plotted on the work plan in consultation with the Scrutiny Chairman 

and relevant Directors.   

➢ The Work Plan was shared with Cabinet and formally approved by the Committee at their 

meeting in September 2021. 

Training 
 

All new Members to the Scrutiny Committee receive induction training. Induction training was 

delivered in June 2021 and January 2022. This included an outline of scrutiny with a focus on key 

roles; powers and responsibilities; ways of working for effective scrutiny (e.g. work programme, 

project scopes, critical friend questioning and listening); discussion around challenges; and provision 

of examples from meeting observation at MBC and other councils. 

The Chairman has agreed that more comprehensive training for Scrutiny Members should take place 

in the Summer of 2023. 

Looking ahead 
 

• Annual Work Programme 2022/23 

 

The work programme has been regularly reviewed and discussed throughout 2021/22. A 

Scrutiny Member Workshop will be arranged in advance of the first meeting of the 2022/23 

Municipal Year to establish priorities for the Committee. 

 

• Increased Media and Consultation with the Public 

 

The 2021/22 year saw the launch of the Response and Recovery Task and Finish Group 

(People) Survey in July 2021 accompanied by a Press Release and statement from the 

Chairman of Scrutiny.  Scrutiny engaged the public in the Scrutiny process by seeking views 

and feedback on current issues in relation to the Covid-19 pandemic.  The response to the 

Page 150



Page 21 of 21 
 

survey was positive with 159 responses being received.  It is hoped that this aspect of 

Scrutiny will be further developed in 22/23 with the exploration of different media to involve 

the public to ensure the voice of the community is heard. 

 

• Scrutiny will engage with more people. 

 

Opportunities will be explored for other Members (except Members of the Cabinet) who have 

particular concerns or knowledge to be co-opted to help Scrutiny Members with Scrutiny 

reviews. 

 

 

Further information  
 

If you would like further information about Scrutiny, please use the contact details below: 

Senior Democratic Services and Scrutiny Officer 

Name:  Adam Green  

Tel:   01664 502319 

Email:   agreen@melton.gov.uk 

Scrutiny Committee Chairman 

Email:  rchild@melton.gov.uk  

Page 151

mailto:agreen@melton.gov.uk
mailto:rchild@melton.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Council Report 

Councillor Leave of Absence 

1 

 

 

Council 
28 July 2022 

Report of: Councillor Joe Orson - Leader of 
the Council 

       

  
  

 

Councillor Leave of Absence 

Corporate Priority: All 

Relevant Ward Member(s): N/A 

Date of consultation with Ward 
Member(s): 

N/A 

Exempt Information: No 

1 Summary 

1.1 To determine whether to grant a dispensation in order to allow a Councillor to remain a 

member of the Authority following the non-attendance at a meeting of the Authority for a 

period of six consecutive months. 

2 Recommendation 

That Council: 

 

2.1 Grant a dispensation to allow Councillor Mel Steadman to remain a Member of the 
Authority up to and including 8 May 2023 should she not be able to attend a meeting as 
a member before 3 September 2022 due to continued ill health. 

 

3 Reason for Recommendations 

3.1 Unless the authority has approved the leave of absence, failure to attend a meeting 

throughout a period of six means would mean that the member ceases to be a member of 

the authority pursuant to Section 85(1) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 

  

Page 153

Agenda Item 12

http://www.melton.gov.uk/
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Council Report 

Councillor Leave of Absence 

2 

 

 

4 Background 

4.1 Due to ill health, Councillor Mel Steadman last attended a meeting of Melton Borough 

Council on 3 March 2022.  On 3 September 2022, Councillor Steadman would not have 

attended a meeting for six consecutive months.   

5 Main Considerations 

5.1 A leave of absence may be granted by the Authority, through a decision approved by 

Council, in accordance with Section 85 Local Government Act 1972.  This decision must 

be approved before the expiry of the six-month period. 

5.2 The dispensation, if approved, will expire on 8 May 2023, this is the fourth day after the 

ordinary election when all councillors retire.  

5.3 The next Council meeting after July 2022, is scheduled for 22 September 2022. 

6 Options Considered 

6.1 Not to grant a dispensation.  This would mean that unless Councillor Steadman attended a 

meeting before 3 September 2022, she would cease to be a member of the authority. 

6.2 Grant a dispensation for a specific length of time. 

7 Consultation 

7.1 Consultation has been undertaken with the Group Leader of the Conservative Group of 

which Councillor Steadman is a member.  The Conservative Group Leader, Councillor 

Orson, has indicated that due to continued ill health Councillor Steadman may not be able 

to attend a meeting of the Authority before 3 September 2022. 

8 Next Steps – Implementation and Communication 

8.1 There are no next steps, the dispensation would allow Councillor Steadman to remain a 

Councillor in the event that she is unable to attend a meeting within the six-month period 

starting on 3 March 2022. 

9 Financial Implications 

9.1 There are no financial implications to this report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Deputy s151 officer 

10 Legal and Governance Implications 

10.1 Section 85(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 states the following:  

 “… if a member of a local authority fails throughout a period of six consecutive months 

from the date of his last attendance to attend any meeting of the authority, he shall, unless 

the failure was due to some reason approved by the authority before the expiry of that 

period, cease to be a member of the authority.” 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Monitoring Officer 19.07.22 

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 

11.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) screening form has been completed. No adverse 

or other significant issues were found. 

 

Page 154



Council Report 

Councillor Leave of Absence 

3 

 

12 Community Safety Implications 

12.1 There are no Community Safety Implications arising from this report. 

13 Environmental and Climate Change Implications 

13.1  There are no environmental or climate change implications arising from this report. 

14 Risk & Mitigation 

 

Risk 
No 

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Risk 

1 A failure to grant the dispensation may 
result in Councillor Steadman ceasing to be 
a member of the authority. 

High Critical High Risk 

 

  Impact / Consequences 

  Negligible Marginal Critical Catastrophic 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Score/ definition 1 2 3 4 

6 Very High 
    

5 High 
  1  

4 Significant 

    

3 Low 
    

2 Very Low 
    

1 Almost 
impossible     

 

 

Risk No Mitigation 

1 Granting a dispensation to allow the leave of absence due to ill health will 
eliminate the risk  

 

15 Background Papers 

15.1 None 

16 Appendices 

16.1 None 

Page 155



Council Report 

Councillor Leave of Absence 

4 

 

 

 

Report Author: Natasha Taylor, Democratic Services Manager 

Report Author Contact Details: 01664 502441 

ntaylor@melton.gov.uk 

Chief Officer Responsible: Kieran Stockley, Assistant Director for 
Governance and Democracy (Monitoring Officer) 

Chief Officer Contact Details: 01664 504336 

kstockley@melton.gov.uk 

 

Page 156



 

 

Council Report 

Review of Political Balance and Allocation of Seats to Political Groups 

1 

 

 

Council 
28 July 2022 

Report of: Monitoring Officer 

       

  
  

Review of Political Balance and Allocation of Seats to 
Political Groups 

Corporate Priority: All 

Relevant Ward Member(s): All 

Date of consultation with Ward 
Member(s): 

N/A 

Exempt Information: No 

1 Summary 

1.1 To approve the revised political balance calculations and allocation of seats on 

committees in accordance with statutory requirements (as set out in the report) following 

recent changes which alter the political balance between the Groups. 

2 Recommendations 

That Council: 

 

2.1 Approves the political balance calculation set out at paragraph 5.1; 

2.2 Approves the allocation of committee seats to political groups as set out in 
paragraph 5.3 and notes the membership of each committee as set out in Appendix 
A; 

 

3 Reason for Recommendations 

3.1 To ensure that the council complies with its statutory obligations under the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989. 

4 Background 

4.1 The Proper Officer was notified in accordance with the requirements set out in 

Regulation10 of the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 

1990 that Councillor Peter Faulkner no longer wished to be treated as a member of the 

Conservative Group with effect from 24 May 2022. Councillor Faulkner was therefore 

deemed a non-aligned Councillor from 24 May 2022. 

Page 157

Agenda Item 13

http://www.melton.gov.uk/
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Council Report 

Review of Political Balance and Allocation of Seats to Political Groups 
2022/23 

2 

 

4.2 In addition, the Proper Officer was notified in accordance with the requirements set out in 

Regulation 10 of the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 

1990 that Councillor Christopher Evans wished to be treated as a member of the 

Conservative Group with effect from 5 July 2022.  

4.3 Pursuant to Section 15 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 the authority is 

under a duty to review the allocation of seats to Political Groups as soon as practicable 

following a change to the membership of those groups. 

4.4 The Councils’ duty is to determine the allocation of seats to be filled by appointments by 

the authority, except the Cabinet and the Licensing Committee. The purpose is to ensure 

that there is proportionality across all formal activities of the Council, representing the 

overall political composition. It affects all formally constituted panels, committees and 

subcommittees which discharge functions on behalf of the authority. 

4.5 The political proportionality rules that apply in allocating seats on Committees etc. set out 

in Section 15 and 16 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 apply only to political 

groups and not non-aligned (un-grouped) Members. Main Considerations 

5 Main Considerations 

5.1 The revised composition of the Council (*not including the non-aligned members of which 

there are currently 4) is shown in the following table. Using 38 as the total number of 

voting places across all committees, the final column shows the total number of places 

each group is entitled to, using the calculated proportions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.2 The allocations set out in the table below show the allocation of seats to political groups 

(not including the non-aligned councillors) as agreed between the political groups 

BEFORE THE REVISION TO THE POLITICAL BALANCE CALCULATION: 

Group Name 
 

Audit & 
Standards 

 

Planning 
 

Scrutiny 
 

Employment 
 

TOTAL 

Conservative 8 
(8.00) 

9 
(8.80) 

8 
(8.00) 

5 
(5.60) 

30 

Opposition 2 
(2.00) 

2 
(2.20) 

2 
(2.00) 

2 
(1.40) 

8 

Totals 10 11 10 7 38 

 

 

 

 

Group Name 
 

No of Cllrs 
in group 

Percentage across 
the Council 

Allocation of Seats 
over 4 Committees 

38 seats 

   Decimal Rounded no 

Conservative 20 83.33% 31.67 32 

Opposition 4 16.67% 6.33 6 

Totals 24* 100% 38 seats 38 seats 

Page 158



Council Report 

Review of Political Balance and Allocation of Seats to Political Groups 
2022/23 

3 

 

5.3 The allocations set out in the table below show the allocation of seats to political groups 

(not including the non-aligned councillors) as agreed between the political groups AFTER 

THE REVISIONS TO THE POLITICAL BALANCE CALCULATION: 

 

5.4 Members will note that the rounded calculations would have resulted in one too many 

seats for the Opposition Group, therefore Group Leaders have agreed that the 

Conservative Group will take one extra seat on Scrutiny Committee in order to maintain 

overall political balance to reflect the calculation in para 5.1. 

5.5 Group Leaders have provided notification of allocation of seats to members as detailed in 

Appendix A. 

6 Options Considered 

6.1 The Council must review its political balance and allocation of seats as soon as 

practicable following a change to political groups in accordance with the legislation. 

7 Consultation 

7.1 The information presented in this report has been compiled in consultation with Group 

Leaders. 

8 Next Steps – Implementation and Communication 

8.1 Any changes to membership of Committees will be reflected on the Council’s website 

page for each Committee. 

8.2 Any mandatory training requirements will be considered and arranged as necessary for 

respective members. 

9 Financial Implications 

9.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.   

Financial Implications reviewed by: Deputy s151 officer 

10 Legal and Governance Implications 

10.1 The Council must allocate seats on committees so as to give effect to the political balance 

rules. 

10.2 The allocation of seats shall conform to the principles of proportionality contained in 

sections 15 and 16 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. There is a duty to 

give effect to the following principles, as far as reasonably practicable, in the order shown: 

a) Not all the seats on the body are allocated to the same political group 

Group 
Name 
 

Audit & 
Standards 

Planning Scrutiny Employment TOTAL 

Conservative 8 
(8.33) 

9 
(9.17) 

9 
(8.33) 

6 
(5.83) 

32 

Opposition 2 
(1.67) 

2 
(1.83) 

1 
(1.67) 

1 
(1.17) 

6 

Totals 10 11 10 7 38 

Page 159



Council Report 

Review of Political Balance and Allocation of Seats to Political Groups 
2022/23 

4 

 

b) A majority of the seats on a body are allocated to a group if it comprises a majority of 

the total membership of the authority; 

c) Subject to (a) and (b) above, that the number of seats on ordinary committees 

allocated to each group bears the same proportion to the total of all seats on ordinary 

committees as is borne by the number of members of that group to the total 

membership of the authority; and 

d) Subject to (a) to (c) above, that the number of seats on a body allocated to each group 

bears the same proportion to the number of seats on that body as is borne by the 

number of members of that group to the total membership of the authority. 

For political balance, a group is required to have at least two members in order to be 

formally constituted as a political group. 

10.3 The political proportionality rules that apply in allocating seats on Committees etc. set out 

in Section 15 and 16 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 apply only to political 

groups and not non-aligned (un-grouped) Members. Alternative arrangements not 

complying with section 15 and 16 of the 1989 Act may be made by virtue of Section 17 of 

the 1989 Act by passing a resolution with no member voting against the resolution. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Monitoring Officer 19.07.22 

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 

11.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been completed because there are no 

service, policy or organisational changes being proposed. 

12 Community Safety Implications 

12.1 There are no community implications arising from this report. 

13 Environmental and Climate Change Implications 

13.1 There are no environmental or climate change implications arising from this report. 

14 Risk & Mitigation 

14.1 The Council would be in breach of its statutory and constitutional obligations if it fails to 

consider the business contained within this report. 

15 Background Papers 

15.1 There are no background papers. 

16 Appendices 

16.1 Appendix A – Committees Memberships 2022/23 (July 2022) 

Report Author: Natasha Taylor, Democratic Services Manager 

Report Author Contact Details: 01664 502441 

ntaylor@melton.gov.uk 

Chief Officer Responsible: Kieran Stockley, Assistant Director for 
Governance and Democracy (Monitoring Officer) 

Chief Officer Contact Details: 01664 504336 

kstockley@melton.gov.uk 

 

Page 160



 

 

 
Committee Membership 2022-23 (July 2022) 

 

Committee Group Name  
or Single Cllr  

Councillor name 

Audit and 
Standards 
 
 
Politically 
Balanced 
 
8 Conservative  
2 Opposition  

 

Conservative  Cllr Don Pritchett (Chairman) 

Conservative  Cllr Chris Fisher (Vice Chairman) 

Conservative  Cllr Siggy Atherton  

Conservative  Cllr Pru Chandler 

Conservative  Cllr Jeanne Douglas 

Conservative  Cllr Pam Posnett 

Conservative  Cllr Tim Webster 

Conservative Cllr Jacob Wilkinson 

Opposition  Cllr Elaine Holmes 

Opposition Cllr Phillip Wood 

Substitutes Conservative Cllr Rob Bindloss 

 Conservative Cllr Alison Freer 

 Conservative Cllr Pam Posnett  

 Conservative Cllr Rebecca Smith 

 Conservative VACANCY  

 Opposition Cllr Steven Carter 

   

Employment   
7 Members 
Politically 
Balanced 
6 Conservative  
1 Opposition 
 
(Leader & 
Deputy Leader 
as Chair & Vice 
Chair) 

Conservative  Leader – Chair 

Conservative  Deputy Leader – Vice Chair  

Conservative  Cllr Ronan Browne  

Conservative  Cllr Ronnie de Burle 

Conservative  Cllr Alison Freer 

Conservative VACANCY  

Opposition  Cllr Elaine Holmes 

Substitutes Conservative Cllr Robert Bindloss 

 Conservative Cllr Robert Child  

 Conservative Cllr Rebecca Smith 

 Conservative VACANCY 

 Opposition Cllr Steven Carter 

  

Page 161

Appendix A



 

Committee Group Name  
or Single Cllr  

Councillor name 

Planning 
 
11 Members 
 
Politically 
Balanced 
9 Conservative  
2 Opposition  
 

Conservative  Cllr Pam Posnett (Chairman) 

Conservative  Cllr Tim Webster (Vice Chairman) 

Conservative  Cllr Ronan Browne 

Conservative  Cllr Pru Chandler 

Conservative  Cllr Chris Fisher 

Conservative  Cllr John Illingworth 

Conservative  Cllr Don Pritchett 

Conservative Cllr Rebecca Smith 

Conservative VACANCY 

Opposition  Cllr Elaine Holmes 

Opposition Cllr Philip Wood 

Substitutes Conservative Cllr Robert Child 

 Conservative Cllr Ronnie de Burle 

 Conservative Cllr Alison Freer 

 Conservative Cllr Jacob Wilkinson 

 Conservative VACANCY 

 Opposition Cllr Steven Carter 

   

Scrutiny 
 

Politically 
balanced 
9 Conservative  
1 Opposition  
 

(Must not 
include Cabinet 
Member) 
 
No substitutes 

Conservative  Cllr Robert Child (Chairman) 

Conservative  Cllr Jacob Wilkinson (Vice Chairman) 

Conservative  Cllr Siggy Atherton 

Conservative  Cllr Pru Chandler  

Conservative  Cllr Jeanne Douglas  

Conservative  Cllr Margaret Glancy 

Conservative  Cllr Pam Posnett 

Conservative  Cllr Tim Webster 

Conservative VACANCY  

Opposition  Cllr Elaine Holmes 

 

Standards Sub Committee –  
5 out of 10 Members from the Audit and Standards Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 162



 

The Licensing Committee is not required to be politically balanced – see below 
 
 

Committee Group Name  
or Single Cllr 

Councillor name 

Licensing  
 
10 Members  
 

Political 
balance 
not required 
 

Conservative  Cllr Jeanne Douglas (Chairman) 

Conservative  Cllr Pru Chandler (Vice Chairman) 

Conservative  Cllr Ronnie De Burle  

Conservative  Cllr Chris Fisher  

Conservative  Cllr Margaret Glancy 

Conservative  Cllr John Illingworth 

Conservative  Cllr Don Pritchett 

Conservative  Cllr Jacob Wilkinson  

Opposition  Cllr Steven Carter 

Opposition  Cllr Elaine Holmes 

Substitutes Conservative Cllr Siggy Atherton  

Conservative Cllr Rob Bindloss 

Conservative Cllr Rebecca Smith 

Conservative Cllr Tim Webster 

Conservative VACANCY 

Opposition  Cllr Philip Wood 

 
Licensing Sub Committee - 3 out of 10 Members from the Licensing Committee 
 
 

 
 

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	9 CABINET RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL - TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22
	Appendix 1 - Treasury Management Annual Report 2021/22
	Appendix A - Annual Treasury Management Review 2021/22

	10 CABINET RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL - HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) BUSINESS PLAN 2022-52
	Appendix 1 - HRA Business Plan 2022-2052 report
	Appendix A - Melton Borough Council, HRA Business Plan 2022-2052
	_Hlk105351287
	_Housing_needs
	_Keeping_tenants_safe
	_Ref103765737
	_Ref95387431
	_Choices
	_Ref96507705
	_Priorities_for_investment
	_Ref103770598
	_Hlk101882749
	_Ref99382608
	_Hlk103673492
	_Ref103766192
	_Appendix_1_Financial
	_Ref94100101

	Appendix B - Summary of Business Plan Recommendations

	11 RECOMMENDATIONS AND REPORTS FROM COMMITTEES - SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22
	Appendix A - Covering Report for Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22
	Appendix 1 - Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22

	12 COUNCILLOR LEAVE OF ABSENCE
	13 REVIEW OF POLITICAL BALANCE AND ALLOCATION OF SEATS TO POLITICAL GROUPS
	Appendix A - Committee Memberships 2022-23 (July 2022)


